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PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1.   FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OfficeMax Incorporated and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) 

(thousands, except per-share amounts)

  Quarter Ended  

  

April 1,
2006  

March 26,
2005  

  (unaudited)  

Sales
 

$ 2,423,537
 

$ 2,322,800
 

Cost of goods sold and occupancy costs
 

1,796,783
 

1,755,516
 

Gross profit
 

626,754
 

567,284
 

Operating expenses:
     

Operating and selling
 

433,045
 

450,302
 

General and administrative
 

89,233
 

92,464
 

Other operating, net
 

112,840
 

10,386
 

Operating income (loss)
 

(8,364) 14,132
 

Debt retirement expense
 

—
 

(12,155)
Interest expense

 

(31,503) (31,191)
Interest income

 

21,114
 

31,869
 

Other, net
 

(2,166) 770
 

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes and minority
interest

 

(20,919) 3,425
 

Income taxes
 

7,994
 

(3,516)
Income (loss) from continuing operations before minority interest

 

(12,925) (91)

Minority interest, net of income tax
 

(1,181) (909)
Income (loss) from continuing operations

 

(14,106) (1,000)

Discontinued operations:
     

Operating loss
 

(17,972) (7,025)
Income tax benefit

 

6,991
 

2,733
 

Loss from discontinued operations
 

(10,981) (4,292)

Net income (loss)
 

(25,087) (5,292)

Preferred dividends
 

(1,009) (1,106)
Net income (loss) applicable to common shareholders

 

$ (26,096) $ (6,398)

Basic income (loss) per common share:
     

Continuing operations
 

$ (0.21) $ (0.03)
Discontinued operations

 

(0.16) (0.04)
Basic income (loss) per common share

 

$ (0.37) $ (0.07)

Diluted income (loss) per common share:
     

Continuing operations
 

$ (0.21) $ (0.03)
Discontinued operations

 

(0.16) (0.04)
Diluted income (loss) per common share

 

$ (0.37) $ (0.07)
 

See accompanying notes to quarterly consolidated financial statements.
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OfficeMax Incorporated and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(thousands)

  

April 1,
2006  

December 31,
2005  

  (unaudited)    

ASSETS
       

Current assets:
       

Cash and cash equivalents
 

$ 76,644
  

$ 72,198
  

Receivables, net
 

546,490
  

596,724
  

Related party receivables
 

6,222
  

3,520
  

Inventories
 

914,497
  

1,114,570
  

Deferred income taxes
 

118,585
  

105,820
  

Other
 

49,292
  

49,217
  

Total current assets
 

1,711,730
  

1,942,049
  



        
Property and equipment:

       

Land and land improvements
 

38,408
  

38,537
  

Buildings and improvements
 

358,753
  

359,481
  

Machinery and equipment
 

694,036
  

685,545
  

Total property and equipment
 

1,091,197
  

1,083,563
  

Accumulated depreciation
 

(563,968)
 

(548,118)
 

Net property and equipment
 

527,229
  

535,445
  

        
Goodwill

 

1,209,534
  

1,218,200
  

Intangible assets, net
 

201,521
  

205,232
  

Investments in affiliates
 

175,000
  

175,000
  

Timber notes receivable
 

1,635,000
  

1,635,000
  

Restricted investments
 

22,377
  

22,377
  

Deferred charges
 

46,699
  

52,810
  

Other non-current assets
 

484,093
  

486,029
  

Total assets
 

$ 6,013,183
  

$ 6,272,142
   

See accompanying notes to quarterly consolidated financial statements.
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OfficeMax Incorporated and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(thousands, except share amounts)

  

April 1,
2006  

December 31,
2005  

  (unaudited)    

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
       

Current liabilities:
       

Short-term borrowings
 

$ 29,678
  

$ 18,666
  

Current portion of long-term debt
 

45,785
  

68,648
  

Accounts payable:
       

Trade
 

706,711
  

949,287
  

Related parties
 

36,969
  

42,166
  

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities:
       

Compensation and benefits
 

139,241
  

147,184
  

Other
 

399,660
  

352,537
  

Liabilities related to assets held for sale
 

20,748
  

9,838
  

Total current liabilities
 

1,378,792
  

1,588,326
  

        
Long-term debt:

       

Long-term debt, less current portion
 

384,550
  

407,242
  

Timber notes securitized
 

1,470,000
  

1,470,000
  

Total long-term debt
 

1,854,550
  

1,877,242
  

        
Other long-term obligations:

       

Compensation and benefits
 

529,815
  

538,830
  

Deferred gain on sale of assets
 

179,757
  

179,757
  

Other long-term obligations
 

355,728
  

324,853
  

 

 

1,065,300
  

1,043,440
  

        
Minority interest

 

28,975
  

27,455
  

Commitments and contingent liabilities
       

        
Shareholders’ equity:

       

Preferred stock—no par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized;
       

Series D ESOP: $.01 stated value; 1,216,335 and 1,216,335 shares outstanding
 

54,735
  

54,735
  

Common stock—$2.50 par value; 200,000,000 shares authorized; 70,859,903
and 70,804,612 shares outstanding

 

177,114
  

176,977
  

Additional paid-in capital
 

753,652
  

747,805
  

Retained earnings
 

860,546
  

898,283
  

Accumulated other comprehensive loss
 

(160,481)
 

(142,121)
 

Total shareholders’ equity
 

1,685,566
  

1,735,679
  

        
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

 

$ 6,013,183
  

$ 6,272,142
   

See accompanying notes to quarterly consolidated financial statements.
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OfficeMax Incorporated and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

  Quarter Ended  

  

April 1,
2006  

March 26,
2005  

  (unaudited)  

  (thousands)  

Cash provided by (used for) operations:
     

Net income (loss)
 

$ (25,087) $ (5,292)
Items in net income (loss) not using (providing) cash:

     

Equity in net income of affiliates
 

(1,428) (1,302)
Depreciation and amortization

 

31,114
 

35,848
 

Minority interest, net of income tax
 

1,181
 

909
 

Pension and other postretirement benefits expense
 

4,271
 

6,819
 

Discontinued operations
 

11,210
 

(2,733)
Other

 

8,566
 

3,201
 

Changes other than from acquisition of business:
     

Receivables
 

50,234
 

(80,454)
Inventories

 

200,073
 

151,744
 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
 

(214,362) (296,028)
Current and deferred income taxes

 

(15,184) (131,332)
Other

 

21,357
 

(12,635)
Cash provided by (used for) operations

 

71,945
 

(331,255)

Cash used for investment:
     

Expenditures for property and equipment
 

(23,321) (25,375)
Acquisitions of businesses

 

—
 

(22,272)
Discontinued operations

 

—
 

1,718
 

Other
 

596
 

335
 

Cash used for investment
 

(22,725) (45,594)

Cash used for financing:
     

Cash dividends paid on common stock
 

(10,620) (13,933)
Short-term borrowings (repayments), net

 

11,012
 

(3,882)
Payments of long-term debt

 

(45,466) (115,544)
Other

 

300
 

14,444
 

Cash used for financing
 

(44,774) (118,915)

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
 

4,446
 

(495,764)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

 

72,198
 

1,242,542
 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period
 

$ 76,644
 

$ 746,778
  

See accompanying notes to quarterly consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Quarterly Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

1.                   Basis of Presentation

OfficeMax Incorporated (“OfficeMax,” the “Company” or “we”), which was formerly known as Boise Cascade Corporation, is a leader in both business-
to-business and retail office products distribution. The Company provides office supplies and paper, print and document services, technology products and
solutions and furniture to large, medium and small businesses, governmental offices, and consumers. OfficeMax customers are serviced by approximately
35,000 associates through direct sales, catalogs, the Internet and a network of retail stores located throughout the United States, Canada, Australia, New
Zealand and Mexico. The Company’s common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol OMX. The Company’s corporate
headquarters is located in Itasca, Illinois, and the OfficeMax website address is www.officemax.com.

On December 9, 2003, the Company completed the acquisition of OfficeMax, Inc. (the “Acquisition”), primarily a retail office products distributor.
References to the OfficeMax, Inc. Acquisition and OfficeMax, Inc. Integration herein refer to Boise Cascade Corporation’s acquisition of OfficeMax, Inc. and
the related integration activities.

On October 29, 2004, the Company sold substantially all of its paper, forest products and timberland assets for approximately $3.7 billion in cash and
other consideration to affiliates of Boise Cascade, L.L.C., a new company formed by Madison Dearborn Partners LLC (the “Sale”). The Company changed its
name from Boise Cascade Corporation to OfficeMax Incorporated in connection with the sale of the paper, forest products and timberland assets.

Effective March 11, 2005, the Company amended its bylaws to make its fiscal year-end the last Saturday in December. Prior to this change, all of the
Company’s businesses except for its U.S. retail operations had a December 31 fiscal year-end. The U.S. retail operations maintained a fiscal year that ended
on the last Saturday in December. Fiscal year 2005 ended on December 31, 2005 for all reportable segments and businesses, and included 53 weeks for the
Retail segment. Fiscal year 2006 ends on December 30, 2006. First quarter 2006 ended on April 1, 2006 and included 13 weeks for all reportable segments
and businesses. First quarter 2005 ended on March 26, 2005 and included 13 weeks for all reportable segments and businesses except for domestic operations
of the Contract segment. Due primarily to statutory requirements, the Company’s international businesses have maintained their December 31 year-ends.



The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures about contingent assets and liabilities
at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results are likely to differ from
those estimates but management does not believe such differences will materially affect the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions include the recognition of vendor rebates and allowances; the carrying amount of property and
equipment, intangibles and goodwill; valuation allowances for receivables, inventories and deferred income tax assets; store closing reserves and
environmental liabilities; and assets and obligations related to employee benefits.

The Company has prepared the quarterly consolidated financial statements included herein pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). Some information and footnote disclosures, which would normally be included in comprehensive annual financial
statements prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, have been condensed or omitted pursuant to those
rules and regulations. These quarterly consolidated financial
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statements should be read together with the consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes included in the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005.

The quarterly consolidated financial statements included herein have not been audited by an independent registered public accounting firm, but in the
opinion of management, we have included all adjustments necessary to present fairly the results for the periods. Except as may be disclosed within these
“Notes to Quarterly Consolidated Financial Statements,” the adjustments made were of a normal, recurring nature. Quarterly results are not necessarily
indicative of results which may be expected for a full year.

Certain amounts in prior years’ financial statements have been reclassified to conform with the current year’s presentation. These reclassifications did
not affect net income (loss).

2.                   Discontinued Operations

In December 2004, the Company’s board of directors authorized management to pursue the divestiture of a facility near Elma, Washington that
manufactured integrated wood-polymer building materials. The board of directors and management concluded that the operations of the facility were no
longer consistent with the Company’s strategic direction. As a result of that decision, the Company recorded the facility’s assets as held for sale on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets and reported the results of its operations and planned divestiture as discontinued operations.

During 2005, the Company experienced unexpected difficulties in achieving anticipated levels of production at the facility. These issues delayed the
process of identifying and qualifying a buyer for the business. While management made substantial progress in addressing the manufacturing issues that
caused production to fall below plan, during the fourth quarter of 2005, the Company concluded that the Company was unable to attract a buyer in the near
term and elected to cease operations at the facility during the first quarter of 2006.

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,”
the Company recorded pre-tax charges of $67.8 million in the fourth quarter of 2004 and $28.2 million in the fourth quarter of 2005 to reduce the carrying
value of the long-lived assets of the Elma, Washington facility to their estimated fair value. During the first quarter of 2006, management ceased operations at
the facility and recorded pre-tax expenses of $18.0 million for contract termination and other closure costs. These charges and expenses were reflected within
discontinued operations in the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss).

3.                   Integration and Facility Closures

Integration Activities and Facility Closures

The Company conducts regular reviews of its real estate portfolio to identify underperforming facilities, and closes those facilities that are no longer
strategically or economically viable. Costs associated with the planned closure and consolidation of acquired facilities were accounted for under Emerging
Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue No. 95-3, “Recognition of Liabilities in Connection with a Purchase Business Combination,” and recognized as liabilities in
connection with the acquisition and charged to goodwill. Costs incurred in connection with all other business integration activities have been recognized in the
Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss).

During the first quarter of 2006, the Company closed 109 underperforming, domestic retail stores and recorded a pre-tax charge of $98.6 million,
including $11.3 million for employee severance, asset write-off and impairment and and other closure costs and $87.3 million of estimated future lease
obligations. The provision for estimated future lease obligations represents the estimated fair value of the obligations and is net of anticipated sublease income
of $136.4 million.
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In September 2005, the board of directors approved a plan to relocate and consolidate the Company’s retail headquarters in Shaker Heights, Ohio and its
existing corporate headquarters in Itasca, Illinois into a new facility in Naperville, Illinois. The consolidation process is expected to be completed during the
second half of 2006. Management expects the total cost for severance, retention, contract termination costs and accelerated depreciation related to the
headquarters consolidation will be $45 to $55 million on a pre-tax basis. In addition, the Company expects to incur expenses for personnel training, recruiting
and relocation related to the headquarters consolidation of approximately $20 million during 2006. The estimated costs related to the headquarters
consolidation do not include potential savings from expected efficiencies and tax incentives.

During the first quarter of 2006, the Company recorded charges totaling $15.7 million related to the headquarters consolidation in the Corporate and
Other segment, including amounts for severance, retention, contract termination costs and accelerated depreciation as well as amounts for personnel training,
recruiting and relocation. To-date, including amounts recognized during the third and fourth quarters of 2005 and the first quarter of 2006, the Company has
expensed approximately $40.7 million of costs related to the headquarters consolidation.

At April 1, 2006, approximately $89.2 million of the integration and facility closure reserve was included in accrued expenses and other current
liabilities, other, and $99.5 million was included in other long-term liabilities. Integration and facility closure reserve account activity during the first quarter



of 2006, including activity related to the retail store closures and the headquarters consolidation, was as follows:

  

Lease\
Contract

Terminations  

Severance\
Retention  

Asset
Write-off &
Impairment  Other  Total  

  (thousands)  

Balance at December 31, 2005
  

$ 91,455
   

$ 21,502
   

$ —
  

$ 739
 

$ 113,696
 

Charges to income
  

87,338
   

9,304
   

9,062
  

8,564
 

114,268
 

Charges to goodwill
  

—
   

—
   

—
  

—
 

—
 

Credits to income
  

—
   

—
   

—
  

—
 

—
 

Cash payments
  

(17,796)
  

(6,087)
  

—
  

(6,922) (30,805)
Non-cash charges

  

—
   

—
   

(9,062)
 

(685) (9,747)
Accretion

  

1,272
   

—
   

—
  

—
 

1,272
 

Balance at April 1, 2006
  

$ 162,269
   

$ 24,719
   

$ —
  

$ 1,696
 

$ 188,684
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4.      Net Income (Loss) Per Common Share

Net income (loss) per common share was determined by dividing net income (loss), as adjusted, by weighted average shares outstanding.

  Quarter Ended  

  

April 1,
2006  

March 26,
2005  

  

(thousands, except per
share amounts)  

Basic income (loss) per common share:
       

Income (loss) from continuing operations
 

$ (14,106)
 

$ (1,000)
 

Preferred dividends
 

(1,009)
 

(1,106)
 

Basic income (loss) before discontinued operations
 

(15,115)
 

(2,106)
 

Loss from discontinued operations
 

(10,981)
 

(4,292)
 

Basic income (loss)
 

$ (26,096)
 

$ (6,398)
 

Average shares used to determine basic income (loss) per common share
 

70,833
  

92,956
  

Basic income (loss) per common share:
       

Continuing operations
 

$ (0.21)
 

$ (0.03)
 

Discontinued operations
 

(0.16)
 

(0.04)
 

Basic income (loss) per common share
 

$ (0.37)
 

$ (0.07)
  

  Quarter Ended  

  

April 1,
2006  

March 26,
2005  

  

(thousands, except per
share amounts)  

Diluted income (loss) per common share:
       

Basic income (loss) before discontinued operations
 

$ (15,115)
 

$ (2,106)
 

Preferred dividends eliminated
 

—
  

—
  

Supplemental ESOP contribution
 

—
  

—
  

Diluted income (loss) before discontinued operations
 

(15,115)
 

(2,106)
 

Loss from discontinued operations
 

(10,981)
 

(4,292)
 

Diluted income (loss)
 

$ (26,096)
 

$ (6,398)
 

Average shares used to determine basic income (loss) per common share
 

70,833
  

92,956
  

Restricted stock, stock options and other
 

—
  

—
  

Series D Convertible Preferred Stock
 

—
  

—
  

Average shares used to determine diluted income (loss) per common share (a)
 

70,833
  

92,956
  

Diluted income (loss) per common share:
       

Continuing operations
 

$ (0.21)
 

$ (0.03)
 

Discontinued operations
 

(0.16)
 

(0.04)
 

Diluted income (loss) per common share
 

$ (0.37)
 

$ (0.07)
 

(a)           Options to purchase 5.7 million and 7.3 million shares of common stock were outstanding during the quarters ended April 1, 2006 and March 26, 2005,
respectively, but were not included in the computation of diluted income (loss) per common share because the impact would have been anti-dilutive due
to the net loss recognized in those quarters.
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5.                   Other Operating, Net

The components of “Other operating, net” in the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) are as follows:

  Quarter Ended  

  April 1,  March 26,  



2006 2005
  (thousands)  

Legal reserve (a)
 

$ —
  

$ 9,800
  

Integration and facility closures (b)
 

114,268
  

—
  

Equity in net income of affiliates
 

(1,428)
 

(1,302)
 

Other, net
 

—
  

1,888
  

 

 

$ 112,840
  

$ 10,386
  

(a)             Legal settlement with the Department of Justice recorded in the OfficeMax, Contract segment.

(b)            See Note 3, Integration and Facility Closures.

6.                   Income Taxes

During the quarters ended April 1, 2006 and March 26, 2005, the Company paid income taxes, net of refunds received, of $3.0 million and $131.2
million, respectively.

7.                   Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) includes the following:

  Quarter Ended  

  

April 1,
2006  

March 26,
2005  

  (thousands)  

Net income (loss)
 

$ (25,087)
 

$ (5,292)
 

Other comprehensive income (loss):
       

Foreign currency translation adjustment
 

(18,360)
 

(2,483)
 

Comprehensive income (loss)
 

$ (43,447)
 

$ (7,775)
  

8.                   Sales of Accounts Receivable

The Company sells, on a revolving basis, an undivided interest in a defined pool of receivables while retaining a subordinated interest in a portion of the
receivables. The receivables are sold without legal recourse to third party conduits through a wholly owned bankruptcy-remote special purpose entity that is
consolidated for financial reporting purposes. The Company continues servicing the sold receivables and charges the third party conduits a monthly servicing
fee at market rates. The program qualifies for sale treatment under SFAS 140. At April 1, 2006 and December 31, 2005, $174.0 million and $163.0 million of
sold accounts receivable were excluded from receivables in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company’s subordinated retained interest in
the transferred receivables was $105.8 million and $73.3 million at April 1, 2006 and December 31, 2005, respectively, and is included in receivables, net in
the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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9.                   Investments in Affiliates

In connection with the Sale, the Company invested $175 million in the equity units of affiliates of Boise Cascade, L.L.C. A portion (approximately
$66 million) of the equity units received in exchange for the Company’s investment carry no voting rights. This investment is accounted for under the cost
method as the Company has less than a 20 percent voting interest in Boise Cascade, L.L.C. and does not have the ability to significantly influence its operating
and financial policies. This investment is included in investments in affiliates in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The Boise Cascade, L.L.C. non-voting equity units accrue dividends daily at the rate of 8% per annum on the liquidation value plus accumulated
dividends. Dividends accumulate semiannually to the extent not paid in cash on the last day of any June and December. The Company recognized dividend
income on this investment of $1.4 million and $1.3 million for the quarters ended April 1, 2006 and March 26, 2005, respectively.

10.            Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price and related costs over the value assigned to the net tangible and intangible assets of businesses
acquired. In accordance with the provisions of SFAS 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” we assess our acquired goodwill and intangible assets with
indefinite lives for impairment at least annually in the absence of an indicator of possible impairment and immediately upon an indicator of possible
impairment. We completed our annual assessment in accordance with the provisions of the standard during the first quarter of 2006 and 2005, and concluded
there was no impairment. During the first quarter of 2006 and 2005, we also evaluated the remaining useful lives of our finite-lived purchased intangible
assets to determine if any adjustments to the useful lives were necessary or if any of these assets had indefinite lives. We determined that no adjustments to
the useful lives of our finite-lived purchased intangible assets were necessary.

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by segment are as follows:

  

OfficeMax,
Contract  

OfficeMax,
Retail  Total  

  (thousands)  

Balance at December 31, 2005
  

$ 523,537
   

$ 694,663
  

$ 1,218,200
 

Effect of foreign currency translation
  

(8,539)
  

—
  

(8,539)
Other

  

(127)
  

—
  

(127)
Balance at April 1, 2006

  

$ 514,871
   

$ 694,663
  

$ 1,209,534
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Acquired Intangible Assets

Intangible assets represent the values assigned to trade names, customer lists and relationships, noncompete agreements and exclusive distribution rights
of businesses acquired. The trade name assets have an indefinite life and are not amortized. All other intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis
over their expected useful lives. Customer lists and relationships are amortized over three to 20 years, noncompete agreements over their terms, which are
generally three to five years, and exclusive distribution rights over ten years. Intangible assets consisted of the following:

  April 1, 2006  

  

Gross Carrying
Amount  

Accumulated
Amortization  

Net Carrying
Amount  

  (thousands)  

Trade names
  

$ 173,100
   

$ —
   

$ 173,100
  

Customer lists and relationships
  

34,035
   

(13,799)
  

20,236
  

Noncompete agreements
  

12,852
   

(6,244)
  

6,608
  

Exclusive distribution rights
  

3,145
   

(1,568)
  

1,577
  

 

  

$ 223,132
   

$ (21,611)
  

$ 201,521
   

  December 31, 2005  

  

Gross Carrying
Amount  

Accumulated
Amortization  

Net Carrying
Amount  

  (thousands)  

Trade names
  

$ 173,100
   

$ —
   

$ 173,100
  

Customer lists and relationships
  

36,438
   

(13,438)
  

23,000
  

Noncompete agreements
  

12,852
   

(5,577)
  

7,275
  

Exclusive distribution rights
  

3,508
   

(1,651)
  

1,857
  

 

  

$ 225,898
   

$ (20,666)
  

$ 205,232
   

Intangible asset amortization expense totaled $1.7 million and $1.5 million for the quarters ended April 1, 2006, and March 31, 2005, respectively.
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11.                Timber Notes Receivable

In October 2004, OfficeMax sold its timberlands as part of the Sale. In exchange for the timberlands, the Company received timber installment notes
receivable in the amount of $1,635 million, which were credit enhanced with guarantees. The guarantees were issued by highly-rated financial institutions and
were secured by the pledge of underlying collateral notes issued by the credit enhancement banks. The timber installment notes receivable are 15-year non-
amortizing. There are two notes that total $817.5 million bearing interest at 4.982% and a third note in the amount of $817.5 million bearing interest at
5.112%. Interest earned on all of the notes is received semiannually. See sub-caption “Timber Notes” in Note 12, Debt, for additional information concerning
a securitization transaction involving the timber installment notes receivable.

12.                Debt

Credit Agreements

On June 24, 2005, the Company entered into a loan and security agreement for a new revolving credit facility. The revolving credit facility permits the
Company to borrow up to the maximum aggregate borrowing amount, which is equal to the lesser of (i) a percentage of the value of certain eligible inventory
less certain reserves or (ii) $500 million. There were $29.7 million and $18.7 million in borrowings outstanding under the revolver as of April 1, 2006 and
December 31, 2005, respectively. The minimum and maximum amounts outstanding under the revolving credit facility were $2.9 million and $122.0 million,
respectively, during the quarter ended April 1, 2006. The average amount outstanding under the revolving credit facility during the quarter ended April 1,
2006 was $71.6 million. Letters of credit, which may be issued under the revolver up to a maximum of $100 million, reduce available borrowing capacity
under the revolving credit facility. Letters of credit issued under the revolver totaled $80.2 million as of April 1, 2006. As of April 1, 2006, the maximum
aggregate borrowing amount available under the revolver was $441.2 million and excess availability under the revolver was $331.3 million.

Borrowings under the revolver bear interest at rates based on either the prime rate or the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”). Margins are applied
to the applicable borrowing rates and letter of credit fees under the revolver depending on the level of average excess availability. For borrowings outstanding
under the revolver during the quarter ended April 1, 2006, the weighted average interest rate was equal to 7.6%. Fees on letters of credit issued under the
revolver were charged at a weighted average rate of 1.125%. The Company is also charged an unused line fee of 0.25% on the amount by which the
maximum available credit of $500 million exceeds the average daily outstanding borrowings and letters of credit.

Borrowings under the revolver are secured by a lien on substantially all inventory and related proceeds. The revolving loan and security agreement
contains customary conditions to borrowing including a monthly calculation of excess borrowing availability and reporting compliance. Covenants in the
revolver agreement restrict the amount of letters of credit that may be issued, dividend distributions and other uses of cash if excess availability is less than
$75 million. At April 1, 2006, the Company was in compliance with all covenants under the revolver agreement. The revolver expires on June 24, 2010.

Timber Notes

In October 2004, the Company sold its timberlands as part of the Sale and received credit-enhanced timber installment notes receivable in the amount of
$1,635 million. (See Note 11, Timber Notes Receivable.) In December 2004, the Company completed a securitization transaction in which its interest in the
timber installment notes receivable and related guarantees were transferred to wholly-owned bankruptcy remote subsidiaries that were designated to be
qualifying special purpose entities (the “OMXQs”). The OMXQs pledged the timber installment notes receivable and related guarantees and
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issued securitization notes in the amount of $1,470 million. Recourse on the securitization notes is limited to the pledged timber installment notes receivable.
The securitization notes are 15-year non-amortizing, and were issued in two equal $735 million tranches paying interest of 5.42% and 5.54%, respectively.

As a result of these transactions, OfficeMax received $1,470 million in cash from the OMXQ’s, and over 15 years will earn approximately $82.5 million
per year in interest income on the timber installment notes receivable and incur interest expense of approximately $80.5 million on the securitization notes.
The pledged timber installment notes receivable and nonrecourse securitization notes will mature in 2020 and 2019, respectively. The securitization notes
have an initial term that is approximately three months shorter than the installment notes. The Company expects to refinance its ownership of the installment
notes in 2019 with a short-term secured borrowing to bridge the period from initial maturity of the securitization notes to the maturity of the installment notes.

The original entities issuing the credit enhanced timber installment notes are variable-interest entities (the “VIE’s”) under FASB Interpretation 46R,
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities”. The OMXQs are considered to be the primary beneficiary, and therefore, the VIE’s are required to be
consolidated with the OMXQ’s, which are also the issuers of the securitization notes. As a result, the accounts of the OMXQ’s have been consolidated into
those of their ultimate parent, OfficeMax. The effect of the Company’s consolidation of the OMXQs is that the securitization transaction is treated as a
financing, and both the timber notes receivable and the securitization notes payable are reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Note Agreements

In October 2003, the Company issued $300 million of 6.50% senior notes due in 2010 and $200 million of 7.00% senior notes due in 2013. At the time
of issuance, the senior note indentures contained a number of restrictive covenants, substantially all of which have been eliminated through the execution of
supplemental indentures as described below. On November 5, 2004, the Company repurchased approximately $286.3 million of the 6.50% senior notes and
received the requisite consents to adopt amendments to the indenture pursuant to a tender offer for these securities. As a result, the Company and the trustee
executed a supplemental indenture that eliminated substantially all of the restrictive covenants, certain events of default and related provisions, and replaced
them with the covenants contained in the Company’s other public debt. Those covenants include a limitation on mergers and similar transactions, a restriction
on secured transactions involving Principal Properties, as defined, and a restriction on sale and leaseback transactions involving Principal Properties.

On December 23, 2004, both Moody’s Investors Service, Inc., and Standard & Poor’s Rating Services upgraded the credit rating on the Company’s
7.00% senior notes to investment grade. The upgrades were the result of actions the Company took to collateralize the notes by granting the note holders a
security interest in $113 million in principal amount of General Electric Capital and Bank of America Corp. notes maturing in 2008 (the “pledged
instruments”). These pledged instruments are reflected as restricted investments in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. As a result of these ratings upgrades, the
original 7.00% senior note covenants have been replaced with the covenants found in the Company’s other public debt. During the first quarter of 2005, the
Company purchased and cancelled $87.3 million of the 7.00% senior notes. As a result, $92.8 million of the pledged instruments were released from the
security interest granted to the 7.00% senior note holders, and were sold during the second quarter of 2005. The remaining pledged instruments continue to be
subject to the security interest, and are reflected as restricted investments in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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Other

The Company had leased certain equipment at its integrated wood-polymer building materials facility near Elma, Washington under a capital lease. The
lease agreement had a base term of seven years and an interest rate of 4.67%. During the first quarter of  2006 the Company paid $29.1 million to terminate
the lease agreement. At December 31, 2005, the capital lease was included in the current portion of long-term debt in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Cash payments for interest were $10.7 million and $14.4 million for the quarters ended April 1, 2006 and March 26, 2005, respectively.

13.                Retirement and Benefit Plans

The following represents the components of net periodic pension and postretirement benefit costs (income):

  Pension Benefits  Other Benefits  

  Quarter Ended  Quarter Ended  

  

April 1,
2006  

March 26,
2005  

April 1,
2006  

March 26,
2005  

  (thousands)  

Service cost
 

$ 400
 

$ 240
  

$ 217
   

$ 182
  

Interest cost
 

18,670
 

18,816
  

395
   

1,059
  

Expected return on plan assets
 

(21,838) (21,034)
 

—
   

—
  

Recognized actuarial loss
 

5,790
 

7,407
  

173
   

130
  

Amortization of prior service costs and other
 

—
 

—
  

(893)
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Company-sponsored plans
 

3,022
 

5,429
  

(108)
  

1,390
  

Immediate recognition
 

1,357
 

—
  

—
   

—
  

Net periodic benefit cost
 

$ 4,379
 

$ 5,429
  

$ (108)
  

$ 1,390
   

There is a minimal contribution requirement in 2006.

14.            Segment Information

The Company manages its business using three reportable segments: OfficeMax, Contract; OfficeMax, Retail; and Corporate and Other. Each of the
Company’s segments represent a business with differing products, services and/or distribution channels. Each of these businesses require distinct operating
and marketing strategies. Management reviews the performance of the Company based on these segments.

OfficeMax, Contract markets and sells a broad line of items for the office, including office supplies and paper, technology products and solutions and
office furniture. OfficeMax, Contract sells directly to large corporate, government and small and medium-sized offices in the United States, Canada,
Australia, New Zealand and Mexico through field salespeople, outbound telesales, catalogs, the Internet and office products stores in Canada, Hawaii,
Australia and New Zealand.

OfficeMax, Retail is a retail distributor of office supplies and paper, print and document services, technology products and solutions and office furniture.
OfficeMax, Retail has operations in the United States, Puerto Rico and the U.S. Virgin Islands. OfficeMax office supply stores feature OfficeMax Print and



Document Services, an in-store module devoted to print-for-pay and related services. The retail segment also operates office supply stores in Mexico through
a 51%-owned joint venture.
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Substantially all products sold by the Contract and Retail segments are purchased from third party manufacturers or industry wholesalers except for
office papers. The Contract and Retail segments purchase office papers from Boise Cascade, L.L.C., under the terms of a paper supply contract.

Corporate and Other includes corporate support staff services and related assets and liabilities.

Management evaluates the segments based on operating profits before interest expense, income taxes, minority interest, extraordinary items and
cumulative effect of accounting changes. The income and expense related to certain assets and liabilities that are reported in the Corporate and Other segment
have been allocated to the Contract and Retail segments. Certain expenses that management considers unusual or non-recurring are reflected in the Corporate
and Other segment.

An analysis of our operations by segment is as follows:

  Sales  

Income (Loss) Before Taxes
and Minority Interest (a)  

  Quarter Ended  Quarter Ended  

  

April 1,
2006  

March 26,
2005  

April 1,
2006  

March 26,
2005  

  (thousands)  

OfficeMax, Contract
 

$ 1,230,762
 

$ 1,124,441
 

$ 67,049
 

$ 18,362
 

OfficeMax, Retail
 

1,192,775
 

1,198,359
 

(37,992) 22,860
 

Corporate and Other
 

—
 

—
 

(37,421) (27,090)
 

 

2,423,537
 

2,322,800
 

(8,364) 14,132
 

Debt retirement expense
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

(12,155)
Interest expense

 

—
 

—
 

(31,503) (31,191)
Interest income and other

 

—
 

—
 

18,948
 

32,639
 

 

 

$ 2,423,537
 

$ 2,322,800
 

$ (20,919) $ 3,425
 

(a)                  See Note 3, Integration and Facility Closures and Note 5, Other Operating, Net for an explanation of items affecting the segments.

15.            Commitments and Guarantees

In addition to commitments for leases and long-term debt, and purchase obligations for goods and services and capital expenditures entered into in the
normal course of business, the Company has various other commitments, guarantees and obligations that are described in Note 20, Commitments and
Guarantees, in “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” and under the caption “Contractual Obligations” in “Item 7. Management’s Discussion
and Anlaysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005. At
April 1, 2006, there had not been a material change to the information regarding commitments, guarantees and contractual obligations disclosed in the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005.

16.            Legal Proceedings and Contingencies

We are involved in litigation and administrative proceedings arising in the normal course of our business. In the opinion of management, our recovery, if
any, or our liability, if any, under pending litigation or administrative proceedings would not materially affect our financial position or results of operations.
For information regarding legal proceedings and contingencies, see Note 21, Legal Proceedings and Contingencies, in “Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data” in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005.
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17.    Share Based Payments

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 123R, “Share Based Payment.”  SFAS 123R is a revision of SFAS
No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” and supersedes Accounting Principles Board Opinion (APB) No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees,” and its related implementation guidance. SFAS 123R focuses primarily on accounting for transactions in which an entity obtains employee
services in exchange for share-based payments. SFAS 123R requires entities to recognize compensation expense from all share-based payment transactions in
the financial statements. SFAS 123R establishes fair value as the measurement objective in accounting for share-based payment transactions and requires all
companies to apply a fair-value-based measurement method in accounting for generally all share-based payment transactions with employees.

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS 123R using the modified prospective transition method. Accordingly, the financial statements for
periods prior to January 1, 2006 have not been restated to reflect the adoption of SFAS  123R. Under SFAS 123R, the Company must record compensation
expense for all awards granted after the adoption date and for the unvested portion of previously granted awards that remain outstanding at the adoption date,
under the fair value method. Previously, the Company recognized compensation expense for share-based awards to employees using the fair-value-based
guidance in SFAS 123. Due to the fact that the Company had previously accounted for share-based awards using SFAS 123, the adoption of SFAS 123R did
not have a material impact on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

The Company sponsors several share-based compensation plans, which are described below. Compensation costs related to the Company’s share-based
plans were $4.7 million and $1.4 million for the first quarter of 2006 and 2005, respectively. Compensation expense is generally recognized on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period of grants. The total income tax benefit recognized in the income statement for share-based compensation arrangements was $1.8
million and $0.5 million for the first quarter of 2006 and 2005, respectively. An additional $1.0 million of income tax benefit was recognized in additional
paid-in capital in the first quarter of 2005.



2003 Director Stock Compensation Plan and OfficeMax Incentive and Performance Plan

In February 2003, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted the 2003 Director Stock Compensation Plan (the “2003 DSCP”) and the 2003 OfficeMax
Incentive and Performance Plan (the “2003 Plan”), which were approved by shareholders in April 2003.

A total of 68,739 shares of common stock is reserved for issuance under the 2003 DSCP. The 2003 DSCP permits nonemployee directors to elect to
receive grants of options to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock in lieu of cash compensation. The difference between the $2.50-per-share
exercise price of 2003 DSCP options and the market value of the common stock subject to the options is intended to offset the cash compensation that
participating directors elect not to receive. Options expire three years after the holder ceases to be a director.

A total of 5,712,019 shares of common stock is reserved for issuance under the 2003 Plan. The Company’s executive officers, key employees and
nonemployee directors are eligible to receive awards under the 2003 Plan at the discretion of the Executive Compensation Committee of the Board of
Directors. Eight types of awards may be granted under the 2003 Plan, including stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units,
performance units, performance shares, annual incentive awards and stock bonus awards.
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Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units

In the first quarter of 2006, the Company granted to employees and directors 1,005,190 restricted stock units (“RSUs”). The weighted-average grant-date
fair value of the RSUs was $27.90. As of April 1, 2006, 1,003,410 of these RSU’s remained outstanding and vest half in 2008 and half in 2009. The
remaining compensation expense to be recognized related to this grant, net of estimated forfeitures, is $36 million.

In 2005, the Company granted to employees and directors 725,338 RSUs. The weighted-average grant-date fair value of the RSUs was $33.15. As of
April 1, 2006, 631,256 of these RSU’s remained outstanding, which vest after defined service periods as follows: 49,678 units in 2006, 529,678 units in 2007,
45,900 units in 2008 and 3,000 units in both 2009 and 2010. The remaining compensation expense to be recognized related to this grant, net of estimated
forfeitures, is $9 million.

In 2004, the Company granted 366,775 RSUs to employees and 14,765 shares of restricted stock to nonemployee directors. The weighted-average grant-
date fair value of the RSUs and restricted stock shares was $32.14. The vesting of the 2004 RSU award was based on performance criteria established for
2004 and 2005. The performance criteria were not met; therefore, no compensation expense was recorded for this RSU award, and these units will not be
distributed. The restricted stock granted to directors vests six months from their termination or retirement from board service, and 12,595 of these restricted
stock shares remain outstanding at April 1 2006.

Restricted stock shares are restricted until they vest and cannot be sold by the recipient until the restriction has lapsed. Each RSU converts into one
common share after the restriction  lapses. No entries are made in the financial statements on the grant date of restricted stock and RSU awards. The
Company measures compensation expense related to these awards based on the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the grant date, and
recognizes the expense over the applicable vesting period. If these awards contain performance criteria, management periodically reviews actual performance
against the criteria and adjusts compensation expense accordingly. For the first quarter of 2006 and 2005, the Company recognized $4.5 million and
$1.4 million, respectively, of pretax compensation expense and additional paid-in capital related to restricted stock and RSU awards.

Restricted shares and RSUs are not included as shares outstanding in the calculation of basic earnings per share, but are included in the number of shares
used to calculate diluted earnings per share, if dilutive. When the restriction lapses on restricted stock, the par value of the stock is reclassified from additional
paid-in-capital to common stock. When the restriction lapses on RSUs, the units are converted to unrestricted common shares, and the par value of the stock
is reclassified from additional paid-in-capital to common stock. Unrestricted shares are included in shares outstanding for purposes of calculating both basic
and diluted earnings per share. Restricted stock and RSUs may be eligible to receive all dividends declared on the Company’s common shares during the
vesting period; however, such dividends are not paid until the restrictions lapse.

Stock Units

The Company has a shareholder approved deferred compensation program for certain of its executive officers that allows them to defer a portion of their
cash compensation. These officers may choose to allocate their deferrals to a stock unit account. Each stock unit is equal in value to one share of the
Company’s common stock. The Company matches deferrals used to purchase stock units with a 25% Company allocation of stock units. The value of
deferred stock unit accounts is paid in shares of the Company’s common stock when an officer retires or terminates employment. At April 1, 2006, 62,867
stock units were allocated to the accounts of these executive officers.
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Stock Options

In addition to the 2003 DSCP and the 2003 Plan (discussed above), the Company has the following shareholder-approved stock option plans: the Key
Executive Stock Option Plan (“KESOP”), the Director Stock Option Plan (“DSOP”) and the Director Stock Compensation Plan (“DSCP”). No further grants
will be made under the KESOP, DSOP and DSCP.

The KESOP provided for the grant of options to purchase shares of common stock to key employees of the Company. The exercise price of awards
under the KESOP was equal to the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the date the options were granted. Options granted under the
KESOP expire, at the latest, ten years and one day following the grant date.

The DSOP, which was available only to nonemployee directors, provided for annual grants of options. The exercise price of awards under the DSOP was
equal to the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the date the options were granted. The options granted under the DSOP expire upon the
earlier of three years after the director ceases to be a director or ten years after the grant date.



The DSCP permitted nonemployee directors to elect to receive grants of options to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock in lieu of cash
compensation. The difference between the $2.50-per-share exercise price of DSCP options and the market value of the common stock subject to the options
was intended to offset the cash compensation that participating directors elected not to receive. Options granted under the DSCP expire three years after the
holder ceases to be a director.

Under the KESOP and DSOP, options may not, except under unusual circumstances, be exercised until one year following the grant date. Under the
DSCP, options may be exercised six months after the grant date.

A summary of stock option activity for the quarters ended April 1, 2006 and March 26, 2005 is presented in the table below:

  2006  2005  

  Shares  

Weighted Avg.
Exercise Price  Shares  

Weighted Avg.
Exercise Price  

Balance at beginning of period
 

5,759,545
  

$ 32.39
  

6,963,462
  

$ 32.62
  

Options granted
 

—
  

—
  

10,000
  

33.72
  

Options exercised
 

(16,892)
 

21.94
  

(444,523)
 

27.99
  

Options forfeited and expired
 

(20,100)
 

36.82
  

(19,650)
 

45.02
  

Balance at end of period
 

5,722,553
  

$ 32.40
  

6,509,289
  

$ 32.91
  

Exercisable at end of period
 

5,415,687
     

6,499,289
      

The following table provides summarized information about stock options outstanding at April 1, 2006:

  Options Outstanding  Options Exercisable  

Range of Exercise Prices  

Options
Outstanding  

Weighted
Average

Contractual
Life (Years)  

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price  

Options
Exercisable  

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price  

$2.5
  

58,141
   

—
   

$ 2.50
  

58,141
  

$ 2.50
  

$18.00—$28.00
  

1,735,921
   

4.7
   

27.32
  

1,735,921
  

27.32
  

$28.01—$39.00
  

3,916,591
   

3.4
   

35.07
  

3,609,725
  

35.31
  

$39.01—$44.00
  

11,900
   

1.5
   

41.00
  

11,900
  

41.00
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The remaining compensation expense to be recognized related to outstanding stock options, net of estimated forfeitures, is approximately $1.4 million.
At April 1, 2006, the aggregate intrinsic value of outstanding stock options was $6.6 million and exercisable stock options was $6.6 million. The aggregrate
intrinsic value represents the total pre-tax intrinsic value (i.e. the difference between the Company’s closing stock price on the last trading day of the first
quarter of 2006 and the exercise price, multiplied by the numbers of in-the-money options at the end of the quarter).

The Company did not grant any stock options in the first quarter of 2006. To calculate stock-based employee compensation expense under the fair value
method as outlined in SFAS 123 in 2005 and 2004, the Company estimated the fair value of each option award on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions used for grants awarded in 2005 and 2004: risk-free interest rates of 4.3% in 2005 and
3.6% in 2004 (based on the applicable Treasury bill rate); expected dividends of 60 cents per share in both years (based on actual cash dividends expected to
be paid); expected life of 3.4 years in 2005 and 4.3 years in 2004 (based on the time period options are expected to be outstanding based on historical
experience); and expected stock price volatility of 28% in 2005 and 40% in 2004 (based on the historical volatility of the Company’s common stock).
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ITEM 2.    MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Summary

The following discussion contains statements about our future financial performance. These statements are only predictions. Our actual results may
differ materially from these predictions. In evaluating these statements, you should review Part II, Item 1A, “Risk Factors” of this Form 10-Q, including
“Cautionary and Forward-Looking Statements.”

Financial Performance

Sales for the first quarter of 2006 were $2.4 billion, compared to $2.3 billion for the first quarter of  2005. The net loss for the first quarter of 2006 was
$25.1 million, or $(0.37) per diluted share, compared to a net loss of  $5.3 million, or $(0.07) per diluted share, for the same period in 2005.

Results for the first quarter of 2006 and 2005 include various items related to the Company’s previously announced restructuring activities and its
transition to an independent office products distribution company, which are not expected to be ongoing, including a loss from discontinued operations and
the following:

·       In the first quarter of 2006, the Company recorded pre-tax charges of $98.6 million and $15.7 million related to the closing of 109 retail stores and the
continued consolidation of its corporate headquarters, respectively. These charges were included in other operating, net in the Consolidated Statements
of Income (Loss) and were reflected in the Retail segment (store closures) and the Corporate and Other segment (headquarters consolidation),
respectively.

·       In the first quarter of 2005, the Company recognized a $9.8 million pre-tax charge in the Contract segment related to a legal settlement with the
Department of Justice. Also during the first quarter of 2005, the Company incurred $11.3 million of expenses in the Corporate and Other segment for
one-time severance payments.



As of April 1, 2006, we had $76.6 million of cash and cash equivalents and $460.0 million of short-term and long-term debt, excluding the $1.5 billion
of timber securitization notes. During 2006, we reduced our net debt by $39.0 million. Several items related to our restructuring and transition also impacted
our financial position. Since the end of 2003, we have paid down approximately $1.9 billion of debt, primarily with proceeds from the sale of the paper, forest
products and timberland assets, and expensed $151.5 million of costs related to the early retirement of debt. During 2004, we announced plans to return
between $800 million and $1 billion of the proceeds from the sale of the paper, forest products and timberland assets to shareholders via common or preferred
stock buybacks, cash dividends or a combination of these alternatives. As part of this commitment to return cash to equity holders, we redeemed
$110.0 million of our Series D preferred stock on November 1, 2004. Additionally, during the second quarter of 2005, we repurchased 23.5 million shares of
our common stock and the associated common stock purchase rights through a modified Dutch auction tender offer at a purchase price of $775.5 million, or
$33.00 per share, plus transaction costs.

Sale of Paper, Forest Products and Timberland Assets

On October 29, 2004, the Company sold substantially all of its paper, forest products and timberland assets for approximately $3.7 billion in cash and
other consideration to affiliates of Boise Cascade, L.L.C., a new company formed by Madison Dearborn Partners LLC (the “Sale”). The Company changed its
name
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from Boise Cascade Corporation to OfficeMax Incorporated in connection with the sale of the paper, forest products and timberland assets.

Discontinued Operations

In December 2004, the Company’s board of directors authorized management to pursue the divestiture of a facility near Elma, Washington that
manufactured integrated wood-polymer building materials. The board of directors and management concluded that the operations of the facility were no
longer consistent with the Company’s strategic direction. As a result of that decision, the Company recorded the facility’s assets as held for sale on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets and the results of its operations and planned divestiture as discontinued operations.

During 2005, the Company experienced unexpected difficulties in achieving anticipated levels of production at the facility. These issues delayed the
process of identifying and qualifying a buyer for the business. While management made substantial progress in addressing the manufacturing issues that
caused production to fall below plan, during the fourth quarter of 2005, management concluded that the Company was unable to attract a buyer in the near
term and elected to cease operations at the facility during the first quarter of 2006.

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” the Company recorded pre-tax charges of $67.8
million in the fourth quarter of 2004 and $28.2 million in the fourth quarter of 2005 to reduce the carrying value of the long-lived assets of the Elma,
Washington facility to their estimated fair value. During the first quarter of 2006, management ceased operations at the facility and recorded pre-tax expenses
of $18.0 million for contract termination and other closure costs. These charges and expenses were reflected within discontinued operations in the
Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss).

Integration Activities and Facility Closures

The Company conducts regular reviews of its real estate portfolio to identify underperforming facilities, and closes those facilities that are no longer
strategically or economically viable. Costs associated with the planned closure and consolidation of acquired facilities were accounted for under EITF Issue
No. 95-3, “Recognition of Liabilities in Connection with a Purchase Business Combination,” and recognized as liabilities in connection with the acquisition
and charged to goodwill. Costs incurred in connection with all other business integration activities have been recognized in the Consolidated Statements of
Income (Loss). The Company records a liability for the cost associated with a facility closure at its fair value in the period in which the liability is incurred.

During the first quarter of 2006, the Company closed 109 underperforming, domestic retail stores and recorded a pre-tax charge of $98.6 million,
including $11.3 million for employee severance, asset write-off and impairment and other closure costs and $87.3 million of estimated future lease
obligations. The provision for estimated future lease obligations represents the estimated fair value of the obligations and is net of anticipated sublease income
of $136.4 million.

In September 2005, the board of directors approved a plan to relocate and consolidate the Company’s retail headquarters in Shaker Heights, Ohio and its
existing corporate headquarters in Itasca, Illinois into a new facility in Naperville, Illinois. The consolidation process is expected to be completed during the
second half of 2006. Management expects the total cost for severance, retention, contract termination costs and accelerated depreciation related to the
headquarters consolidation will be $45 to $55 million on a pre-tax basis. In addition, the Company expects to incur expenses for personnel training, recruiting
and relocation related to the headquarters consolidation of approximately $20 million during 2006. The estimated costs
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related to the headquarters consolidation do not include potential savings from expected efficiencies and tax incentives.

During the first quarter of 2006, the Company recorded charges totaling $15.7 million related to the headquarters consolidation in the Corporate and
Other segment, including amounts for severance, retention, contract termination costs and accelerated depreciation as well as amounts for personnel training,
recruiting and relocation. To-date, including amounts recognized during the third and fourth quarters of 2005 and the first quarter of 2006, the Company has
expensed approximately $40.7 million of costs related to the headquarters consolidation.

At April 1, 2006, approximately $89.2 million of the integration and facility closure reserve was included in accrued liabilities, other, and $99.5 million
was included in other long-term liabilities. Integration and facility closure reserve account activity during the first quarter of 2006, including activity related
to the retail store closures and the headquarters consolidation, was as follows:

  

Lease\
Contract

Terminations  

Severance\
Retention  

Asset
Write-off &
Impairment  Other  Total  



  (thousands)  

Balance at December 31, 2005
  

$ 91,455
   

$ 21,502
   

$ —
  

$ 739
 

$ 113,696
 

Charges to income
  

87,338
   

9,304
   

9,062
  

8,564
 

114,268
 

Charges to goodwill
  

—
   

—
   

—
  

—
 

—
 

Credits to income
  

—
   

—
   

—
  

—
 

—
 

Cash payments
  

(17,796)
  

(6,087)
  

—
  

(6,922) (30,805)
Non-cash charges

  

—
   

—
   

(9,062)
 

(685) (9,747)
Accretion

  

1,272
   

—
   

—
  

—
 

1,272
 

Balance at April 1, 2006
  

$ 162,269
   

$ 24,719
   

$ —
  

$ 1,696
 

$ 188,684
  

Results of Operations, Consolidated

  Quarter Ended  

  

April 1,
2006  

March 26,
2005  

  

(millions, except
per share amounts)  

Sales
 

$2,423.5
  

$ 2,322.8
  

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes and minority interest
 

$ (20.9)
 

$ 3.4
  

Net income (loss)
 

$ (25.1)
 

$ (5.3)
 

Diluted income (loss) per common share:
       

Continuing operations
 

$ (0.21)
 

$ (0.03)
 

Discontinued operations
 

(0.16)
 

(0.04)
 

Diluted income (loss) per common share
 

$ (0.37)
 

$ (0.07)
  

  (percentage of sales)  

Gross profit margin
 

25.9% 24.4%
Operating and selling expenses

 

17.9% 19.4%
General and administrative expenses

 

3.7% 4.0%
Other operating, net

 

4.6% 0.4%
Operating profit margin

 

(0.3)% 0.6%
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Total sales increased by $100.7 million, or 4.3%, to $2,423.5 million for the first quarter of 2006 compared to the same quarter a year ago. The sales
increase was primarily due to the impact of five additional selling days for the domestic operations of the Contract segment in the first quarter of 2006 and a
1.2% comparable-store sales increase in the Retail segment.

Gross profit margin improved 1.5% of sales to 25.9% of sales for the first quarter of 2006 compared to 24.4% of sales for the same quarter a year ago.
The gross profit margin increase was driven by gross margin improvement initiatives in both the Contract and Retail segments.

Operating and selling expenses decreased by 1.5% of sales to 17.9% of sales in the quarter ended April 1, 2006 from 19.4% of sales for the same period
a year ago. The improvement in operating and selling expenses was the result of targeted cost reduction programs, including lower promotion and marketing
costs, payroll and integration expenses in the Contract segment, and reduced store labor and marketing costs in the Retail segment.

General and administrative expense as a percent of sales were 3.7% and 4.0% for the quarters ended April 1, 2006 and March 26, 2005, respectively.
General and administrative expenses in the first quarter of 2005 included $11.3 million of expenses for one-time severance payments. Excluding the
severance expenses, general and administrative expenses were 3.5% of sales for the first quarter of 2005. The year-over-year increase in general and
administrative expenses was due to increased employee benefit costs.

In the first quarter 2006, the Company reported $112.8 million of expense in “Other operating, net” which consisted of $98.6 million related to the 109
domestic store closures and $15.7 million related to the headquarters consolidation. In the first quarter of 2005, the Company reported $10.4 million of
expense in “Other operating, net.”  Other operating, net for the first quarter of 2005 included a $9.8 million pre-tax charge for a legal settlement with the
Department of Justice. Other operating, net also includes equity in net income of affiliates, which was $1.4 million in the first quarter of 2006 and $1.3
million in the first quarter of 2005.

Interest expense was $31.5 million for the quarter ended April 1, 2006. Interest expense for the quarter ended March 26, 2005, was $31.2 million.
Interest expense includes interest related to the timber securitization notes of approximately $20.1 million for the first quarter of 2006 and 2005. The interest
expense associated with the timber securitization notes is offset by interest income earned  on the timber notes receivable, which amounted to $20.6 million
for the first quarter of 2006 and 2005.  The interest income on the timber notes receivable is included in interest income and is not netted against the related
interest expense in our Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss).

Excluding the interest income earned on the timber notes receivable, interest income was $0.5 million and $10.6 million for the quarters ended April 1,
2006 and March 26, 2005, respectively. The interest income in 2005 was earned on the cash and short-term investments held by the Company following the
Sale. Approximately $800 million of the Sale proceeds were used to repurchase 23.5 million shares of our common stock during the second quarter of 2005.
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The Company’s estimated effective tax rate attributable to continuing operations for the quarter ended April 1, 2006 was 38.2%, compared with
(102.7)% for the quarter ended March 26, 2005. The difference between the statutory and effective tax rate for the quarter ended March 26, 2005 was
primarily due to the impact of non-deductible expenses and the mix of domestic and foreign sources of income.



As a result of the foregoing factors, the Company recognized a loss from continuing operations of $14.1 million for the first quarter of 2006, compared
to a loss from continuing operations of $1.0 million for the first quarter of 2005.

OfficeMax, Contract

  Quarter Ended  

  

April 1,
2006  

March 26,
2005  

  (millions)  

Sales
  

$ 1,230.7
   

$ 1,124.4
  

Segment income
  

$ 67.0
   

$ 18.4
  

Sales by Product Line
         

Office supplies and paper
  

$ 670.3
   

$ 646.8
  

Technology products
  

$ 403.1
   

$ 351.9
  

Office furniture
  

$ 157.3
   

$ 125.7
  

Sales by Geography
         

United States
  

$ 917.5
   

$ 840.4
  

International
  

$ 313.2
   

$ 284.0
  

Sales growth
  

9%
  

0%
 

Same-location sales growth
  

0%
  

6%
  

  (percentage of sales)  

Gross profit margin
 

23.2% 22.3%
Operating expenses

 

17.8% 20.7%
Operating profit margin

 

5.4% 1.6%
 

Contract segment sales were $1,230.7 million in the first quarter of 2006, compared to $1,124.4 million in the first quarter of 2005. The sales increase
was primarily due to five additional selling days for the domestic operations of the Contract segment during the first quarter of 2006 and the impact of
international acquisitions in the prior year. Adjusted for the difference in selling days, same-location sales for the Contract segment were unchanged year-
over-year.

Contract segment gross profit margin increased 0.9% of sales to 23.2% of sales for the first quarter of 2006. The improvement in gross profit margin was
primarily due to several margin enhancement initiatives as well as a continued focus on the middle-market and other higher margin sales opportunities.

Operating expenses for the Contract segment were 17.8% of sales for the first quarter of 2006, down from 20.7% in the first quarter 2005. Prior year
expenses include a $9.8 million pre-tax charge for a legal settlement with the Department of Justice. Excluding the impact of the legal settlement, total
expenses were 19.8% of sales in the first quarter of 2005. The year-over-year improvement in operating expenses as a percentage of sales is due to lower
promotion and marketing costs as well as reduced payroll and integration expenses.

Segment income increased $48.6 million in the first quarter of 2006 to $67.0 million, or 5.4% of sales, compared to $18.4 million, or 1.6% of sales
during the same period a year ago. Excluding the $9.8 million legal settlement, segment income was $28.2 million, or 2.5% of sales, during the first quarter of
2005.
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OfficeMax, Retail

  Quarter Ended  

  

Apil 1,
2006  

March 26,
2005  

  (millions)  

Sales
 

$1,192.8
  

$ 1,198.4
  

Segment income (loss)
 

$ (38.0)
 

$ 22.9
  

Sales by Product Line
       

Office supplies and paper
 

$ 428.4
  

$ 461.3
  

Technology products
 

$ 628.7
  

$ 630.8
  

Office furniture
 

$ 135.7
  

$ 106.3
  

Sales by Geography
       

United States
 

$1,144.5
  

$ 1,155.1
  

International
 

$ 48.3
  

$ 43.3
  

Sales growth
 

(0.5)%
 

(2)%
 

Same-location sales growth
 

1.2%
 

(1)%
  

  (percentage of sales)  

Gross profit margin
 

28.6% 26.4%
Operating expenses

 

31.8% 24.5%
Operating profit margin

 

(3.2)% 1.9%
 

Retail segment sales were $1,192.8 million in the first quarter of 2006, compared with $1,198.4 million in the first quarter of 2005. Same-location sales
in the first quarter of 2006 increased 1.2% from the first quarter of 2005. Retail segment sales were negatively impacted by the closing of 109 retail stores
during the first quarter of 2006. Excluding the impact of these store closures, Retail segment same-location sales increased 2.2% year-over-year with same-
location sales growth in all major product categories.



Retail segment gross margin increased 2.2% of sales to 28.6% of sales for the first quarter of 2006, from 26.4% of sales in the first quarter of 2005, with
improvement in all major product categories. The gross margin improvement was primarily due to the segment’s improved promotional and advertising
strategies and reduced inventory clearance, year-over-year.

Retail segment operating expenses were 31.8% of sales in the first quarter of 2006, including the $98.6 million pre-tax charge related to the closure of
109 retail stores. Excluding the store closure charge, Retail segment operating expenses were 23.5% of sales in the first quarter of 2006, compared to 24.5%
of sales in the first quarter of 2005. The year-over-year improvement in operating expenses was due to targeted cost reductions, including reduced store labor
and marketing costs.

For the first quarter of 2006, the Retail segment reported an operating loss of $38.0 million, compared to operating income of $22.9 million, or 1.9% of
sales, in the first quarter of 2005. Excluding the impact of the $98.6 million store closing charge, Retail segment operating income for the first quarter of 2006
was $60.6 million, or 5.1% of sales.

Corporate and Other

Corporate and Other expenses were $37.4 million and $27.1 million in the first quarter of 2006 and 2005, respectively. The Company recorded expenses
totaling $15.7 million during the first quarter of 2006 related to the headquarters consolidation in the Corporate and Other segment. During the first quarter of
2005 the Company recorded $11.3 million of expenses in the Corporate and Other segment for one-time severance payments.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of  April 1, 2006, we had $76.6 million of cash and cash equivalents and $460.0 million of short-term and long-term debt, excluding the $1.5 billion
of timber securitization notes. We also had $22.4 million of restricted investments on deposit which are pledged to secure a portion of the outstanding debt.
During 2006, we reduced our net debt by $39.0 million. Since the end of 2003, we paid down approximately $1.9 billion of debt, primarily with proceeds
from the Sale, and expensed $151.5 million of costs related to the early retirement of debt. During 2004, we announced plans to return between $800 million
and $1 billion of the Sale proceeds to shareholders via common or preferred stock buybacks, cash dividends or a combination of these alternatives. As part of
this commitment to return cash to equity holders, we redeemed $110.0 million of our Series D preferred stock on November 1, 2004. Additionally, during the
second quarter of 2005, we repurchased 23.5 million shares of our common stock and the associated common stock purchase rights through a modified Dutch
auction tender offer at a purchase price of $775.5 million, or $33.00 per share, plus transaction costs.

The Company’s primary ongoing cash requirements relate to working capital, expenditures for property and equipment, lease obligations and debt
service. The Company expects to fund these requirements through a combination of cash flow from operations and seasonal borrowings under its revolving
credit facility. The sections that follow discuss in more detail our operating, investing, and financing activities, as well as our financing arrangements.

Operating Activities

The Company’s operating activities generated $71.9 million of cash during the first quarter of 2006. The Company’s operating activities used $331.3
million of cash during the first quarter of 2005. For the first quarter of 2006, items included in net income (loss) provided $29.8 million of cash, and changes
in working capital provided $42.1 million. For the quarter ended March 26, 2005, items included in net income (loss) provided $37.4 million of cash, and
changes in working capital used $368.7 million.

We have sold fractional ownership interests in a defined pool of trade accounts receivable. At April 1, 2006, $174.0 million of sold accounts receivable
were excluded from “Receivables” in our Consolidated Balance Sheet, compared to $163.0 million excluded at December 31, 2005. The increase at April 1,
2006 in sold accounts receivable of $11.0 million from the amount at December 31, 2005, provided cash from operations during 2006.

Our ratio of current assets to current liabilities was 1.24:1 at April 1, 2006, compared with 1.22:1 at December 31, 2005.

Investment Activities

The Company’s investing activities used  $22.7 million of cash during the first quarter of 2006, compared to $45.6 million during the first quarter of
2005. Investment activities during the first quarter of 2006 were primarily expenditures for property and equipment.  The Company expects expenditures for
property and equipment in 2006 to total between $180 and $190 million, excluding acquisitions. The Company’s capital spending in 2006 will be for
leasehold improvements, new stores, quality and efficiency projects, replacement projects and integration projects, including our previously announced
infrastructure improvement initiatives in supply chain and information systems. Investment activities during the first quarter of 2005 included $25.4 million
for property and equipment and $22.3 million for the acquisition of an office products distributor in our Contract segment.
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Financing Activities

Our financing activities used $44.8 million of cash during the first quarter of 2006, compared with $118.9 million during the first quarter of 2005.
Dividend payments totaled $10.6 million and $13.9 million during the first quarter of 2006 and 2005, respectively. In both years, the Company’s quarterly
dividend was 15 cents per common share. During the first quarter of 2006, the Company used $34.5 million of cash to reduce debt as compared to $119.4
million for the same period in 2005. Excluding the timber securitization notes, our debt-to-equity ratio was .27:1 at April 1, 2006 and .28:1 at December 31,
2005.

Our debt structure consists of credit agreements, note agreements and other borrowings. Information regarding our debt structure is included below. For
additional information, see Note 15, Debt, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005.

Credit Agreements



On June 24, 2005, the Company entered into a loan and security agreement for a new revolving credit facility. The revolving credit facility permits the
Company to borrow up to the maximum aggregate borrowing amount, which is equal to the lesser of (i) a percentage of the value of certain eligible inventory
less certain reserves or (ii) $500 million. There were $29.7 million and $18.7 million in borrowings outstanding under the revolver as of April 1, 2006 and
December 31, 2005, respectively. The minimum and maximum amounts outstanding under the revolving credit facility were $2.9 million and $122.0 million
during the quarter ended April 1, 2006. The average amount outstanding under the revolving credit facility during the quarter ended April 1, 2006 was $71.6
million. Letters of credit, which may be issued under the revolver up to a maximum of $100 million, reduce available borrowing capacity under the revolving
credit facility. Letters of credit issued under the revolver totaled $80.2 million as of April 1, 2006. As of April 1, 2006, the maximum aggregate borrowing
amount available under the revolver was $441.2 million and excess availability under the revolver totaled $331.3 million.

Borrowings under the revolver bear interest at rates based on either the prime rate or the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”). Margins are applied
to the applicable borrowing rates and letter of credit fees under the revolver depending on the level of average excess availability. For borrowings outstanding
under the revolver during the quarter ended April 1, 2006, the weighted average interest rate was equal to 7.6%. Fees on letters of credit issued under the
revolver were charged at a weighted average rate of 1.125%. The Company is also charged an unused line fee of 0.25%  on the amount by which the
maximum available credit of $500 million exceeds the average daily outstanding borrowings and letters of credit.

Borrowings under the revolver are secured by a lien on substantially all inventory and related proceeds. The revolving loan and security agreement
contains customary conditions to borrowing including a monthly calculation of excess borrowing availability and reporting compliance. Covenants in the
revolver agreement restrict the amount of letters of credit that may be issued, dividend distributions and other uses of cash if excess availability is less than
$75 million. At April 1, 2006, the Company was in compliance with all covenants under the revolver agreement. The revolver expires on June 24, 2010.

Timber Notes

In October 2004, the Company sold its timberlands as part of the Sale and received credit-enhanced timber installment notes receivable in the amount of
$1,635 million. In December 2004, the Company completed a securitization transaction in which its interest in the timber installment notes receivable and
related guarantees were transferred to wholly-owned bankruptcy remote subsidiaries that were designated to be qualifying special purpose entities (the
“OMXQs”). The OMXQs pledged the timber installment notes receivable and related guarantees and issued securitization notes in the amount of
$1,470 million.
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Recourse on the securitization notes is limited to the pledged timber installment notes receivable. The securitization notes are 15-year non-amortizing, and
were issued in two equal $735 million tranches paying interest of 5.42% and 5.54%, respectively.

As a result of these transactions, OfficeMax received $1,470 million in cash from the OMXQ’s, and over 15 years will earn approximately $82.5 million
per year in interest income on the timber installment notes receivable and incur interest expense of approximately $80.5 million on the securitization notes.
The pledged timber installment notes receivable and nonrecourse securitization notes will mature in 2020 and 2019, respectively. The securitization notes
have an initial term that is approximately three months shorter than the installment notes. The Company expects to refinance its ownership of the installment
notes in 2019 with a short-term secured borrowing to bridge the period from initial maturity of the securitization notes to the maturity of the installment notes.

The original entities issuing the credit enhanced timber installment notes are variable-interest entities (the “VIE’s”) under FASB Interpretation 46R,
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities”. The OMXQs are considered to be the primary beneficiary, and therefore, the VIE’s are required to be
consolidated with the OMXQ’s, which are also the issuers of the securitization notes. As a result, the accounts of the OMXQ’s have been consolidated into
those of their ultimate parent, OfficeMax. The effect of the Company’s consolidation of the OMXQs is that the securitization transaction is treated as a
financing, and both the timber notes receivable and the securitization notes payable are reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Note Agreements

In October 2003, the Company issued $300 million of 6.50% senior notes due in 2010 and $200 million of 7.00% senior notes due in 2013. At the time
of issuance, the senior note indentures contained a number of restrictive covenants, substantially all of which have been eliminated through the execution of
supplemental indentures as described below. On November 5, 2004, the Company repurchased approximately $286.3 million of the 6.50% senior notes and
received the requisite consents to adopt amendments to the indenture pursuant to a tender offer for these securities. As a result, the Company and the trustee
executed a supplemental indenture that eliminated substantially all of the restrictive covenants, certain events of default and related provisions, and replaced
them with the covenants contained in the Company’s other public debt. Those covenants include a limitation on mergers and similar transactions, a restriction
on secured transactions involving Principal Properties, as defined, and a restriction on sale and leaseback transactions involving Principal Properties.

On December 23, 2004, both Moody’s Investors Service, Inc., and Standard & Poor’s Rating Services upgraded the credit rating on the Company’s
7.00% senior notes to investment grade. The upgrades were the result of actions the Company took to collateralize the notes by granting the note holders a
security interest in $113 million in principal amount of General Electric Capital and Bank of America Corp. notes maturing in 2008 (the “pledged
instruments”). These pledged instruments are reflected as restricted investments in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. As a result of these ratings upgrades, the
original 7.00% senior note covenants have been replaced with the covenants found in the Company’s other public debt. During the first quarter of 2005, the
Company purchased and cancelled $87.3 million of the 7.00% senior notes. As a result, $92.8 million of the pledged instruments were released from the
security interest granted to the 7.00% senior note holders, and were sold during the second quarter of 2005. The remaining pledged instruments continue to be
subject to the security interest, and are reflected as restricted investments in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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Other

The Company had leased certain equipment at its integrated wood-polymer building materials facility near Elma, Washington under a capital lease. The
lease agreement had a base term of seven years and an interest rate of 4.67%. During the first quarter of  2006 the Company paid $29.1 million to terminate
the lease agreement. At December 31, 2005, the capital lease was included in the current portion of long-term debt in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Cash payments for interest were $10.7 million and $14.4 million for the quarters ended April 1, 2006 and March 26, 2005, respectively.



Off-Balance-Sheet Activities and Guarantees

For information regarding off-balance-sheet activities and guarantees, see Note 8, Sales of Accounts Receivable, of “Notes to Quarterly Consolidated
Financial Statements (Unaudited)” in this Form 10-Q and the caption “Off-Balance-Sheet Activities and Guarantees” in “Item 7. Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005.  At
April 1, 2006, there had not been a material change to the information regarding off-balance-sheet-activities and guarantees disclosed in the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005.

Inflationary and Seasonal Influences

Except for the impact of recent increases in energy costs, we believe that neither inflation nor deflation has had a material effect on our financial
condition or results of operations; however, there can be no assurance that we will not be affected by inflation or deflation in the future. The Company’s
business is seasonal, with OfficeMax, Retail showing a more pronounced seasonal trend than OfficeMax, Contract. Sales in the second quarter and summer
months are historically the slowest of the year. Sales are stronger during the first, third and fourth quarters that include the important new-year office supply
restocking month of January, the back-to-school period and the holiday selling season, respectively.

Environmental

For information regarding environmental issues, see the caption “Environmental” in “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005.

Critical Accounting Estimates

For information regarding critical accounting estimates, see the caption “Critical Accounting Estimates” in “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005.

ITEM 3.             QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

For information regarding market risk see the caption “Disclosures of Financial Market Risk” in “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005. At April 1, 2006,
there had not been a material change to the information regarding market risk disclosed in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2005.
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ITEM 4.         CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(a)           Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company’s management, with the participation of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the
effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, these officers have concluded that
the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective for the purpose of ensuring that material information required to be in this quarterly report is
made known to them by others on a timely basis and that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the
Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

(b)          Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

There was no change in the company’s internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-1(f) of the Exchange Act, during
the most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1.                    LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

For information concerning legal proceedings, see “Item 3. Legal Proceedings” and Note 21, Legal Proceedings and Contingencies, of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements in “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10—K for the year
ended December 31, 2005.

ITEM 1A.            RISK FACTORS

Cautionary and Forward-Looking Statements

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements. Statements that are not historical or current facts, including statements about
our expectations, anticipated financial results and future business prospects, are forward-looking statements. You can identify these statements by our use of
words such as “may,” “will,” “expect,” “believe,” “should,” “plan,” “anticipate” and other similar expressions. You can find examples of these statements
throughout this report, including Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. We cannot guarantee that our
actual results will be consistent with the forward-looking statements we make in this report. We have listed below some of the inherent risks and uncertainties
that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those we project. We do not assume an obligation to update any forward-looking statement.

Intense competition in our markets could harm our ability to achieve or maintain profitability.   The office products market is highly competitive.
Purchasers of office products have many options when purchasing office supplies and paper, print and document services, technology products and solutions



and office furniture. We compete with worldwide contract stationers, large retail office products suppliers, direct-mail distributors, discount retailers,
drugstores, supermarkets and thousands of local and regional contract stationers, many of whom have long-standing customer relationships. Increased
competition in the office products industry, together with increased advertising, has heightened price awareness among end-users. Such heightened price
awareness has led to margin pressure on office products. Some of our competitors are larger than we are and have greater financial and other resources
available to them, and there can be no assurance that we can continue to compete successfully with them.

Our retail business may face increased competition from well-established mass merchant retailers who have the financial and distribution abilities to
compete effectively with us should they choose to (a) increase their presence in the office superstore, Internet office supply or contract stationer business, or
(b) substantially expand their office product offerings in their existing retail outlets. Further, various other retailers that have not historically competed with
superstores, such as drugstores and grocery chains, have begun carrying at least a limited assortment of basic office supplies. Many of our competitors have
increased their presence in our markets in recent years and are expected to do so in the future. We may also encounter significant competition in the areas of
price and selection from merchants that focus heavily on Internet sales, some of whom may operate few, if any, stores and thereby limit their fixed costs. In
particular, they may be formidable competitors with respect to customers who are willing to look for the absolute lowest price without regard to the other
attributes of our business model, including customer service. In addition, increasing numbers of manufacturers of computer hardware, software and
peripherals, including certain of our suppliers, have expanded their own direct marketing of products, particularly over the Internet. There is a possibility that
any or all of these competitors could become more aggressive in the future, thereby increasing the number and breadth of our competitors, potentially having
a material adverse effect on our retail business and results of our operations.

We may be unable to open and remodel stores successfully.   Our business plans include the opening and remodeling of a significant number of retail
stores, including the opening of 40 to 50 new stores in 2006.
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For these plans to be successful, we must identify and lease favorable store sites, develop remodeling plans, hire and train associates and adapt management
and systems to meet the needs of these operations. These tasks are difficult to manage successfully. If we are not able to open and remodel stores as quickly as
we have planned, our future financial performance could be materially and adversely affected. Further, we cannot ensure that the new or remodeled stores will
achieve the sales or profit levels that we anticipate. This is particularly true as we introduce different store designs, formats and sizes or enter into new market
areas. In particular, the “Advantage” prototype store format we intend to utilize for new and remodeled stores is new and there can be no assurance as to
whether or to what extent that format will be successful.

Economic conditions directly influence our operating results.   Economic conditions, both domestically and abroad, directly influence our operating
results. Current economic conditions, including the level of unemployment and energy costs, may adversely affect our business and the results of our
operations.

Our quarterly operating results are subject to fluctuation.   Our quarterly operating results have fluctuated in the past and are likely to do so in the
future. Factors that may contribute to these quarter-to-quarter fluctuations could include the effects of seasonality, our level of advertising and marketing, new
store openings, changes in product mix and competitors’ pricing. These quarterly fluctuations could have an adverse effect on both our operating results and
the price of our common stock.

Our operating results may be adversely affected if we are unable to attract and retain key personnel.   In conjunction with our headquarters
consolidation, we will need to hire approximately 600 new employees to replace existing associates who are not relocating to the new headquarters. We may
not be successful in attracting and retaining highly qualified associates. Additionally, we may not be able to continue to attract and retain other key personnel
in the future. The inability to continue to attract and retain other key personnel could adversely affect our operating results.

We cannot ensure the headquarters consolidation will go smoothly.   The consolidation of our headquarters in Naperville, Illinois in 2006 not only
requires the hiring of approximately 600 new associates as discussed above, it also involves the relocation of our data center and other key corporate
functions. Unanticipated complications in the headquarters consolidation could adversely affect our operating results.

We have more indebtedness than some of our key competitors, which could adversely affect our cash flows, business and ability to fulfill our debt
obligations.   Although we have repaid a significant portion of our debt with the proceeds from the Sale, we still have relatively more debt than several of our
key competitors. Because we have more debt, we are required to dedicate a greater portion of our cash flow from operations to repay debt. This reduces the
funds we have available for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, new stores, store remodels and other purposes. Similarly, our larger debt levels
increase our vulnerability to, and limit our flexibility in planning for, adverse economic and industry conditions and create other competitive disadvantages
compared with other companies with lower debt levels.

We cannot ensure the completion of our integration efforts will be successful.   Our acquisition of OfficeMax, Inc., in December 2003, required the
integration and coordination of our existing contract stationer operations with the retail operations of the acquired company. We have not completed the
integration of these operations. Integrating and coordinating these operations has involved complex operational and personnel-related challenges. This process
will continue to be time-consuming and expensive, may disrupt our day-to-day business activities and may not result in the full benefits that we expect. The
difficulties, costs and delays that we could still encounter include unanticipated issues in integrating information, communications and other systems; the loss
of customers; unanticipated incompatibility of purchasing, logistics, marketing, and administration methods; and unanticipated costs of terminating or
relocating facilities and operations. There may also be negative effects associated with employee morale and performance because of job changes and
reassignments.
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We retained responsibility for certain liabilities of the paper, forest products and timberland businesses we sold.   These obligations include liabilities
related to environmental, tax, litigation and employee benefit matters. Some of these retained liabilities could turn out to be significant, which could have a
material adverse effect on our results of operations. Our exposure to these liabilities could harm our ability to compete with other office products distributors,
who would not typically be subject to similar liabilities.

Our continued equity interest in Boise Cascade, L.L.C. subjects us to the risks associated with the paper and forest products industry.   When we sold
our forest products businesses, we purchased a continuing equity interest in affiliates of Boise Cascade, L.L.C. In addition, we have an ongoing obligation to
purchase paper from an affiliate of Boise Cascade, L.L.C. These continuing interests subject us to market risks associated with the paper and forest products



industry. These industries are subject to cyclical market pressures. Historical prices for products have been volatile, and industry participants have limited
influence over the timing and extent of price changes. The relationship between supply and demand in these industries significantly affects product pricing.
Demand for building products is driven mainly by factors such as new construction and remodeling rates, interest rates and weather. The supply of paper and
building products fluctuates based on manufacturing capacity, and excess capacity, both domestically and abroad, can result in significant variations in
product prices. The level of supply and demand for forest products will affect the price we pay for paper. Our ability to realize the carrying value of our equity
interest in affiliates of Boise Cascade, L.L.C. is dependent upon many factors, including the operating performance of Boise Cascade, L.L.C. and other
market factors that may not be specific to Boise Cascade, L.L.C., due in part to the fact that there is not a liquid market for our equity interest. Our exposure
to these risks could decrease our ability to compete effectively with our competitors, who typically are not subject to such exposures.

Compromises of customer debit and credit card data, regardless of the source of the breach, may damage OfficeMax’s reputation.   There is an
ongoing federal investigation relating to ATM fraud involving legitimate debit card use at various retailers that was later tied to fraudulent transactions
outside the U.S. While we have no knowledge of a security breach at OfficeMax, it is possible that information security compromises involving OfficeMax
customer data, including breaches that occur at third party processors, may damage our reputation. Such damage to our reputation could adversely affect our
operating results.

ITEM 2.                    UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

Information concerning our stock repurchases during the three months ended April 1, 2006:

Period    

Total Number
of Shares (or Units)

Purchased  

Average Price
Paid Per Share

(or Unit)  

Total Number
of Shares (or Units)
Purchased as Part

of Publicly 
Announced Plans

or Programs  

Maximum
Number (or Approximate 

Dollar Value) of Shares
(or Units) that May Yet

Be Purchased Under
the Plans or Programs  

January 1 – 
January 28, 2006

  

41
   

$ 26.66
   

41
   

4,250,289
  

January 29 – 
February 25, 2006

  

171
   

$ 27.94
   

171
   

4,250,118
  

February 26 – 
April 1, 2006

  

36
   

$ 28.99
   

36
   

4,250,082
  

Total
  

248
   

$27.88
   

248
   

4,250,082
   

In September 1995, our board of directors authorized us to purchase up to 4.3 million shares of our common stock. As part of this authorization, we
repurchase odd-lot shares (fewer than 100 shares) from shareholders wishing to exit their holdings in our common stock. We retire the shares that we
repurchase under this program. This program will remain in effect until it is either terminated or suspended by our board of directors.

35

ITEM 3.                    DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES.

None

ITEM 4.                    SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS.

We held our annual meeting of shareholders on April 20, 2006. A total of 72,069,284 shares of common and preferred stock were outstanding and
entitled to vote at the meeting. Of the total outstanding, 63,715,616 shares were represented at the meeting.

Shareholders cast votes for election of the following directors whose terms expire in 2007:

  In Favor  Withheld  Not Voted  

Brian C. Cornell
 

61,560,973
 

2,154,643
  

—
  

Monte R. Haymon
 

61,507,607
 

2,208,009
  

—
   

Continuing in office are Warren F. Bryant, Sam K. Duncan, Rakesh Gangwal, Francesca Ruiz de Luzuriaga, Gary G. Michael, and David M. Szymanski,
whose terms expire in 2007.

Our shareholders ratified the appointment of KPMG LLP as our independent auditor for 2006 with 61,518,839 votes cast for and 1,831,417 against,
while 365,360 shares abstained and zero shares were not voted.

Our shareholders voted in favor of a management proposal to amend the company’s Certificate of Incorporation to eliminate the classification of the
board of directors. The shareholders cast 58,135,302 votes for and 5,111,632 against, while 468,682 shares abstained and zero shares were not voted.

Our shareholders voted in favor of a shareholder proposal to establish an engagement process with proponents of any shareholder proposal that is
approved by a specified vote at an annual meeting. The shareholders cast 27,529,911 votes for and 24,391,993 against, while 825,319 shares abstained and
10,968,393 shares were not voted.

ITEM 5.                    OTHER INFORMATION

None

ITEM 6.                    EXHIBITS

Exhibits.

Required exhibits are listed in the Index to Exhibits and are incorporated by reference.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

OFFICEMAX INCORPORATED

 

/s/ DON CIVGIN
 

Don Civgin
 

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
 

(As Duly Authorized Officer and Principal Financial Officer)

 

/s/ PHILLIP DEPAUL
 

Phillip DePaul
 

Senior Vice President, Controller and Chief Accounting Officer
 

(As Duly Authorized Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)
 

Date:  May 8, 2006
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OFFICEMAX INCORPORATED

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Filed With the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter Ended April 1, 2006

Number  Description   

3.1* Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended and restated to date
3.2(1) Bylaws, as amended March 11, 2005

10.1(2) Form of 2006 Annual Incentive Award Agreement
10.2(3) Form of 2006 Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement
10.3(4) Form of Executive Officer Severance Pay Policy
31.1* CEO Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
31.2* CFO Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32* Section 906 Certifications of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of OfficeMax Incorporated

*      Filed with this Form 10-Q.

(1)   Exhibit 3.2 was filed under the same exhibit number in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004, and is incorporated
herein by reference.

(2)   Exhibit 10.1 was filed under the same exhibit number in our Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 15, 2006 and is incorporated herein by
reference.

(3)   Exhibit 10.2 was filed under the same exhibit number in our Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 15, 2006 and is incorporated herein by
reference.

(4)   Exhibit 10.3 was filed under the same exhibit number in our Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 15, 2006 and is incorporated herein by
reference.
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Exhibit 3.1
 

RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION OF
OFFICEMAX INCORPORATED

 
The corporation’s present name is that shown above.  The corporation was originally incorporated under the name of BOISE PAYETTE LUMBER

COMPANY OF DELAWARE and the date of filing of its original Certificate of Incorporation with the Delaware Secretary of State was April 23, 1931. On
May 28, 1957, the corporation’s name was changed to BOISE CASCADE CORPORATION. This Restated Certificate of Incorporation was adopted by the
board of directors of OfficeMax Incorporated on May 9, 2005, in accordance with the provisions of Section 245 of the General Corporation Law of the state
of Delaware.  This Restated Certificate of Incorporation only restates and integrates and does not further amend the provisions of the Certificate of
Incorporation of the corporation as heretofore amended, supplemented, or restated, and there is no discrepancy between those provisions and the provisions of
this Restated Certificate of Incorporation.  The capital of the corporation will not be reduced under or by reason of this restatement of the Restated Certificate
of Incorporation.

 
FIRST:  The name of this corporation is OFFICEMAX INCORPORATED.
 
SECOND:  Its registered office in the state of Delaware is located at Corporation Trust Center, 1209 Orange Street, in the city of Wilmington,

county of New Castle.  The name and address of its registered agent is The Corporation Trust Company, Corporation Trust Center, 1209 Orange Street,
Wilmington, Delaware 19801.

 
THIRD:  The nature of the business, or objects or purposes to be transacted, promoted, or carried on are:
 
(a)                                  To engage in and carry on the business of acquiring, owning, buying, selling, leasing, mortgaging, and exchanging timber and timberlands,

and in manufacturing, distributing, marketing, or otherwise dealing in timber and lumber and all of the various products thereof, and to carry on in any
capacity any business pertaining to, or which in the judgment of the corporation may at any time be convenient and lawfully conducted in conjunction with,
any of the matters aforesaid.

 
(b)                                 To acquire, own, lease, occupy, use, or develop any lands containing timber or containing coal, iron, manganese, stone, or any other ores or

minerals of any nature, or oil or any woodlands or any other lands for any purposes.
 
(c)                                  To erect, install, and operate lumber mills, sawmills, paper mills, smelters, or any other mills or manufacturing plants of any nature.  To

construct, operate, and equip private logging railroads to be used and operated only for the purpose of carrying on the business of this corporation and not as a
public carrier.

 
(d)                                 To manufacture, purchase, or otherwise acquire, invest in, own, mortgage, pledge, sell, assign, and transfer or otherwise dispose of, trade,

deal in, and deal with goods, wares, and merchandise and personal property of every class and description.
 

 
(e)                                  To acquire, and pay for in cash, stock, or bonds of this corporation or otherwise, the good will, rights, assets, and property, and to undertake

or assume the whole or any part of the obligations or liabilities of any person, firm, association, or corporation.
 
(f)                                    To acquire, hold, use, sell, assign, lease, grant licenses in respect of, mortgage, or otherwise dispose of letters patent of the United States or

any foreign country, patent rights, licenses and privileges, inventions, improvements and processes, copyrights, trademarks, and trade names.
 
(g)                                 To acquire by purchase, subscription, or otherwise, and to receive, hold, own, guarantee, sell, assign, exchange, transfer, mortgage, pledge,

or otherwise dispose of or deal in and with any of the shares of the capital stock, or any voting trust certificates in respect of the shares of capital stock, scrip,
warrants, rights, bonds, debentures, notes, trust receipts, and other securities, obligations, choses in action and evidences of indebtedness or interest issued or
created by any corporations, joint stock companies, syndicates, associations, firms, trusts, or persons, public or private, or by the government of the United
States of America, or by any foreign government, or by any state, territory, province, municipality, or other political subdivision or by any governmental
agency, and as owner thereof to possess and exercise all the rights, powers, and privileges of ownership, including the right to execute consents and vote
thereon, and to do any and all acts and things necessary or advisable for the preservation, protection, improvement, and enhancement in value thereof.

 
(h)                                 To enter into, make, and perform contracts of every kind and description with any person, firm, association, corporation, municipality,

county, state, body politic, or government or colony or dependency thereof.
 
(i)                                     To borrow or raise moneys for any purposes of the corporation and, from time to time without limit as to amount, to draw, make, accept,

endorse, execute, and issue promissory notes, draft, bills of exchange, warrants, bonds, debentures, and other negotiable or nonnegotiable instruments and
evidences of indebtedness, and to secure the payment of any thereof and of the interest thereon by mortgage upon or pledge, conveyance, or assignment in
trust of the whole or any part of the property of the corporation, whether at the time owned or thereafter acquired, and to sell, pledge, or otherwise dispose of
such bonds or other obligations of the corporation for its corporate purposes.

 
(j)                                     To loan to any person, firm, or corporation any of its surplus funds, either with or without security.
 
(k)                                  To purchase, hold, sell, and transfer the shares of its own capital stock; provided it shall not use its funds or property for the purchase of its

own shares of capital stock when such use would cause any impairment of its capital except as otherwise permitted by law, and provided further that shares of
its own capital stock belonging to it shall not be voted upon directly or indirectly.

 

 
(l)                                     To have one or more offices and to carry on all or any of its operations and business in any of the states, districts, territories, or colonies of

the United States, and in any and all foreign countries, subject to the laws of such state, district, territory, colony, or country.
 



(m)                               Without restriction or limit as to amount, to purchase or otherwise acquire, hold, own, improve, convert, mortgage, sell, lease, convey, or
otherwise dispose of or deal in, as a real estate agent, builder, contractor, or otherwise, real and personal property of every class and description in any of the
states, districts, territories, or colonies of the United States, and in any and all foreign countries, subject to the laws of such state, district, territory, colony, or
country.

 
(n)                                 To enter into partnership, joint venture, or other arrangement with any person, corporation, partnership, or other entity or entities for the

purpose of engaging in any business or transaction which the corporation is authorized to carry on; and to invest in, lend money to, and otherwise assist any
such partnership or venture.

 
(o)                                 In general, to carry on any other business and to have and exercise all the powers conferred by the laws of Delaware upon corporations

formed under the General Corporation Law of the state of Delaware, and to do any or all of the things hereinbefore set forth to the same extent as natural
persons might or could do.

 
The objects and purposes specified in the foregoing clauses shall, except where otherwise expressed, be in nowise limited or restricted by reference

to, or inference from, the terms of any other clause in this Certificate of Incorporation, but the objects and purposes specified in each of the foregoing clauses
of this article shall be regarded as independent objects and purposes.

 
FOURTH:  The total number of shares of all classes of stock which the corporation shall have authority to issue is two hundred ten million

(210,000,000), of which two hundred million (200,000,000) shares of the par value of $2.50 each are to be of a class designated Common Stock and ten
million (10,000,000) shares without par value are to be of a class designated Preferred Stock.  The Preferred Stock shall be issuable in series.

 
 1.                                   Common Stock Provisions.

 
1.1                                 Dividend Rights.  Subject to provisions of law and the preferences of the Preferred Stock, the holders of the Common Stock shall

be entitled to receive dividends at such time and in such amounts as may be determined by the board of directors.
 
1.2                                 Voting Rights.  Except as provided in the final two paragraphs of Section 2.6, the holders of the Common Stock shall have one

vote for each share on each matter submitted to a vote of the stockholders of the corporation.  Except as otherwise provided by law or by the provisions of the
Certificate of Incorporation or any amendment thereto or by resolutions of the board of directors providing for the issue of any series of Preferred Stock, the
holders of the Common Stock shall have sole voting power.

 
1.3                                 Liquidation Rights.  In the event of any liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the corporation, whether voluntary or

involuntary, after payment or provision for payment of the debts
 

 
and other liabilities of the corporation and the preferential amounts to which the holders of the Preferred Stock shall be entitled, the holders of the Common
Stock shall be entitled to share ratably in the remaining assets of the corporation.

 
 2.                                   Preferred Stock Provisions.

 
2.1                                 Authority of the Board of Directors to Issue in Series.  The Preferred Stock may be issued from time to time in one or more series. 

Subject to the provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation or any amendment thereto, authority is expressly granted to the board of directors to authorize the
issue of one or more series of Preferred Stock, and to fix by resolutions providing for the issue of each such series the voting powers, designations,
preferences and relative, participating, optional, or other special rights, and qualifications, limitations, and restrictions thereof (sometimes referred to as
powers, preferences, and rights) to the full extent now or hereafter permitted by law, including but not limited to the following:

 
(a)                                  The number of shares of such series (which may subsequently be increased by resolutions of the board of directors) and

the distinctive designation thereof;
 
(b)                                 The dividend rate of such series and any limitations, restrictions, or conditions on the payment of such dividends;
 
(c)                                  The price or prices at which, and the terms and conditions on which, the shares of such series may be redeemed;
 
(d)                                 The amounts which the holders of the shares of such series are entitled to receive upon any liquidation, dissolution, or

winding up of the corporation;
 
(e)                                  The terms of any purchase, retirement, or sinking fund to be provided for the shares of such series;
 
(f)                                    The terms, if any, upon which the shares of such series shall be convertible into or exchangeable for shares of any other

series, class or classes, or other securities, and the terms and conditions of such conversion or exchange; and
 
(g)                                 The voting powers, if any (not to exceed one vote per share), of such series in addition to the voting powers provided in

Sections 2.6 and 2.8.
 
The Preferred Stock of each series shall rank on a parity with the Preferred Stock of every other series in priority of payment of

dividends and in the distribution of assets in the event of any liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the corporation, whether voluntary or involuntary, to
the extent of the preferential amounts to which the Preferred Stock of the respective series shall be entitled under the provisions of the Certificate of
Incorporation or any amendment thereto or the resolutions of the board of directors providing for the issue of such series.  All shares of any one series of
Preferred Stock shall be identical except as to the dates of issue and the dates from which dividends on shares of the series issued on different dates shall
accumulate (if cumulative).

 

 



2.2                                 Definitions.
 
(a)                                  The term “arrearages,” whenever used in connection with dividends on any share of Preferred Stock, shall refer to the

condition that exists as to dividends, to the extent that they are cumulative (either unconditionally, or conditionally to the extent that the conditions have been
fulfilled), on such share which shall not have been paid or declared and set apart for payment to the date or for the period indicated, but the term shall not
refer to the condition that exists as to dividends, to the extent that they are noncumulative, on such share which shall not have been paid or declared and set
apart for payment.

 
(b)                                 The term “stock junior to the Preferred Stock,” whenever used with reference to the Preferred Stock, shall mean the

Common Stock and other stock of the corporation over which the Preferred Stock has preference or priority in the payment of dividends or in the distribution
of assets on any dissolution, liquidation, or winding up of the corporation.

 
(c)                                  The term “subsidiary” shall mean any corporation, association, or business trust, the majority of whose outstanding shares

(at the time of determination) having voting power for the election of directors or trustees, either at all times or only so long as no senior class of shares has
such voting power because of arrearages in dividends or because of the existence of some default, is owned directly or indirectly by the corporation.

 
2.3                                 Dividend Rights.

 
(a)                                  The holders of the Preferred Stock of each series shall be entitled to receive, when and as declared by the board of

directors, preferential dividends in cash payable at such rate, from such date, and on such quarterly dividend payment dates and, if cumulative, cumulative
from such date or dates, as may be fixed by the provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation or any amendment thereto or by the resolutions of the board of
directors providing for the issue of such series.  The holders of the Preferred Stock shall not be entitled to receive any dividends thereon other than those
specifically provided for by the Certificate of Incorporation or any amendment thereto, or such resolutions of the board of directors, nor shall any arrearages
in dividends on the Preferred Stock bear any interest.

 
(b)                                 So long as any of the Preferred Stock is outstanding, no dividends (other than dividends payable in stock junior to the

Preferred Stock and cash in lieu of fractional shares in connection with any such dividend) shall be paid or declared in cash or otherwise, nor shall any other
distribution be made, on any stock junior to the Preferred Stock, unless

 
(i)                                     There shall be no arrearages in dividends on Preferred Stock for any past quarterly dividend period, and

dividends in full for the current quarterly dividend period shall have been paid or declared on all Preferred Stock (cumulative and noncumulative); and
 
(ii)                                  The corporation shall have paid or set aside all amounts, if any, then or theretofore required to be paid or set

aside for all purchase, retirement, and sinking funds, if any, for the Preferred Stock of any series; and
 

 
(iii)                               The corporation shall not be in default on any of its obligations to redeem any of the Preferred Stock.

 
(c)                                  So long as any of the Preferred Stock is outstanding, no shares of any stock junior to the Preferred Stock shall be

purchased, redeemed, or otherwise acquired by the corporation or by any subsidiary except in connection with a reclassification or exchange of any stock
junior to the Preferred Stock through the issuance of other stock junior to the Preferred Stock, or the purchase, redemption, or other acquisition of any stock
junior to the Preferred Stock, with proceeds of a reasonably contemporaneous sale of other stock junior to the Preferred Stock, nor shall any funds be set aside
or made available for any sinking fund for the purchase or redemption of any stock junior to the Preferred Stock, unless

 
(i)                                     There shall be no arrearages in dividends on Preferred Stock for any past quarterly dividend period; and
 
(ii)                                  The corporation shall have paid or set aside all amounts, if any, then or theretofore required to be paid or set

aside for all purchase, retirement, and sinking funds, if any, for the Preferred Stock of any series; and
 
(iii)                               The corporation shall not be in default on any of its obligations to redeem any of the Preferred Stock.

 
(d)                                 Subject to the foregoing provisions and not otherwise, such dividends (payable in cash, property, or stock junior to the

Preferred Stock) as may be determined by the board of directors may be declared and paid on the shares of any stock junior to the Preferred Stock from time
to time, and in the event of the declaration and payment of any such dividends, the holders of such junior stock shall be entitled, to the exclusion of holders of
the Preferred Stock, to share ratably therein according to their respective interests.

 
(e)                                  Dividends in full shall not be declared or paid or set apart for payment on any series of Preferred Stock unless there shall

be no arrearages in dividends on Preferred Stock for any past quarterly dividend period and dividends in full for the current quarterly dividend period shall
have been paid or declared on all Preferred Stock to the extent that such dividends are cumulative, and any dividends paid or declared when dividends are not
so paid or declared in full shall be shared ratably by the holders of all series of Preferred Stock in proportion to such respective arrearages and unpaid and
undeclared current quarterly cumulative dividends.

 

 
2.4                                 Liquidation Rights.

 
(a)                                  In the event of any liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the corporation, whether voluntary or involuntary, the

holders of Preferred Stock of each series shall be entitled to receive the full preferential amount fixed by the Certificate of Incorporation or any amendment
thereto, or by the resolutions of the board of directors providing for the issue of such series, including any arrearages in dividends thereon to the date fixed for
the payment in liquidation, before any distribution shall be made to the holders of any stock junior to the Preferred Stock.  After such payment in full to the
holders of the Preferred Stock, the remaining assets of the corporation shall then be distributable exclusively among the holders of any stock junior to the
Preferred Stock, according to their respective interests.

 



(b)                                 If the assets of the corporation are insufficient to permit the payment of the full preferential amounts payable to the
holders of the Preferred Stock of the respective series in the event of a liquidation, dissolution, or winding up, then the assets available for distribution to
holders of the Preferred Stock shall be distributed ratably to such holders in proportion to the full preferential amounts payable on the respective shares.

 
(c)                                  A consolidation or merger of the corporation with or into one or more other corporations or a sale of all or substantially

all of the assets of the corporation shall not be deemed to be a liquidation, dissolution, or winding up, voluntary or involuntary.
 
2.5                                 Redemption.

 
(a)                                  Subject to the provisions of paragraph (a)(v) of Section 2.6, the corporation may, at the option of the board of directors,

redeem the whole or any part of the Preferred Stock, or of any series thereof, at any time or from time to time within the period during which such stock is by
its terms redeemable at the option of the board of directors, by paying such redemption price thereof as shall have been fixed by the Certificate of
Incorporation or any amendment thereto or by the resolutions of the board of directors providing for the issue of the Preferred Stock to be redeemed,
including an amount in the case of each share so to be redeemed equal to any arrearages in dividends thereon to the date fixed for redemption (the total
amount so to be paid being hereinafter called the “redemption price”).

 
(b)                                 Unless expressly provided otherwise in the Certificate of Incorporation or any amendment thereto or by the resolutions of

the board of directors providing for the issue of the Preferred Stock to be redeemed, (i) notice of each such redemption shall be mailed not less than 30 days
nor more than 90 days prior to the date fixed for redemption to each holder of record of shares of the Preferred Stock to be redeemed, at his address as the
same may appear on the books of the corporation, and (ii) in case of a redemption of a part only of any series of the Preferred Stock, the shares of such series
to be redeemed shall be selected pro rata or by lot or in such other manner as the board of directors may determine.  The board of directors shall have full
power and authority, subject to the limitations and provisions contained in the Certificate of Incorporation or any amendment thereto or in the resolutions of
the board of directors providing for the issue of the Preferred Stock to be redeemed, to prescribe the manner in which and the terms and conditions upon
which the Preferred Stock may be redeemed from time to time.

 

 
(c)                                  If any such notice of redemption shall have been duly given, then on and after the date fixed in such notice of redemption

(unless default shall be made by the corporation in the payment or deposit of the redemption price pursuant to such notice) all arrearages in dividends, if any,
on the shares of Preferred Stock so called for redemption shall cease to accumulate, and on such date all rights of the holders of the Preferred Stock so called
for redemption shall cease and terminate except the right to receive the redemption price upon surrender of their certificates for redemption and such rights, if
any, of conversion or exchange as may exist with respect to such Preferred Stock under the provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation or any amendment
thereto or in the resolutions of the board of directors providing for the issue of such Preferred Stock.

 
(d)                                 If, before the redemption date specified in any notice of the redemption of any Preferred Stock, the corporation shall

deposit the redemption price with a bank or trust company in New York, New York, having a capital and surplus of at least $10,000,000 according to its last
published statement of condition, in trust for payment on the redemption date to the holders of the Preferred Stock to be redeemed, from and after the date of
such deposit all rights of the holders of the Preferred Stock so called for redemption shall cease and terminate except the right to receive the redemption price
upon surrender of their certificates for redemption and such rights, if any, of conversion or exchange as may exist with respect to such Preferred Stock under
the provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation or any amendment thereto or in the resolutions of the board of directors providing for the issue of such
Preferred Stock.  Any funds so deposited which are not required for such redemption because of the exercise of any such right of conversion or exchange
subsequent to the date of such deposit shall be returned to the corporation forthwith.  The corporation shall be entitled to receive from the depository, from
time to time, the interest, if any, allowed on such funds deposited with it, and the holders of the shares so redeemed shall have no claim to any such interest. 
Any funds so deposited and remaining unclaimed at the end of six years from the redemption date shall, if thereafter requested by the board of directors, be
repaid to the corporation.

 
(e)                                  Shares of Preferred Stock of any series may also be subject to redemption, in the manner hereinabove prescribed under

this Section 2.5, through operation of any sinking or retirement fund created therefor, at the redemption prices and under the terms and provisions contained
in the resolutions of the board of directors providing for the issue of such series.

 
(f)                                    The corporation shall not be required to register a transfer of any share of Preferred Stock (i) within 15 days preceding a

selection for redemption of shares of the series of Preferred Stock of which such share is a part or (ii) which has been selected for redemption.
 
(g)                                 If any obligation to retire shares of Preferred Stock is not paid in full on all series as to which such obligation exists, the

number of shares of each such series to be retired pursuant to any such obligation shall be in proportion to the respective amounts which would be payable if
all amounts payable for the retirement of all such series were discharged in full.

 
2.6                                 Restrictions on Certain Action Affecting Preferred Stock.  The corporation will not, without the consent given in writing or

affirmative vote given in person or by proxy at a meeting held for the purpose,
 

 
(a)                                  By the holders of at 66 2/3% of the shares of Preferred Stock then outstanding,

 
(i)                                     Amend, alter, or repeal any of the provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation, or any amendment thereto, or

the bylaws, of the corporation, so as to affect adversely the powers, preferences, or rights of the holders of the Preferred Stock or reduce the time for any
notice to which only the holders of the Preferred Stock may be entitled; provided, however, the amendment of the provisions of the Certificate of
Incorporation, as amended, so as to authorize or create, or to increase the authorized amount of Common Stock or other stock junior to the Preferred Stock or
any stock of any class ranking on a parity with the Preferred Stock shall not be deemed to affect adversely the powers, preferences, or rights of the holders of
the Preferred Stock;

 
(ii)                                  Authorize or create, or increase the authorized amount of, any stock of any class or any security convertible into

stock of any class ranking prior to the Preferred Stock;
 



(iii)                               Voluntarily dissolve, liquidate, or wind up the affairs of the corporation, or sell, lease, or convey all or
substantially all its property and assets;

 
(iv)                              Merge or consolidate with or into any other corporation, unless each holder of Preferred Stock immediately

preceding such merger or consolidation shall receive in the resulting corporation the same number of shares, with substantially the same rights and
preferences, as correspond to the Preferred Stock so held (in determining whether the shares in the resulting corporation so received have substantially the
same rights and preferences the circumstance that such shares may constitute a different proportion of the ordinary voting power in the resulting corporation
than the Preferred Stock constitutes of such voting power in the corporation shall be disregarded), and unless the corporation resulting from such merger or
consolidation will have after such merger or consolidation no class of stock either authorized or outstanding ranking prior to the shares received by such
holder and no securities either authorized or outstanding which are convertible into such prior stock, except the same number of shares of prior stock and the
same amount of such convertible securities, with the same rights and preferences, as correspond to the prior stock of the corporation and securities convertible
into prior stock of the corporation, respectively, authorized and outstanding immediately preceding such merger or consolidation; or

 
(v)                                 Purchase or redeem less than all of the Preferred Stock at the time outstanding unless the full cumulative

dividend on all shares of Preferred Stock then outstanding shall have been paid or declared and a sum sufficient for payment thereof set apart;
 
(b)                                 By the holders of at 66 2/3% of the shares of any series of Preferred Stock then outstanding, amend, alter, or repeal any of

the provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation or any amendment thereto, or the bylaws, or of the resolutions of the board of directors providing for the
issue of such series so as to affect adversely the powers, preferences, or rights of the holders of the Preferred Stock of such series in a manner not equally
applicable to all series of Preferred Stock; or

 
(c)                                  By the holders of at least a majority of the shares of Preferred Stock then outstanding,

 

 
(i)                                     Increase the authorized amount of the Preferred Stock; or
 
(ii)                                  Create any other class or classes of stock ranking on a parity with the Preferred Stock, either as to dividends or

upon liquidation, or create any stock or other security convertible into or exchangeable for or evidencing the right to purchase any such stock ranking on a
parity with the Preferred Stock, or increase the authorized number of shares of any such other class of stock or other security;
 
provided, however, that no such consent of the holders of the Preferred Stock shall be required if, at or prior to the time when such amendment, alteration, or
repeal is to take effect or when the issuance of any such prior stock or convertible security is to be made, or when such consolidation or merger, voluntary
liquidation, dissolution, or winding up, sale, lease, conveyance, purchase, or redemption is to take effect, as the case may be, provision is to be made for the
redemption of all shares of Preferred Stock at the time outstanding, or, in the case of any such amendment, alteration, or repeal as to which the consent of less
than all the Preferred Stock would otherwise be required, for the redemption of all shares of Preferred Stock the consent of which would otherwise be
required.

 
If an amendment described in clause (i) of paragraph (a) of this Section 2.6 would in no way affect adversely the powers,

preferences, or rights of the holders of any stock of the corporation other than the Preferred Stock, such amendment may, to the extent permitted by Delaware
law, be made effective by the adoption and filing of an appropriate amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation without obtaining the consent or vote of the
holders of any stock of the corporation other than the Preferred Stock.

 
If an amendment described in paragraph (b) of this Section 2.6 would in no way affect adversely the powers, preferences, or rights

of the holders of any stock of the corporation other than the Preferred Stock of a particular series, such amendment may, to the extent permitted by Delaware
law, be made effective by the adoption and filing of an appropriate amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation of the corporation without obtaining the
consent or vote of the holders of any stock of the corporation other than the Preferred Stock of such series.

 
2.7                                 Status of Preferred Stock Purchased, Redeemed, or Converted.  Shares of Preferred Stock purchased, redeemed, or converted into

or exchanged for shares of any other class or series shall be deemed to be authorized but unissued shares of Preferred Stock undesignated as to series.
 
2.8                                 Election of Directors by Holders of Certain Preferred Stock in Event of Nondeclaration of Dividends.

 
(a)                                  The provisions of this Section 2.8 shall apply only to those series of Preferred Stock (applicable Preferred Stock) to which

such provisions are expressly made applicable by the Certificate of Incorporation or any amendment thereto or resolutions of the board of directors providing
for the issue of such series.

 

 
(b)                                 Whenever declarations or payments of dividends (including noncumulative dividends) on the shares of any series of

applicable Preferred Stock shall be omitted in an aggregate amount equal to six quarterly dividends, the holders of the applicable Preferred Stock shall have
the exclusive and special right, voting separately as a class and without regard to series, to elect at an annual meeting of stockholders or special meeting held
in place thereof, or at a special meeting of the holders of the applicable Preferred Stock called as hereinafter provided, three members of the board of
directors, until four consecutive quarterly dividends shall have been paid on or declared and set apart for payment on the shares of such series, if the shares of
such series are noncumulative, or until all arrearages in dividends and dividends in full for the current quarterly period shall have been paid on or declared and
set apart for payment on the shares of such series, if the shares of such series are cumulative, whereupon all voting rights as a class provided for under this
Section 2.8 shall be divested from the applicable Preferred Stock (subject, however, to being at any time or from time to time similarly revived if declarations
or payments of dividends for subsequent quarterly periods shall be omitted).

 
(c)                                  At any time after the holders of the applicable Preferred Stock shall have thus become entitled to elect three members of

the board of directors, the secretary of the corporation may, and upon written request of holders of record of at least 5% of the shares of the applicable
Preferred Stock then outstanding addressed to him at the principal office of the corporation shall, call a special meeting of the holders of the applicable
Preferred Stock for the purpose of electing such directors, to be held at the place of annual meetings of stockholders of the corporation as soon as practicable
after the receipt of such request upon the notice provided by law and the bylaws of the corporation for the holding of special meetings of stockholders;



provided, however, the secretary need not call any such special meeting if the next annual meeting of stockholders is to convene within 90 days after the
receipt of such request.  If such special meeting shall not be called by the secretary within 30 days after receipt of such request (not including, however, a
request falling within the proviso to the foregoing sentence), then the holders of record of at least 5% of the shares of the applicable Preferred Stock then
outstanding may designate in writing one of their number to call such a meeting at the place and upon the notice above provided, and any person so
designated for that purpose shall have access to the stock records of the corporation for such purpose.

 
(d)                                 At any meeting at which the holders of the applicable Preferred Stock shall be entitled to vote for the election of such

three directors as above provided, the holders of a majority of the applicable Preferred Stock then outstanding present in person or by proxy shall constitute a
quorum for the election of such three directors and for no other purpose, and the vote of the holders of a majority of the applicable Preferred Stock so present
at any such meeting at which there shall be such a quorum shall be sufficient to elect three directors.  The election of any such directors shall automatically
increase the number of members of the board of directors by the number of directors so elected.  The persons so elected as directors by the holders of the
applicable Preferred Stock shall hold office until their successors shall have been elected by such holders or until the right of the holders of the applicable
Preferred Stock to vote as a class in the election of directors shall be divested as provided in paragraph (b) of this Section 2.8.  Upon divestment of the right to
elect directors as above provided, any directors so elected by the holders of the applicable Preferred Stock shall forthwith cease to be directors of the
corporation, and the number of directorships shall automatically be reduced accordingly.  If a vacancy occurs in a directorship

 

 
elected by the holders of the applicable Preferred Stock voting as a class, a successor may be appointed by the remaining director or directors so elected by
the holders of the applicable Preferred Stock.

 
(e)                                  At any such meeting or any adjournment thereof, (i) the absence of a quorum of the holders of the applicable Preferred

Stock shall not prevent the election of the directors other than those to be elected by holders of the applicable Preferred Stock voting as a class, and the
absence of a quorum of holders of the shares entitled to vote for directors other than those to be elected by the holders of the applicable Preferred Stock voting
as a class shall not prevent the election of the directors to be elected by the holders of the applicable Preferred Stock voting as a class, and (ii) in the absence
of a quorum of the holders of the applicable Preferred Stock, the holders of a majority of the applicable Preferred Stock present in person or by proxy shall
have power to adjourn from time to time the meeting for the election of the directors which they are entitled to elect voting as a class, without notice other
than announcement at the meeting, until a quorum shall be present, and in the absence of a quorum of the holders of the shares entitled to vote for directors
other than those elected by the holders of the applicable Preferred Stock voting as a class, the holders of a majority of such stock present in person or by
proxy shall have power to adjourn from time to time the meeting for the election of the directors which they are entitled to elect, without notice other than
announcement at the meeting, until a quorum shall be present.

 
 3.                                   Other Provisions.

 
3.1                                 Authority for Issuance of Shares.  The board of directors shall have authority to authorize the issuance, from time to time without

any vote or other action by the stockholders, of any or all shares of stock of the corporation of any class at any time authorized, and any securities convertible
into or exchangeable for any such shares, in each case to such persons and for such consideration and on such terms as the board of directors from time to
time in its discretion lawfully may determine; provided, however, the consideration for the issuance of shares of stock of the corporation having par value
shall not be less than such par value.  Shares so issued, for which the consideration has been paid to the corporation, shall be full paid stock, and the holders
of such stock shall not be liable to any further call or assessments thereon.

 
3.2                                 Voting for Directors.  All elections of directors may be by voice vote, rather than by ballot, unless, by resolution adopted by the

majority vote of the stockholders represented at the meeting, the election of directors by ballot is required.
 
3.3                                 No Preemptive Rights.  No holder of shares of any class of the corporation nor of any security or obligation convertible into, nor of

any warrant, option, or right to purchase, subscribe for, or otherwise acquire, shares of any class of the corporation, whether now or hereafter authorized,
shall, as such holder, have any preemptive right whatsoever to purchase, subscribe for, or otherwise acquire, shares of any class of the corporation or of any
security convertible into, or of any warrant, option, or right to purchase, subscribe for, or otherwise acquire, shares of any class of the corporation, whether
now or hereafter authorized.

 
3.4                                 Abandonment of Dividends and Distributions.  Anything herein contained to the contrary notwithstanding, any and all right, title,

interest, and claim in or to any dividends declared,
 

 
or other distributions made, by the corporation, whether in cash, stock, or otherwise, which are unclaimed by the stockholder entitled thereto for a period of
six years after the close of business on the payment date, shall be and be deemed to be extinguished and abandoned, and such unclaimed dividends or other
distributions in the possession of the corporation, its transfer agents, or other agents or depositaries, shall at such time become the absolute property of the
corporation, free and clear of any and all claims of any persons whatsoever.

 
3.5                                 Record Date.  The board of directors may set a record date in the manner and for the purposes authorized in the bylaws of the

corporation, with respect to shares of stock of the corporation of any class or series.
 
3.6                                 No Consents.  Any action required or permitted to be taken at any annual or special meeting of stockholders must be taken at such

a meeting duly called, upon proper notice to all stockholders entitled to vote.  No action required to be taken or which may be taken at any annual or special
meeting of stockholders may be taken without a meeting, without prior notice, and without a vote.

 
 4.                                   Provisions Relating to Series D Preferred Stock.  The provisions of the Convertible Preferred Stock, Series D, of the corporation are set

forth in full in Annex I to this Restated Certificate of Incorporation, and they are incorporated herein by this reference thereto.
 
 5.                                   Provisions Relating to Series F Preferred Stock.  The provisions of the 9.40% Cumulative Preferred Stock, Series F, of the corporation

are set forth in full in Annex II to this Restated Certificate of Incorporation, and they are incorporated herein by this reference thereto.
 



 6.                                   Provisions Relating to Series G Preferred Stock.  The provisions of the Conversion Preferred Stock, Series G, of the corporation are set
forth in full in Annex III to this Restated Certificate of Incorporation, and they are incorporated herein by this reference thereto.

 
FIFTH:  The amount of capital with which the corporation will commence business is $1,000.
 
SIXTH:  Reserved.
 
SEVENTH:  The corporation is to have perpetual existence.
 
EIGHTH:  The private property of the stockholders shall not be subject to the payment of the corporate debts to any extent whatever.
 
NINTH:

 
9.1                                 The business and affairs of the corporation shall be managed by or under the direction of a board of directors. The number of the directors

of the corporation shall be fixed from time to time by resolution adopted by the affirmative vote of a majority of the entire board of directors of the
corporation, except that the minimum number of directors shall be fixed at no less than three and the maximum number of directors shall be fixed at no more
than 15. The directors shall be elected by the stockholders at each annual meeting for a one-year term. The term of each director will end at the 2007 annual
meeting of stockholders. Commencing with the 2007 annual meeting of stockholders, each director shall hold office for a one-year term and until such
director’s successor shall have been duly elected and qualified.

 
9.2                                 Nominations for election to the board of directors of the corporation at a meeting of stockholders may be made by the board, on behalf of

the board by any nominating committee appointed by the board, or by any stockholder of the corporation entitled to vote for the election of directors at the
meeting. Nominations, other than those made by or on behalf of the board, shall be made by notice in writing delivered to or mailed, postage prepaid, and
received by the Corporate Secretary not less than 30 nor more than 60 days prior to any meeting of stockholders called for the election of directors; provided,
however, if less than 35 days’ notice or prior public disclosure of the date of the meeting is given to stockholders, the nomination must be received by the
Corporate Secretary not later than the close of business on the seventh day following the day on which the notice of the meeting was mailed. The notice shall
set forth: (i) the name and address of the stockholder who intends to make the nomination; (ii) the name,
 

 
age, business address, and, if known, residence address of each nominee; (iii) the principal occupation or employment of each nominee; (iv) the number of
shares of stock of the corporation which are beneficially owned by each nominee and by the nominating stockholder; (v) any other information concerning the
nominee that must be disclosed of nominees in proxy solicitation pursuant to Regulation 14A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and (vi) the executed
consent of each nominee to serve as a director of the corporation, if elected. The chairman of the meeting of stockholders may, if the facts warrant, determine
that a nomination was not made in accordance with the foregoing procedures, and if the chairman should so determine, the chairman shall so declare to the
meeting and the defective nomination shall be disregarded.

 
9.3                                 Newly created directorships resulting from any increase in the number of directors and any vacancies on the board of directors resulting

from death, resignation, disqualification, removal, or other cause shall be filled by the affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining directors then in office,
even though less than a quorum, or by a sole remaining director. Any additional director elected to fill a vacancy shall hold office until the next annual
meeting of stockholders and until such director’s successor shall have been elected and qualified, but in no case will a decrease in the number of directors
shorten the term of any incumbent director. A director shall hold office until the next annual meeting and until such director’s successor shall have been
elected and qualified.

 
9.4                                 Any director may be removed from office only with cause and only by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 80% of the voting

power of all the shares of the corporation entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, voting together as a single class.
 
9.5                                 Notwithstanding the foregoing paragraphs 9.1, 9.2, 9.3, and 9.4, whenever the holders of any one or more classes or series of Preferred

Stock issued by the corporation shall have the right, voting separately by class or series, to elect directors at an annual or special meeting of stockholders, the
election, term of office, filling of vacancies, and other features of such directorships shall be governed by the terms of this Certificate of Incorporation
applicable thereto, and the then authorized number of directors of the corporation shall be increased by the number of additional directors to be elected.

 
9.6                                 Notwithstanding anything contained in this Certificate of Incorporation to the contrary, the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 80% of

the voting power of all the shares of the corporation entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, voting together as a single class, shall be required to
alter, amend, repeal, or adopt any provision inconsistent with the purpose and intent of this Article NINTH.

 
9.7                                 In furtherance, and not in limitation of the powers conferred by statute, the board of directors is expressly authorized:
 
To make and alter the bylaws of the corporation.

 

 
To authorize and cause to be executed mortgages and liens upon the real and personal property of the corporation.

 
To set apart out of any of the funds of the corporation available for dividends a reserve or reserves for any proper purpose or to abolish any such

reserve in the manner in which it was created.
 

By resolution or resolutions passed by a majority of the whole board, to designate one or more committees, each committee to consist of two or more
of the directors of the corporation, which, to the extent provided in said resolution or resolutions or in the bylaws of the corporation, shall have and
may exercise the powers of the board of directors in the management of the business and affairs of the corporation, and may have power to authorize the seal
of the corporation to be affixed to all papers which may require it. Such committee or committees shall have such name or names as may be stated in the
bylaws of the corporation or as may be determined from time to time by resolution adopted by the board of directors.

 



The corporation may in its bylaws confer powers upon its board of directors in addition to the foregoing, and in addition to the powers and
authorities expressly conferred upon it by statute.

 
TENTH:  Whenever a compromise or arrangement is proposed between this corporation and its creditors or any class of them, and/or between this

corporation and its stockholders or any class of them, any Court of equitable jurisdiction within the state of Delaware may, on the application in a summary
way of this corporation or of any creditor or stockholder thereof, or on the application of any receiver or receivers appointed for this corporation under the
provisions of Section 291 of Title 8 of the Delaware Code or on the application of trustees in dissolution or of any receiver or receivers appointed for this
corporation under the provisions of Section 279 of Title 8 of the Delaware Code, order a meeting of the creditors or class of creditors, and/or of the
stockholders or class of stockholders of this corporation, as the case may be, to be summoned in such manner as the said Court directs.  If a majority in
number representing three-fourths in value of the creditors

 

 
or class of creditors, and/or of the stockholders or class of stockholders of this corporation, as the case may be, agree to any compromise or arrangement and
to any reorganization of this corporation as consequence of such compromise or arrangement, the said compromise or arrangement and said reorganization
shall, if sanctioned by the Court of which the said application has been made, be binding on all the creditors or class of creditors, and/or on all the
stockholders or class of stockholders of this corporation, as the case may be, and also on this corporation.

 
ELEVENTH:  Both stockholders and directors shall have power, if the bylaws so provide, to hold their meetings, and to have one or more offices

within or without the state of Delaware, and to keep the books of this corporation (subject to the provisions of the statutes), outside of the state of Delaware at
such places as may be from time to time designated by the board of directors.

 
TWELFTH:

 
12.1 In addition to any affirmative vote required by law or this Certificate of Incorporation or the bylaws, and except as otherwise expressly herein

provided in this Article TWELFTH, a Business Combination (as hereinafter defined) shall require the affirmative vote of a majority of the voting power of all
the shares of Voting Stock (as hereinafter defined) held by stockholders other than an Interested Stockholder (as hereinafter defined), with which or by or on
whose behalf, directly or indirectly, a Business Combination is proposed, voting together as a single class.  Such affirmative vote shall be required
notwithstanding the fact that no vote may be required, or that a lesser percentage or separate class vote may be specified, by law or in any agreement with any
national securities exchange or otherwise.

 
12.2 The provisions of Section 12.1 of this Article TWELFTH shall not be applicable to any particular Business Combination, and such Business

Combination shall require only such affirmative vote, if any, as is required by law or by any other provision of this Certificate of Incorporation, the bylaws of
the corporation, or any agreement with any national securities exchange, if all the conditions specified in either of the following paragraphs (a) or (b) are met
or, in the case of a Business Combination not involving the payment of consideration to the holders of the corporation’s outstanding Capital Stock (as
hereinafter defined), if the condition specified in the following paragraph (a) is met:

 
(a)                                  The Business Combination shall have been approved by a majority (whether such approval is made prior to or subsequent to the

acquisition of beneficial ownership of the Voting Stock that caused the Interested Stockholder as hereinafter defined to become an Interested Stockholder) of
the Continuing Directors (as hereinafter defined); or

 
(b)                                 All of the following conditions shall have been met:

 
(1)                                  The aggregate amount of the cash and the Fair Market Value (as hereinafter defined) as of the date of the consummation

of the Business Combination of consideration other than cash to be received per share by holders of Common Stock in such Business Combination shall be at
least equal to the highest amount determined under subparagraphs (i) and (ii) below:

 

 
(i)                                     (if applicable) The highest per-share price (including any brokerage commissions, transfer taxes, and soliciting

dealers’ fees) paid by or on behalf of the Interested Stockholder for any shares of Common Stock in connection with the acquisition by the Interested
Stockholder of beneficial ownership of shares of Common Stock (a) within the two-year period immediately prior to the first public announcement of the
proposed Business Combination (the “Announcement Date”) or (b) in the transaction in which it became an Interested Stockholder, whichever is higher; and

 
(ii)                                  The Fair Market Value per share of Common Stock on the Announcement Date or on the date on which the

Interested Stockholder became an Interested Stockholder (such latter date referred to in this Article TWELFTH as the “Determination Date”), whichever is
higher.

 
All per-share prices shall be adjusted to reflect any intervening stock splits, stock dividends, and reverse stock splits.

 
(2)                                  The aggregate amount of the cash and the Fair Market Value as of the date of the consummation of the Business

Combination of consideration other than cash to be received per share by holders of shares of any class or series of outstanding Capital Stock (as hereinafter
defined), other than Common Stock, shall be at least equal to the highest amount determined under clauses (i), (ii), and (iii) below:

 
(i)                                     (if applicable) The highest per-share price (including any brokerage commissions, transfer taxes, and soliciting

dealers’ fees) paid by or on behalf of the Interested Stockholder for any share of such class or series of Capital Stock in connection with the acquisition by the
Interested Stockholder of beneficial ownership of shares of such class or series of Capital Stock (a) within the two-year period immediately prior to the
Announcement Date or (b) in the transaction in which it became an Interested Stockholder, whichever is higher;

 
(ii)                                  The Fair Market Value per share of such class or series of Capital Stock on the Announcement Date or on the

Determination Date, whichever is higher; and
 
(iii)                               (if applicable) The highest preferential amount per share to which the holders of shares of such class or series of

Capital Stock would be entitled in the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the corporation, regardless of whether



the Business Combination to be consummated constitutes such an event.
 
All per-share prices shall be adjusted for intervening stock splits, stock dividends, and reverse stock splits.
 
The provisions of this paragraph (b)(2) shall be required to be met with respect to every class or series of outstanding

Capital Stock, whether or not the Interested Stockholder has previously acquired beneficial ownership of any shares of a particular class or series of Capital
Stock.

 
(3)                                  The consideration to be received by holders of a particular class or series of outstanding Capital Stock (including

Common Stock) shall be cash or in the same form as
 

 
previously has been paid by or on behalf of the Interested Stockholder in connection with its direct or indirect acquisition of beneficial ownership of shares of
such class or series of Capital Stock.  If the consideration so paid for shares of any class or series of Capital Stock varied as to form, the form of consideration
for such class or series of Capital Stock shall be either cash or the form used to acquire beneficial ownership of the largest number of shares of such class or
series of Capital Stock previously acquired by the Interested Stockholder.

 
(4)                                  After such Interested Stockholder has become an Interested Stockholder and prior to the consummation of such Business

Combination:  (a) except as approved by a majority of the Continuing Directors, there shall have been no failure to declare and pay at the regular date therefor
any full quarterly dividends (whether or not cumulative) in accordance with the terms of the outstanding Preferred Stock; (b) there shall have been (1) no
reduction in the annual rate of dividend paid on the Common Stock (except as necessary to reflect any stock split, stock dividend, or subdivision of the
Common Stock), except as approved by a majority of the Continuing Directors; and (2) an increase in such annual rate of dividends as necessary to reflect
any reclassification (including any reverse stock split), recapitalization, reorganization, or any similar transaction which has the effect of reducing the number
of outstanding shares of the Common Stock, unless the failure so to increase such annual rate is approved by a majority of the Continuing Directors; and
(c) such Interested Stockholder shall have not become the beneficial owner of any additional shares of Voting Stock except as part of the transaction which
results in such Interested Stockholder becoming an Interested Stockholder and except in a transaction that, after giving effect thereto, would not result in any
increase in the Interested Stockholder’s percentage beneficial ownership of any class or series of Capital Stock.

 
(5)                                  After such Interested Stockholder has become an Interested Stockholder, such Interested Stockholder shall not have

received the benefit, directly or indirectly (except proportionately as a stockholder), of any loans, advances, guarantees, pledges, or other financial assistance
or any tax credits or other tax advantages provided by the corporation, whether in anticipation of or in connection with such Business Combination or
otherwise.

 
(6)                                  A proxy or information statement describing the proposed Business Combination and complying with the requirements of

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the rules and regulations thereunder (or any subsequent provisions replacing such Act, rules, or regulations) shall be
mailed to public stockholders of the corporation at least 30 days prior to the consummation of such Business Combination (whether or not such proxy or
information statement is required to be mailed pursuant to such Act or subsequent provisions).  The proxy or information statement shall contain on the first
page thereof, in a prominent place, any statement as to the advisability (or inadvisability) of the Business Combination that the Continuing Directors, or any
of them, may choose to make and, if deemed advisable by a majority of the Continuing Directors, the opinion of an investment banking firm selected by a
majority of the Continuing Directors as to the fairness (or not) of the terms of the Business Combination from a financial point of view to the holders of the
outstanding shares of Capital Stock other than the Interested Stockholder and its Affiliates or Associates (as hereinafter defined), such investment banking
firm to be paid a reasonable fee for its services by the corporation.

 

 
(7)                                  Such Interested Stockholder shall not have made any major change in the corporation’s business or equity capital

structure without the approval of a majority of the Continuing Directors.
 
12.3 For the purposes of this Article TWELFTH:

 
(a)                                  The term “Business Combination” shall mean:

 
(1)                                  Any merger or consolidation of the corporation or any Subsidiary (as hereinafter defined) with (a) any Interested

Stockholder or (b) any other company (whether or not such other company is an Interested Stockholder) which is, or after such merger or consolidation would
be, an Affiliate or Associate of an Interested Stockholder; or

 
(2)                                  Any sale, lease, exchange, mortgage, pledge, transfer, or other disposition or security arrangement, investment, loan,

advance, guarantee, agreement to purchase, agreement to pay, extension of credit, joint venture participation, or other arrangement (in one transaction or a
series of transactions) with or for the benefit of any Interested Stockholder or any Affiliate or Associate of any Interested Stockholder involving any assets,
securities, or commitments of the corporation, any Subsidiary or any Interested Stockholder or any Affiliate or Associate of any Interested Stockholder having
an aggregate Fair Market Value and/or involving aggregate commitments of $40,000,000 or more or constituting more than 5% of the book value of the total
assets (in the case of transactions involving assets or commitments other than capital stock) or 5% of stockholders’ equity (in the case of transactions
involving capital stock) of the entity in question (the “Substantial Part”), as reflected in the most recent fiscal year-end consolidated balance sheet of such
entity existing at the time the stockholders of the corporation would be required to approve or authorize the Business Combination involving the assets,
securities, and/or commitments constituting any Substantial Part; or

 
(3)                                  The adoption of any plan or proposal for the liquidation or dissolution of the corporation proposed by or on behalf of any

Interested Stockholder or any Affiliate or Associate of any Interested Stockholder; or
 
(4)                                  Any reclassification of securities (including any reverse stock split), or recapitalization of the corporation or any merger

or consolidation of the corporation with any of its Subsidiaries or any other transaction (whether or not with or otherwise involving an Interested Stockholder)
that has the effect, directly or indirectly, of increasing the proportionate share of the outstanding shares of any class or series of Capital Stock, or any



securities convertible into Capital Stock, or into equity securities of any Subsidiary, that is beneficially owned by any Interested Stockholder or any Affiliate
or Associate of any Interested Stockholder; or

 
(5)                                  Any agreement, contract, or other arrangement providing for any one or more of the actions specified in the foregoing

clauses (1) through (4).
 
(b)                                 The term “Capital Stock” shall mean all capital stock of this corporation authorized to be issued from time to time under

Article FOURTH of this Certificate of Incorporation, and the
 

 
term “Voting Stock” shall mean all Capital Stock which by its terms may be voted on all matters submitted to stockholders of the corporation generally.

 
(c)                                  A “person” shall mean any individual, firm, corporation, partnership, trust, or other entity and shall include any group comprised

of any person and any other person with whom such person or any Affiliate or Associate of such person has any agreement, arrangement, or understanding,
directly or indirectly, for the purpose of acquiring, holding, voting, or disposing of Capital Stock.

 
(d)                                 “Interested Stockholder” shall mean any person (other than the corporation or any Subsidiary and other than any profit-sharing,

employee stock ownership, or other employee benefit plan of the corporation or any Subsidiary or any trustee of or fiduciary with respect to any such plan
when acting in such capacity) who or which:

 
(1)                                  Is the beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of more than 10% of the voting power of the then outstanding Voting Stock;

or
 
(2)                                  Is an Affiliate or Associate of the corporation and at any time within the two-year period immediately prior to the date in

question was the beneficial owner of 10% or more of the voting power of the then outstanding Voting Stock; or
 
(3)                                  Is an assignee of or has otherwise succeeded to any shares of Voting Stock which were at any time within the two-year

period immediately prior to the date in question beneficially owned by any Interested Stockholder, if such assignment or succession shall have occurred in the
course of a transaction or series of transactions not involving a public offering within the meaning of the Securities Act of 1933.

 
(e)                                  A person shall be a “beneficial owner” of any Capital Stock:

 
(1)                                  Which such person or any of its Affiliates or Associates beneficially owns, directly or indirectly; or
 
(2)                                  Which such person or any of its Affiliates or Associates has (a) the right to acquire (whether such right is exercisable

immediately or only after the passage of time), pursuant to any agreement, arrangement, or understanding or upon the exercise of conversion rights, exchange
rights, warrants, or options, or otherwise, or (b) the right to vote pursuant to any agreement, arrangement, or understanding; or

 
(3)                                  Which are beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, by any other person with which such person or any of its Affiliates

or Associates has any agreement, arrangement, or understanding for the purpose of acquiring, holding, voting, or disposing of any shares of Voting Stock. 
For the purposes of determining whether a person is an Interested Stockholder pursuant to paragraph (d) of this Article, the number of shares of Capital Stock
deemed to be outstanding shall include shares deemed beneficially owned by such person through application of paragraph (e) of this Article but shall not
include any other shares of Capital Stock that may be issuable pursuant to

 

 
any agreement, arrangement, or understanding, or upon exercise of conversion rights, warrants, or options, or otherwise.

 
(f)                                    “Affiliate” or “Associate” shall have the respective meanings ascribed to such terms in Rule 12b-2 of the General Rules and

Regulations under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as in effect on March 1, 1985 (the term “registrant” in said Rule 12b-2 meaning, in this case, the
corporation).

 
(g)                                 “Subsidiary” means any company of which a majority of any class of equity security is owned, directly or indirectly, by the

corporation; provided, however, for the purposes of the definition of Interested Stockholder set forth in paragraph (d) of this section, the term “Subsidiary”
shall mean only a company of which a majority of each class of equity security is beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, by the corporation.

 
(h)                                 “Continuing Director” means any member of the board of directors of the corporation (the “Board”) while such person is a

member of the Board, who is not an Affiliate or Associate or representative of the Interested Stockholder and was a member of the Board on March 1, 1985,
or prior to the time that the Interested Stockholder became an Interested Stockholder, and any successor of a Continuing Director, while such successor is a
member of the Board, who is not an Affiliate or Associate or representative of the Interested Stockholder and is recommended to succeed the Continuing
Director by a majority of Continuing Directors then on the Board.

 
(i)                                     “Fair Market Value” means:  (a) in the case of stock, the highest closing sale price during the 30-day period immediately preceding

the date in question of a share of such stock on the Composite Tape for New York Stock Exchange-Listed Stocks, or, if such stock is not quoted on the
Composite Tape, on the New York Stock Exchange, or, if such stock is not listed on such Exchange, on the principal United States securities exchange
registered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 on which such stock is listed, or, if such stock is not listed on any such exchange, the highest closing bid
quotation with respect to a share of such stock during the 30-day period preceding the date in question on the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc.,
Automated Quotations System or any system then in use, or if no such quotations are available, the Fair Market Value on the date in question of a share of
such stock as determined by a majority of the Continuing Directors in good faith; and (b) in the case of property other than cash or stock, the Fair Market
Value of such property on the date in question as determined by a majority of Continuing Directors then on the Board.

 
(j)                                     In the event of any Business Combination in which the corporation survives, the phrase “consideration other than cash to be

received” as used in paragraphs (b)(1) and (2) of Section 12.2 of this Article shall include the shares of Common Stock and/or the shares of any other class of



outstanding Voting Stock retained by the holders of such shares.
 
12.4 The board of directors of the corporation shall have the power and duty to determine for the purposes of this Article TWELFTH, on the basis of

information known to them after reasonable inquiry (a) whether a person is an Interested Stockholder, (b) the number of shares of Voting Stock beneficially
owned by any person, (c) whether a person is an Affiliate or Associate of another, (d) whether the requirements of paragraph (b) of Section 12.2 have been
met with respect

 

 
to any Business Combination, and (e) whether any sale, lease, exchange, mortgage, pledge, transfer, or other disposition or security arrangement, investment,
loan, advance, guarantee, agreement to purchase, agreement to pay, extension of credit, joint venture participation, or other arrangement (in one transaction or
a series of transactions) with or for the benefit of any Interested Stockholder or any Affiliate or Associate of any Interested Stockholder involving any assets,
securities, or commitments of the corporation, any Subsidiary or any Interested Stockholder or any Affiliate or Associate of any Interested Stockholder has an
aggregate Fair Market Value and/or involves aggregate commitments of $40,000,000 or more or constitutes a Substantial Part.  Any such determination made
in good faith shall be binding and conclusive on all parties.

 
12.5 Nothing contained in this Article TWELFTH shall be construed to relieve any Interested Stockholder from any fiduciary obligation imposed by

law.
 
12.6 Consideration for shares to be paid to any stockholder pursuant to this Article TWELFTH shall be the minimum consideration payable to the

stockholder and shall not limit a stockholder’s right under any provision of law or otherwise to receive greater consideration for any shares of the corporation.
 
12.7 The fact that any Business Combination complies with the provisions of Section 12.2 of this Article TWELFTH shall not be construed to

impose any fiduciary duty, obligation, or responsibility on the Board, or any member thereof, to approve such Business Combination or recommend its
adoption or approval to the stockholders of the corporation, nor shall such compliance limit, prohibit, or otherwise restrict in any manner the Board, or any
member thereof, with respect to evaluations of or actions and responses taken with respect to such Business Combination.

 
12.8 Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Certificate of Incorporation or the bylaws of the corporation (and notwithstanding the fact that a

lesser percentage may be specified by law, this Certificate of Incorporation or the bylaws of the corporation), the affirmative vote of the holders of at least
80% of the voting power of all the shares of the Voting Stock, voting together as a single class, shall be required to alter, amend, or adopt any provisions
inconsistent with or repeal this Article TWELFTH; provided, however, if such action has been proposed, directly or indirectly, on behalf of an Interested
Stockholder, it must also be approved by the affirmative vote of a majority of the voting power of all of the shares of Voting Stock held by stockholders other
than such Interested Stockholder, and further provided that this Section 12.8 shall not apply to, and such 80% vote shall not be required for, any amendment,
repeal, or adoption unanimously recommended by the Board, if all of such directors are persons who would be eligible to serve as Continuing Directors
within the meaning of paragraph (h) of Section 12.3 of this Article TWELFTH.

 
THIRTEENTH:
 
13.1 No director of the corporation shall be personally liable to the corporation or its stockholders for monetary damages for any breach of fiduciary

duty by such director as a director.  Notwithstanding the foregoing sentence, a director shall be liable to the extent provided by applicable law (i) for breach of
the director’s duty of loyalty to the corporation or its stockholders, (ii) for acts or omissions not in good faith or which involve intentional misconduct or a
knowing

 

 
violation of law, (iii) pursuant to Section 174 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, or (iv) for any transaction from which the director derived an
improper personal benefit.  No amendment to or repeal of this Article 13.1 shall apply to or have any effect on the liability or alleged liability of any director
of the corporation for or with respect to any acts or omissions prior to such amendment or repeal.

 
13.2 The corporation shall indemnity, to the fullest extent authorized or permitted and in the manner provided by law, any person made, or threatened

to be made, a party to any action, suit, or proceeding (whether civil, criminal, or otherwise) by reason of the fact that he or she, his or her testator or intestate,
is or was a director or officer of the corporation or by reason of the fact that such director or officer, at the request of the corporation, is or was serving any
other corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan, or other enterprise, in any capacity.  Nothing contained herein shall affect any rights
to indemnification to which employees and agents other than directors and officers may be entitled by law, and the corporation may indemnify such
employees and agents to the fullest extent and in the manner permitted by law.  The rights to indemnification set forth in this Section 13.2 shall not be
exclusive of any other rights to which any person may be entitled under any statute, provision of this Certificate of Incorporation, bylaw, agreement, contract,
vote of stockholders or disinterested directors, or otherwise.  The corporation also is authorized to enter into contracts of indemnification.

 

 
FOURTEENTH:  The corporation reserves the right to amend, alter, change, or repeal any provision contained in this Certificate of Incorporation,

in the manner now or hereafter prescribed by statute, and all rights conferred upon stockholders herein are granted subject to this reservation.
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, said OFFICEMAX INCORPORATED has caused its corporate seal to be hereunto affixed and this Restated Certificate

of Incorporation to be signed by its Vice President and General Counsel this May 12, 2005.
 

 

OFFICEMAX INCORPORATED
  
  
 

By:   /s/ Matthew R. Broad
 

  

Matthew R. Broad
  

Executive Vice President and General Counsel



 

 

ANNEX I
 

CERTIFICATE OF DESIGNATION
OF

CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK, SERIES D
OF

BOISE CASCADE CORPORATION
 

Pursuant to Section 151 of the
General Corporation Law
of the State of Delaware

 
The undersigned, Senior Vice President and Assistant Secretary, respectively, of Boise Cascade Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the

“Company”), certify that pursuant to authority granted to and vested in the Board of Directors (the “Board of Directors”) of the Company by the provisions of
the Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, the Board of Directors has adopted the following resolution creating a series of Preferred Stock of
the Company designated as the Convertible Preferred Stock, Series D:

 
RESOLVED, by the Board of Directors of Boise Cascade Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), that, pursuant to the authority

expressly granted to and vested in the Board of Directors by the provisions of the Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, the Board of
Directors hereby creates a fourth series of the class of authorized Preferred Stock, without par value, of the Company consisting of 6,745,347 shares of
Preferred Stock (such series being hereinafter sometimes called the “Series D Preferred Stock”) with a stated capital of $.01 per share, and authorizes the
issuance thereof, and hereby fixes the designation and amount thereof and the voting powers, preferences and relative, participating, optional, and other
special rights of the shares of such series, and the qualifications, limitations, or restrictions thereof (in addition to the designations, preferences and relative,
participating, and other special rights, and the qualifications, limitations, or restrictions thereof, set forth in the Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the
Company, which are applicable to the Preferred Stock of all series) as follows:

 
Section 1.  Designation and Amount; Special Purpose Restricted Transfer Issue.
 
(A)                              The shares of such series shall be designated “Convertible Preferred Stock, Series D” and the number of shares constituting such series shall

initially be 6,745,347.
 
(B)                                Shares of Series D Preferred Stock shall be issued only to State Street Bank and Trust Company, as trustee, or any successor trustee (the

“Trustee”) of the Savings and Supplemental Retirement Plan of the Company, as amended from time to time, or any successor or replacement plan (the
“Plan”).  In the event of any transfer of shares of Series D Preferred Stock to any person other than the Trustee, the shares of Series D Preferred Stock so
transferred, upon such transfer and without any further action by the Company or the holder thereof, shall be automatically converted into shares of Common
Stock (as defined in paragraph (B) of Section 11 hereof) on the terms otherwise provided for the conversion of shares of Series D Preferred Stock into shares
of

 

 
Common Stock pursuant to Section 5 hereof and no such transferee shall have any of the voting powers, preferences and relative, participating, optional, or
special rights ascribed to shares of Series D Preferred Stock hereunder but, rather, only the powers and rights pertaining to the Common Stock into which
such shares of Series D Preferred Stock shall be so converted.  In the event of such a conversion, the transferee of the shares of Series D Preferred Stock shall
be treated for all purposes as the record holder of the shares of Common Stock into which such shares of Series D Preferred Stock have been automatically
converted as of the date of such transfer.  Certificates representing shares of Series D Preferred Stock shall bear a legend to reflect the foregoing provisions. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this paragraph (B) of Section 1, shares of Series D Preferred Stock (i) may be converted into shares of Common
Stock as provided by Section 5 hereof and the shares of Common Stock issued upon such conversion may be transferred by the holder thereof as permitted by
law and (ii) shall be redeemable by the Company upon the terms and conditions provided by Sections 6, 7, and 8 hereof.

 
Section 2.  Dividends and Distributions.
 
Subject to the provisions for adjustment hereinafter set forth, the holders of shares of Series D Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive, when, as,

and if declared by the Board of Directors out of funds legally available therefor, cash dividends (“Preferred Dividends”) at the rate of $3.31875 per share per
annum, payable semiannually, one-half on the 28th day of June and one-half on the 28th day of December of each year (each a “Dividend Payment Date”)
commencing on December 28, 1989, to holders of record on the tenth Business Day (as defined in paragraph (G) of Section 9 hereof) preceding such
Dividend Payment Date (the “Dividend Record Date”).  In the event that any Dividend Payment Date shall fall on any day other than a Business Day, the
dividend payment due on such Dividend Payment Date shall be paid on the Business Day immediately following such Dividend Payment Date.  Preferred
Dividends shall begin to accrue on outstanding shares of Series D Preferred Stock from July 1, 1989.  Preferred Dividends shall accrue on a daily basis
whether or not during such semiannual period there shall be funds legally available therefor, but Preferred Dividends accrued on the shares of Series D
Preferred Stock for any period less than a full semiannual period between Dividend Payment Dates (or, in the case of the first dividend payment, from the
date of issuance of the shares of Series D Preferred Stock through the first Dividend Payment Date) shall be computed on the basis of a 360-day year of 30-
day months.  Accrued but unpaid Preferred Dividends shall cumulate as of the Dividend Payment Date on which they first become payable, but no interest
shall accrue on accumulated but unpaid Preferred Dividends.

 
Section 3.  Voting Rights.
 
The holders of shares of Series D Preferred Stock shall have the following voting rights:
 
The holders of shares of Series D Preferred Stock shall be entitled to vote on all matters submitted to a vote of the stockholders of the Company,

voting together with the holders of Common Stock as one class.  The holder of each share of Series D Preferred Stock shall be entitled to one vote for each



share of Series D Preferred Stock held by such holder, provided, however, that the number of votes per share of Series D Preferred Stock shall not exceed the
highest vote then permitted by applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission or the

 

 
New York Stock Exchange; it being understood that whenever the “Conversion Price” (as defined in Section 5 hereof) is adjusted as provided in Section 9
hereof, the number of votes per share of Series D Preferred Stock shall also be similarly adjusted.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, no adjustment in the
number of votes per share of Series D Preferred Stock shall be made to the extent that such adjustment will result in voting rights per share of Series D
Preferred Stock which would not be permitted by the Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company as then in effect or by applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission or the New York Stock Exchange.  In the event that the number of votes per share of Series D
Preferred Stock is not adjusted upon an adjustment to the Conversion Price in accordance with the immediately preceding sentence, then the Board of
Directors of the Company shall promptly take such action as may be necessary to equitably adjust for such adjustment to the Conversion Price, including
without limitation, subdividing outstanding shares of Series D Preferred Stock to the extent the Company has authorized shares of Series D Preferred Stock
which are not then outstanding, or designating and issuing additional shares of Series D Preferred Stock to the extent the Company has authorized shares of
Preferred Stock which are not then outstanding and are undesignated as to series; provided, however, no such action on the part of the Board of Directors
shall adjust or change the aggregate economic terms assigned to the outstanding shares of Series D Preferred Shares; provided, further, no such action shall be
taken which would result in a violation of the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission or the New York Stock Exchange.

 
Section 4.  Liquidation, Dissolution, or Winding Up.
 
(A)                              In the event of any liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the Company, voluntary or involuntary, the holders of Series D Preferred Stock

shall be entitled to receive out of the assets of the Company which remain after satisfaction in full of all valid claims of creditors of the Company and which
are available for payment to stockholders, liquidating distributions in the amount of $45.00 per share, plus an amount equal to all accrued and unpaid
dividends thereon to the date fixed for distribution.  After payment of the full amount to which they are entitled as provided by the foregoing provisions of
this paragraph 4(A), the holders of Series D Preferred Stock shall not be entitled to any further right or claim to any of the remaining assets of the Company.

 
(B)                                Neither the merger or consolidation of the Company with or into any other corporation, nor the merger or consolidation of any other

corporation with or into the Company, nor the sale, lease, exchange, or other transfer of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company, shall be deemed
to be a dissolution, liquidation, or winding up of the affairs of the Company for purposes of this Section 4, but the holders of Series D Preferred Stock shall
nevertheless be entitled in the event of any such merger or consolidation to the rights provided by Section 8 hereof.

 
(C)                                Written notice of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the Company, stating the payment date or dates

when, and the place or places where, the amounts distributable to holders of Series D Preferred Stock in such circumstances shall be payable, shall be given
by hand delivery, by courier, by standard form of telecommunication, or by first-class mail (postage prepaid), delivered, sent, or mailed, as the case may be,
not less than twenty (20) days prior to any payment date stated therein, to the holders of Series D Preferred Stock, at the address shown on the books of the
Company or any transfer agent for the Series D Preferred Stock.

 

 
Section 5.  Conversion into Common Stock.
 
(A)                              A holder of shares of Series D Preferred Stock shall be entitled, at any time prior to the close of business on the date fixed for redemption of

such shares pursuant to Section 6, 7, or 8 hereof, to cause any or all of such shares to be converted into shares of Common Stock, initially at a conversion
price equal to $56.00 per share of Common Stock, with each share of Series D Preferred Stock being valued at $45.00 for such purpose, and which price shall
be adjusted as hereinafter provided (and, as so adjusted, is hereinafter sometimes referred to as the “Conversion Price”) (that is, a conversion rate initially
equivalent to 0.80357 shares of Common Stock for each share of Series D Preferred Stock so converted, which is subject to adjustment as the Conversion
Price is adjusted as hereinafter provided in Section 9); provided, however, that in no event shall the Conversion Price be lower than the par value, if any, of
the Common Stock.

 
(B)                                Any holder of shares of Series D Preferred Stock desiring to convert such shares into shares of Common Stock shall surrender the

certificate or certificates representing the shares of Series D Preferred Stock being converted, duly assigned or endorsed for transfer to the Company (or
accompanied by duly executed stock powers relating thereto), at the principal executive office of the Company or the offices of the transfer agent for the
Series D Preferred Stock or such office or offices in the continental United States of an agent for conversion as may from time to time be designated by notice
to the holders of the Series D Preferred Stock by the Company or the transfer agent for the Series D Preferred Stock, accompanied by written notice of
conversion.  Such notice of conversion shall specify (i) the number of shares of Series D Preferred Stock to be converted and the name or names in which
such holder wishes the certificate or certificates for Common Stock and for any shares of Series D Preferred Stock not to be so converted to be issued and
(ii) the address to which such holder wishes new certificates issued upon such conversion to be delivered.

 
(C)                                Upon surrender of a certificate representing a share or shares of Series D Preferred Stock for conversion, the Company shall issue and send

by hand delivery, by courier, or by first-class mail (postage prepaid), to the holder thereof or to such holder’s designee, at the address designated by such
holder, a certificate or certificates for the number of shares of Common Stock to which such holder shall be entitled upon conversion.  In the event that there
shall have been surrendered a certificate or certificates representing shares of Series D Preferred Stock, only part of which are to be converted, the Company
shall issue and send to such holder or such holder’s designee, in the manner set forth in the preceding sentence, a new certificate or certificates representing
the number of shares of Series D Preferred Stock which shall not have been converted.

 
(D)                               The issuance by the Company of shares of Common Stock upon a conversion of shares of Series D Preferred Stock into shares of Common

Stock made at the option of the holder thereof shall be effective as of the earlier of (i) the delivery to such holder or such holder’s designee of the certificates
representing the shares of Common Stock issued upon conversion thereof or (ii) the commencement of business on the second Business Day after the
surrender of the certificate or certificates for the shares of Series D Preferred Stock to be converted, duly assigned or endorsed for transfer to the Company (or
accompanied by duly executed stock powers relating thereto) and accompanied by all documentation required to effect the conversion, as herein provided. 
On and after the effective date of conversion, the person or persons entitled to receive the Common Stock

 



 
issuable upon such conversion shall be treated for all purposes as the record holder or holders of such shares of Common Stock, but no allowance or
adjustment shall be made in respect of dividends payable to holders of record of Common Stock as of any period prior to such effective date.  The Company
shall not be obligated to pay any dividends which shall have been declared and shall be payable to holders of shares of Series D Preferred Stock on a
Dividend Payment Date if the Dividend Record Date for such dividend is subsequent to the effective date of conversion of such shares.

 
(E)                                 The Company shall not be obligated to deliver to holders of Series D Preferred Stock any fractional share of shares of Common Stock

issuable upon any conversion of such shares of Series D Preferred Stock, but in lieu thereof may make a cash payment in respect thereof in any manner
permitted by law.

 
(F)                                 The Company shall at all times reserve and keep available out of its authorized and unissued Common Stock, solely for issuance upon the

conversion of shares of Series D Preferred Stock as herein provided, free from any preemptive rights, such number of shares of Common Stock as shall from
time to time be issuable upon the conversion of all the shares of Series D Preferred Stock then outstanding.  Nothing contained herein shall preclude the
Company from issuing shares of Common Stock held in its treasury upon the conversion of shares of Series D Preferred Stock into Common Stock pursuant
to the terms hereof.  The Company shall prepare and shall use its best efforts to obtain and keep in force such governmental or regulatory permits or other
authorizations as may be required by law, and shall comply with all requirements as to registration or qualification of the Common Stock, in order to enable
the Company lawfully to issue and deliver to each holder of record of Series D Preferred Stock such number of shares of its Common Stock as shall from
time to time be sufficient to effect the conversion of all shares of Series D Preferred Stock then outstanding and convertible into shares of Common Stock.

 
Section 6.  Redemption At the Option of the Company.
 
(A)                              The Series D Preferred Stock shall be redeemable (i) in whole or in part, at the option of the Company at any time after June 28, 1993, or

(ii) at any time after the date of issuance as provided by paragraph (E) of this Section 6, at the following redemption prices per share:
 

During the Twelve-Month
   

Period Beginning June 28, 1989
 

Price Per Share
 

    
1989

 

$ 48.31875
 

1990
 

47.98688
 

1991
 

47.65500
 

1992
 

47.32313
 

1993
 

46.99125
 

1994
 

46.65938
 

1995
 

46.32750
 

1996
 

45.99563
 

1997
 

45.66375
 

1998
 

45.33188
 

 

 
and thereafter at $45.00 per share, plus, in each case, an amount equal to all accrued and unpaid dividends thereon to the date fixed for redemption.  Payment
of the redemption price shall be made by the Company in cash or shares of Common Stock, or a combination thereof, as permitted by paragraph (G) of this
Section 6.  From and after the date fixed for redemption, dividends on shares of Series D Preferred Stock called for redemption will cease to accrue, such
shares of Series D Preferred Stock will no longer be deemed to be outstanding and all rights in respect of such shares of Series D Preferred Stock shall cease,
except the right to receive the redemption price.  If less than all of the outstanding shares of Series D Preferred Stock are to be redeemed, the Company shall
either redeem a portion of the shares of Series D Preferred Stock of each holder determined pro rata based on the number of shares of Series D Preferred
Stock held by each holder or shall select the shares of Series D Preferred Stock to be redeemed by lot, as may be determined by the Board of Directors of the
Company.

 
(B)                                Unless otherwise required by law, notice of redemption will be sent to the holders of Series D Preferred Stock at the address shown on the

books of the Company by first-class mail (postage prepaid), mailed not less than fifteen (15) days nor more than sixty (60) days prior to the redemption date. 
Each such notice shall state:  (i) the redemption date; (ii) the total number of shares of Series D Preferred Stock to be redeemed and, if fewer than all the
shares held by such holder are to be redeemed, the number of such shares of Series D Preferred Stock to be redeemed from such holder; (iii) the redemption
price; (iv) the place or places where certificates for such shares of Series D Preferred Stock are to be surrendered for payment of the redemption price; (v) that
dividends on the shares of Series D Preferred Stock to be redeemed will cease to accrue on such redemption date; and (vi) the conversion rights of the shares
of Series D Preferred Stock to be redeemed, the period within which conversion rights may be exercised, and the Conversion Price and number of shares of
Common Stock issuable upon conversion of a share of Series D Preferred Stock at the time.  Upon surrender of the certificate for any shares of Series D
Preferred Stock so called for redemption and not previously converted (properly endorsed or assigned for transfer, if the Board of Directors of the Company
shall so require and the notice shall so state), such shares shall be redeemed by the Company at the date fixed for redemption and at the redemption price set
forth in this Section 6.

 
(C)                                (i) Within thirty (30) days after the later of (a) the effective date or (b) the enactment date of a change in any statute, rule, or regulation of

the United States of America which has the effect of limiting or making unavailable to the Company all or any of the tax deductions for amounts paid
(including dividends) on the shares of Series D Preferred Stock when such amounts are used as provided under Section 404(k)(2) of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended and in effect on the date shares of Series D Preferred Stock are initially issued, or (ii) if the Company, in good faith after
consultation with counsel to the Company, determines that the voting provisions contained herein are not in compliance with Rule 19c-4 promulgated by the
Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), the Company may, in its sole discretion
and notwithstanding anything to the contrary in paragraph (A) of this Section 6, elect to redeem any or all of such shares of Series D Preferred Stock for the
amount payable in respect of such shares upon liquidation of the Company pursuant to Section 4 hereof.

 

 



(D)                               In the event that shares of Series D Preferred Stock are held by an employee benefit plan intended to qualify as an employee stock
ownership plan within the meaning of Section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and such plan does not so qualify, the Company may
in its sole discretion and notwithstanding anything to the contrary in paragraph (A) of this Section 6, elect to redeem any or all of such shares of Series D
Preferred Stock at a redemption price equal to the higher of (i) the amount payable in respect of the shares of Series D Preferred Stock being redeemed upon
liquidation of the Company pursuant to Section 4 hereof and (ii) the Fair Market Value (as defined in paragraph (G) of Section 9 hereof) of the shares of
Common Stock which would be issuable upon the conversion of the shares of Series D Preferred Stock being redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid dividends
on such shares of Series D Preferred Stock (the “Consideration Price”).

 
(E)                                 In the event that the Plan is terminated or the employee stock ownership plan component of the Plan pursuant to which the shares of

Series D Preferred Stock are then held by the Trustee is eliminated from the Plan in accordance with its terms, and notwithstanding anything to the contrary in
paragraph (A) of this Section 6, the Company shall, as soon thereafter as practicable, call for redemption on the terms and conditions set forth in
paragraphs (A) and (B) of this Section 6 all then outstanding shares of Series D Preferred Stock.

 
(F)                                 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in paragraph (A) of this Section 6, upon the termination of a plan participant’s employment with

the Company, the Company may elect to redeem any or all shares of Series D Preferred Stock held for the account of such participant at a redemption price
equal to the higher of (i) the amount payable in respect of the shares of Series D Preferred Stock being redeemed upon liquidation of the Company pursuant to
Section 4 hereof and (ii) the Consideration Price.

 
(G)                                The Company, at its option, may make payment of the redemption price required by this Section 6 or Section 7 upon redemption of shares

of Series D Preferred Stock in cash or in shares of Common Stock, or in a combination of such shares and cash, any such shares of Common Stock to be
valued for such purposes at their Fair Market Value.

 
Section 7.  Other Redemption Rights.
 
(A)                              At any time and from time to time upon notice to the Company given not less than five (5) Business Days prior to the date fixed by the

holder in such notice for the redemption of shares of Series D Preferred Stock in accordance with the provisions of this subsection, upon certification by such
holder to the Company that the holder must provide for distributions to participants under, or must satisfy an investment election provided to participants in
accordance with, the Plan, then shares of Series D Preferred Stock shall be redeemed by the Company to the extent necessary for the holder to provide for
such distributions or to satisfy such investment elections, at a redemption price equal to the higher of (i) the amount payable in respect of the Series D
Preferred Stock being redeemed upon liquidation of the Company pursuant to Section 4 hereof and (ii) the Consideration Price.

 
(B)                                Subject to the immediately following sentence, in the event that the Plan is not initially determined by the Internal Revenue Service to be

qualified within the meaning of Section 401(a)
 

 
or that the portion of the Plan which is intended to be an employee stock ownership plan is not initially determined to be an employee stock ownership plan
within the meaning of Section 4975(e)(7) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, then, upon notice to the Company given not less than five
(5) Business Days prior to the date fixed by the holder in such notice for the redemption (hereinafter described), at the option of the holder, shares of Series D
Preferred Stock shall be redeemed by the Company at a redemption price equal to the higher of (i) the amount payable in respect of the Series D Preferred
Stock being redeemed upon liquidation of the Company pursuant to Section 4 hereof and (ii) the Consideration Price.  If such unfavorable determination
would result solely from the rights otherwise given the holder by the immediately preceding sentence, such sentence shall have no force and effect and shall
not give the holder any such rights.

 
Section 8.  Consolidation, Merger, Etc.
 
(A)                              In the event that the Company shall consummate any consolidation or merger or similar business combination, pursuant to which the

outstanding shares of Common Stock are by operation of law exchanged solely for or changed, reclassified, or converted solely into stock of any successor or
resulting corporation (including the Company) that constitutes “qualifying employer securities” with respect to a holder of Series D Preferred Stock within the
meaning of Section 409(l) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and Section 407(d)(5) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of
1974, as amended, or any successor provisions of law, and, if applicable, for a cash payment in lieu of fractional shares, if any, the shares of Series D
Preferred Stock of such holder shall, in connection with such consolidation, merger, or similar business combination, be assumed by and shall become
preferred stock of such successor or resulting corporation, having in respect of such corporation, insofar as possible, the same powers, preferences and
relative, participating, optional, or other special rights (including the redemption rights provided by Sections 6, 7, and 8 hereof), and the qualifications,
limitations, or restrictions thereon, that the Series D Preferred Stock had immediately prior to such transaction, except that after such transaction each share of
Series D Preferred Stock shall be convertible, otherwise on the terms and conditions provided by Section 5 hereof, into the number and kind of qualifying
employer securities so receivable by a holder of the number of shares of Common Stock into which such shares of Series D Preferred Stock could have been
converted immediately prior to such transaction; provided, however, that if by virtue of the structure of such transaction, a holder of Common Stock is
required to make an election with respect to the nature and kind of consideration to be received in such transaction, which election cannot practicably be made
by the holder of the shares of Series D Preferred Stock, then the shares of Series D Preferred Stock shall, by virtue of such transaction and on the same terms
as apply to the holders of Common Stock, be converted into or exchanged for the aggregate amount of stock, securities, cash, or other property (payable in
kind) receivable by a holder of the number of shares of Common Stock into which such shares of Series D Preferred Stock could have been converted
immediately prior to such transaction if such holder of Common Stock failed to exercise any rights of election to receive any kind or amount of stock,
securities, cash, or other property (other than such qualifying employer securities and a cash payment, if applicable, in lieu of fractional shares) receivable
upon such transaction (however, if the kind or amount of qualifying employer securities receivable upon such transaction is not the same for each nonelecting
share, then the kind and amount so receivable upon such transaction for each nonelecting share shall be the kind and amount so receivable per share by

 

 
the plurality of the nonelecting shares); and provided further that in the event the consideration receivable by such a holder of Common Stock into which such
shares of Series D Preferred Stock could have been converted immediately prior to such transaction if such holder of Common Stock failed to exercise any
such rights of election consists solely of such qualifying employer securities and a cash payment, if applicable, in lieu of fractional shares, then the shares of
Preferred Stock shall be assumed by and become preferred stock of the successor or resulting corporation and shall be convertible after such transaction, all as
provided in the provisions of this paragraph (A) prior to the first proviso hereof.  The rights of the Series D Preferred Stock as preferred stock of such



successor or resulting corporation shall successively be subject to adjustments pursuant to Sections 3 and 9 hereof after any such transaction as nearly
equivalent as practicable to the adjustment provided for by such sections prior to such transaction.  The Company shall not consummate any such merger,
consolidation, or similar transaction unless all then outstanding shares of Series D Preferred Stock shall be assumed and authorized by the successor or
resulting corporation as aforesaid.

 
(B)                                In the event that the Company shall consummate any consolidation or merger or similar business combination, pursuant to which the

outstanding shares of Common Stock are by operation of law exchanged for or changed, reclassified, or converted into other stock or securities or cash or any
other property, or any combination thereof, other than any such consideration which is constituted solely of qualifying employer securities (as referred to in
paragraph (A) of this Section 8) and cash payments, if applicable, in lieu of fractional shares, outstanding shares of Series D Preferred Stock shall, without
any action on the part of the Company or any holder thereof (but subject to paragraph (C) of this Section 8), be automatically converted by virtue of such
merger, consolidation, or similar transaction immediately prior to such consummation into the number of shares of Common Stock into which such shares of
Series D Preferred Stock could have been converted at such time so that each share of Series D Preferred Stock shall by virtue of such transaction and on the
same terms as apply to the holders of Common Stock, be converted into or exchanged for the aggregate amount of stock, securities, cash, or other property
(payable in like kind) receivable by a holder of the number of shares of Common Stock into which such shares of Series D Preferred Stock could have been
converted immediately prior to such transaction; provided, however, that if by virtue of the structure of such transaction, a holder of Common Stock is
required to make an election with respect to the nature and kind of consideration to be received in such transaction, which election cannot practicably be made
by the holder of the shares of Series D Preferred Stock, then the shares of Series D Preferred Stock shall, by virtue of such transaction and on the same terms
as apply to the holders of Common Stock, be converted into or exchanged for the aggregate amount of stock, securities, cash, or other property (payable in
kind) receivable by a holder of the number of shares of Common Stock into which such shares of Series D Preferred Stock could have been converted
immediately prior to such transaction if such holder of Common Stock failed to exercise any rights of election as to the kind or amount of stock, securities,
cash, or other property receivable upon such transaction (provided that, if the kind or amount of stock, securities, cash, or other property receivable upon such
transaction is not the same for each nonelecting share, then the kind and amount of stock, securities, cash, or other property receivable upon such transaction
for each nonelecting share shall be the kind and amount so receivable per share by a plurality of the nonelecting shares).

 

 
(C)                                In the event the Company shall enter into any agreement providing for any consolidation or merger or similar business combination

described in paragraph (B) of this Section 8 or in the first proviso in paragraph (A) of this Section 8 to the extent that shares of Series D Preferred Stock may
be converted into or exchanged for or changed, reclassified, or converted into stock or securities or cash or other property, or any combination thereof, other
than any such consideration which is constituted solely of qualifying employer securities and cash payments, if any, in lieu of fractional shares, then the
Company shall as soon as practicable thereafter (and in any event at least ten (10) Business Days before consummation of such transaction) give notice of
such agreement and the material terms thereof to each holder of shares of Series D Preferred Stock and each such holder shall have the right to elect, by
written notice to the Company, to receive, upon consummation of such transaction (if and when such transaction is consummated), from the Company or the
successor of the Company, in redemption and retirement of such Series D Preferred Stock, a cash payment equal to the higher of (i) the amount payable in
respect of the shares of Series D Preferred Stock being redeemed upon liquidation of the Company pursuant to Section 4 hereof and (ii) the Consideration
Price.  No such notice of redemption shall be effective unless given to the Company prior to the close of business on the fifth Business Day prior to
consummation of such transaction, unless the Company or the successor of the Company shall waive such prior notice, but any notice of redemption so given
prior to such time may be withdrawn by notice of withdrawal given to the Company prior to the close of business on the fifth Business Day prior to
consummation of such transaction.

 
Section 9.  Antidilution Adjustments.
 
(A)                              In the event the Company shall, at any time or from time to time while any of the shares of Series D Preferred Stock are outstanding, (i) pay

a dividend or make a distribution in respect of the Common Stock in shares of Common Stock, (ii) subdivide the outstanding shares of Common Stock, or
(iii) combine the outstanding shares of Common Stock into a smaller number of shares, in each case whether by reclassification of shares, recapitalization of
the Company (including a recapitalization effected by a merger or consolidation to which Section 8 hereof does not apply) or otherwise, subject to
paragraphs (E) and (F) of this Section 9, the Conversion Price in effect immediately prior to such action shall be adjusted by multiplying such Conversion
Price by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately before such event, and the denominator of
which is the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately after such event.  An adjustment made pursuant to this paragraph 9(A) shall be
given effect, upon payment of such a dividend or distribution, as of the record date for the determination of stockholders entitled to receive such dividend or
distribution (on a retroactive basis) and in the case of a subdivision or combination shall become effective immediately as of the effective date thereof.

 
(B)                                In the event that the Company shall, at any time or from time to time while any of the shares of Series D Preferred Stock are outstanding,

issue to holders of shares of Common Stock as a dividend or distribution, including by way of a reclassification of shares or a recapitalization of the
Company, any right or warrant to purchase shares of Common Stock (but not including as such a right or warrant any security convertible into or
exchangeable for shares of Common Stock) at a purchase price per share less than the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock on the date of issuance
of such right or warrant, then, subject to paragraphs (E) and (F) of this Section 9, the

 

 
Conversion Price shall be adjusted by multiplying such Conversion Price by a fraction, the numerator of which shall be the number of shares of Common
Stock outstanding immediately before such issuance of rights or warrants plus the number of shares of Common Stock which could be purchased at the Fair
Market Value of a share of Common Stock at the time of such issuance for the maximum aggregate consideration payable upon exercise in full of all such
rights or warrants and the denominator of which shall be the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately before such issuance of rights or
warrants plus the maximum number of shares of Common Stock that could be acquired upon exercise in full of all such rights and warrants.

 
(C)                                In the event the Company shall, at any time or from time to time while any of the shares of Series D Preferred Stock are outstanding, issue,

sell, or exchange shares of Common Stock (other than pursuant to any right or warrant to purchase or acquire shares of Common Stock (including as such a
right or warrant any security convertible into or exchangeable for shares of Common Stock) and other than pursuant to any employee or director incentive or
benefit plan or arrangement, including any employment, severance, or consulting agreement, of the Company or any subsidiary of the Company heretofore or
hereafter adopted) for a consideration having a Fair Market Value, on the date of such issuance, sale, or exchange, less than the Fair Market Value of such
shares on the date of issuance, sale, or exchange, then, subject to paragraphs (E) and (F) of this Section 9, the Conversion Price shall be adjusted by
multiplying such Conversion Price by the fraction the numerator of which shall be the sum of (i) the Fair Market Value of all the shares of Common Stock
outstanding on the day immediately preceding the first public announcement of such issuance, sale, or exchange plus (ii) the Fair Market Value of the



consideration received by the Company in respect of such issuance, sale, or exchange of shares of Common Stock, and the denominator of which shall be the
product of (a) the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock on the day immediately preceding the first public announcement of such issuance, sale, or
exchange multiplied by (b) the sum of the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding on such day plus the number of shares of Common Stock so
issued, sold, or exchanged by the Company.  In the event the Company shall, at any time or from time to time while any shares of Series D Preferred Stock
are outstanding, issue, sell, or exchange any right or warrant to purchase or acquire shares of Common Stock (including as such a right or warrant any security
issued after the date hereof which is convertible into or exchangeable for shares of Common Stock), other than any such issuance to holders of shares of
Common Stock as a dividend or distribution (including by way of a reclassification of shares or a recapitalization of the Company) and other than pursuant to
any employee or director incentive or benefit plan or arrangement (including any employment, severance, or consulting agreement) of the Company or any
subsidiary of the Company heretofore or hereafter adopted, for a consideration having a Fair Market Value, on the date of such issuance, sale, or exchange,
less than the Nondilutive Amount (as hereinafter defined), then, subject to paragraphs (E) and (F) of this Section 9, the Conversion Price shall be adjusted by
multiplying such Conversion Price by a fraction the numerator of which shall be the sum of (I) the Fair Market Value of all the shares of Common Stock
outstanding on the day immediately preceding the first public announcement of such issuance, sale, or exchange plus (II) the Fair Market Value of the
consideration received by the Company in respect of such issuance, sale, or exchange of such right or warrant plus (III) the Fair Market Value at the time of
such issuance of the consideration which the Company would receive upon exercise in full of all such rights or warrants, and the denominator of which shall
be the product of (i) the Fair Market Value of a share of Common

 

 
Stock on the day immediately preceding the first public announcement of such issuance, sale, or exchange multiplied by (ii) the sum of the number of shares
of Common Stock outstanding on such day plus the maximum number of shares of Common Stock which could be acquired pursuant to such right or warrant
at the time of the issuance, sale, or exchange of such right or warrant (assuming shares of Common Stock could be acquired pursuant to such right or warrant
at such time).

 
(D)                               In the event the Company shall, at any time or from time to time while any of the shares of Series D Preferred Stock are outstanding, make

an Extraordinary Distribution (as hereinafter defined) in respect of the Common Stock, whether by dividend, distribution, reclassification of shares, or
recapitalization of the Company (including a recapitalization or reclassification effected by a merger or consolidation to which Section 8 hereof does not
apply) or effect a Pro Rata Repurchase (as hereinafter defined) of Common Stock, the Conversion Price in effect immediately prior to such Extraordinary
Distribution or Pro Rata Repurchase shall, subject to paragraphs (E) and (F) of this Section 9, be adjusted by multiplying such Conversion Price by the
fraction the numerator of which is the difference between (i) the product of (x) the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately before such
Extraordinary Distribution or Pro Rata Repurchase multiplied by (y) the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock on the day before the exdividend date
with respect to an Extraordinary Distribution which is paid in cash and on the distribution date with respect to an Extraordinary Distribution which is paid
other than in cash, or on the applicable expiration date (including all extensions thereof) of any tender offer which is a Pro Rata Repurchase, or on the date of
purchase with respect to any Pro Rata Repurchase which is not a tender offer, as the case may be, and (ii) the Fair Market Value of the Extraordinary
Distribution or the aggregate purchase price of the Pro Rata Repurchase, as the case may be, and the denominator of which shall be the product of (a) the
number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately before such Extraordinary Dividend or Pro Rata Repurchase minus, in the case of a Pro Rata
Repurchase, the number of shares of Common Stock repurchased by the Company multiplied by (b) the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock on
the day before the exdividend date with respect to an Extraordinary Distribution which is paid in cash and on the distribution date with respect to an
Extraordinary Distribution which is paid other than in cash, or on the applicable expiration date (including all extensions thereof) of any tender offer which is
a Pro Rata Repurchase or on the date of purchase with respect to any Pro Rata Repurchase which is not a tender offer, as the case may be.  The Company shall
send each holder of Series D Preferred Stock (i) notice of its intent to make any dividend or distribution and (ii) notice of any offer by the Company to make a
Pro Rata Repurchase, in each case at the same time as, or as soon as practicable after, such offer is first communicated (including by announcement of a
record date in accordance with the rules of any stock exchange on which the Common Stock is listed or admitted to trading) to holders of Common Stock. 
Such notice shall indicate the intended record date and the amount and nature of such dividend or distribution, or the number of shares subject to such offer
for a Pro Rata Repurchase and the purchase price payable by the Company pursuant to such offer, as well as the Conversion Price and the number of shares of
Common Stock into which a share of Series D Preferred Stock may be converted at such time.

 
(E)                                 Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Section 9, the Company shall not be required to make any adjustment to the Conversion Price

unless such adjustment would require an increase or decrease of at least one percent (1%) in the Conversion Price.  Any lesser adjustment
 

 
shall be carried forward and shall be made no later than the time of, and together with, the next subsequent adjustment which, together with any adjustment or
adjustments so carried forward, shall amount to an increase or decrease of at least one percent (1%) in the Conversion Price.

 
(F)                                 If the Company shall make any dividend or distribution on the Common Stock or issue any Common Stock, other capital stock or other

security of the Company or any rights or warrants to purchase or acquire any such security, which transaction does not result in an adjustment to the
Conversion Price pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this Section 9, the Board of Directors of the Company shall consider whether such action is of such
a nature that an adjustment to the Conversion Price should equitably be made in respect of such transaction.  If in such case the Board of Directors of the
Company determines that an adjustment to the Conversion Price should be made, an adjustment shall be made effective as of such date, as determined by the
Board of Directors of the Company.  The determination of the Board of Directors of the Company as to whether an adjustment to the Conversion Price should
be made pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this paragraph 9(F), and, if so, as to what adjustment should be made and when, shall be final and binding on
the Company and all stockholders of the Company.  The Company shall be entitled to make such additional adjustments in the Conversion Price, in addition
to those required by the foregoing provisions of this Section 9, as shall be necessary in order that any dividend or distribution in shares of capital stock of the
Company, subdivision, reclassification, or combination of shares of stock of the Company or any recapitalization of the Company shall not be taxable to the
holders of the Common Stock.

 
(G)                                For purposes of this Resolution, the following definitions shall apply:

 
“Adjustment Period” shall mean the period of five (5) consecutive trading days preceding the date as of which the Fair Market Value of a

security is to be determined.
 
“Business Day” shall mean any day which is not a Saturday, Sunday, or a bank holiday in New York, New York, or Los Angeles, California.
 



“Current Market Price” of publicly traded shares of Common Stock or any other class of capital stock or other security of the Company or
any other issuer for any day shall mean (i) for purposes of Sections 6 and 7 hereof, the mean between the highest and lowest reported sales price on such day
and (ii) for all other purposes hereof, the last reported sales price, regular way, or, in the event that no sale takes place on such day, the average of the reported
closing bid and asked prices, regular way, in either case as reported on the New York Stock Exchange Composite Tape or, if such security is not listed or
admitted to trading on the New York Stock Exchange, on the principal national securities exchange on which such security is listed or admitted to trading or,
if not listed or admitted to trading on any national securities exchange, on the National Market System of the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc.,
Automated Quotation System (“NASDAQ”) or, if such security is not quoted on such National Market System, the average of the closing bid and asked
prices on each such day in the over-the-counter market as reported by NASDAQ or, if bid and asked prices for such security on each such day shall not have
been reported through NASDAQ, the average of the bid and asked prices for such day as furnished by any New York Stock Exchange member firm regularly
making a market in such security selected

 

 
for such purpose by the Board of Directors of the Company or a committee thereof, in each case, on each trading day during the Adjustment Period.

 
“Extraordinary Distribution” shall mean any dividend or other distribution to holders of Common Stock (effected while any of the shares of

the Series D Preferred Stock are outstanding) (i) of cash (other than a regularly scheduled quarterly dividend not exceeding 125% of the average quarterly
dividend for the preceding period of 12 months), where the aggregate amount of such cash dividend or distribution together with the amount of all cash
dividends and distributions made during the preceding period of 12 months (other than regularly scheduled quarterly dividends not exceeding 125% of the
aggregate quarterly dividends for the preceding period of 12 months), when combined with the aggregate amount of all Pro Rata Repurchases (for this
purpose, including only that portion of the aggregate purchase price of such Pro Rata Repurchase which is in excess of the Fair Market Value of the Common
Stock repurchased as determined on the applicable expiration date (including all extensions thereof) of any tender offer or exchange offer which is a Pro Rata
Repurchase, or the date of purchase with respect to any other Pro Rata Repurchase which is not a tender offer or exchange offer made during such period),
exceeds seven and one-half percent (7.5%) of the aggregate Fair Market Value of all shares of Common Stock outstanding on the day before the exdividend
date with respect to such Extraordinary Distribution which is paid in cash and on the distribution date with respect to an Extraordinary Distribution which is
paid other than in cash, and/or (ii) of any shares of capital stock of the Company (other than shares of Common Stock), other securities of the Company (other
than securities of the type referred to in paragraph (B) or (C) of this Section 9), evidences of indebtedness of the Company or any other person or any other
property (including shares of any subsidiary of the Company) or any combination thereof.  The Fair Market Value of an Extraordinary Distribution for
purposes of paragraph (D) of this Section 9 shall be equal to the sum of the Fair Market Value of such Extraordinary Distribution plus the amount of any cash
dividends (other than regularly scheduled quarterly dividends not exceeding 125% of the aggregate quarterly dividends for the preceding period of
12 months) which are not Extraordinary Distributions made during such 12-month period and not previously included in the calculation of an adjustment
pursuant to paragraph (D) of this Section 9.

 
“Fair Market Value” shall mean, as to shares of Common Stock or any other class of capital stock or securities of the Company or any other

issuer which are publicly traded, (i) for purposes of Sections 6 and 7 hereof, the Current Market Price on the date as of which the Fair Market Value is to be
determined, and (ii) for all other purposes hereof, the average of the Current Market Prices of such shares or securities for each day of the Adjustment Period. 
The “Fair Market Value” of any security which is not publicly traded (other than the Series D Preferred Stock) or of any other property shall mean the fair
value thereof as determined by an independent investment banking or appraisal firm experienced in the valuation of such securities or property selected in
good faith by the Board of Directors of the Company or a committee thereof, or, if no such investment banking or appraisal firm is in the good faith judgment
of the Board of Directors or such committee available to make such determination, as determined in good faith by the Board of Directors of the Company or
such committee.

 
“Nondilutive Amount” in respect of an issuance, sale, or exchange by the Company of any right or warrant to purchase or acquire shares of

Common Stock (including any security
 

 
convertible into or exchangeable for shares of Common Stock) shall mean the difference between (i) the product of the Fair Market Value of a share of
Common Stock on the day preceding the first public announcement of such issuance, sale, or exchange multiplied by the maximum number of shares of
Common Stock which could be acquired on such date upon the exercise in full of such rights and warrants (including upon the conversion or exchange of all
such convertible or exchangeable securities), whether or not exercisable (or convertible or exchangeable) at such date, and (ii) the aggregate amount payable
pursuant to such right or warrant to purchase or acquire such maximum number of shares of Common Stock; provided, however, that in no event shall the
Nondilutive Amount be less than zero.  For purposes of the foregoing sentence, in the case of a security convertible into or exchangeable for shares of
Common Stock, the amount payable pursuant to a right or warrant to purchase or acquire shares of Common Stock shall be the Fair Market Value of such
security on the date of the issuance, sale, or exchange of such security by the Company.

 
“Pro Rata Repurchase” shall mean any purchase of shares of Common Stock by the Company or any subsidiary thereof, whether for cash,

shares of capital stock of the Company, other securities of the Company, evidences of indebtedness of the Company, or any other person or any other property
(including shares of a subsidiary of the Company), or any combination thereof, effected while any of the shares of Series D Preferred Stock are outstanding,
pursuant to any tender offer or exchange offer subject to Section 13(e) of the Exchange Act, or any successor provision of law, or pursuant to any other offer
available to substantially all holders of Common Stock, other than any such purchase effected prior to December 31, 1989, with the proceeds of the sale of the
Series D Preferred Stock; provided, however, that no purchase of shares by the Company or any subsidiary thereof made in open market transactions shall be
deemed a Pro Rata Repurchase.  For purposes of this paragraph (G) of this Section 9, shares shall be deemed to have been purchased by the Company or any
subsidiary thereof “in open market transactions” if they have been purchased substantially in accordance with the requirements of Rule 10b-18 as in effect
under the Exchange Act, on the date shares of Series D Preferred Stock are initially issued by the Company or on such other terms and conditions as the
Board of Directors of the Company or a committee thereof shall have determined are reasonably designed to prevent such purchases from having a material
effect on the trading market for the Common Stock.

 
(H)                               In the event that the Board of Directors of the Company adjusts the number of outstanding shares of Series D Preferred Stock in accordance

with Section 3 hereof, then in lieu of any other adjustment to the Conversion Price pursuant to this Section 9, the Board of Directors of the Company may
make such other adjustments as they deem appropriate.  The determination of the Board of Directors of the Company as to whether an adjustment should be
made pursuant to the foregoing sentence of this paragraph 9(H), and, if so, as to what adjustment should be made and when, shall be final and binding on the
Company and all stockholders of the Company.

 



(I)                                    Whenever an adjustment to the Conversion Price and the related voting rights of the Series D Preferred Stock is required pursuant to this
Resolution, the Company shall forthwith place on file with the transfer agent for the Common Stock and the Series D Preferred Stock, and with the Secretary
of the Company, a statement signed by two officers of the Company stating the adjusted Conversion Price determined as provided herein and the resulting
conversion ratio, and the voting rights (as appropriately adjusted), of the Series D Preferred Stock.  Such statement shall

 

 
set forth in reasonable detail such facts as shall be necessary to show the reason and the manner of computing such adjustment, including any determination
of Fair Market Value involved in such computation.  Promptly after each adjustment to the Conversion Price and the related voting rights of the shares of the
Series D Preferred Stock, the Company shall mail a notice thereof and of the then prevailing conversion ratio to each holder of shares of Series D Preferred
Stock.

 
Section 10.  Ranking; Attributable Capital And Adequacy of Surplus; Retirement of Shares.
 
(A)                              The Series D Preferred Stock shall rank senior to the Common Stock as to the payment of dividends and the distribution of assets on

liquidation, dissolution, and winding up of the Company.
 
(B)                                In addition to any vote of stockholders required by law, the vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Series D Preferred

Stock shall be required to increase the par value of the Common Stock or otherwise increase the capital of the Company allocable to the Common Stock for
the purpose of the Delaware General Corporation Law (“DGCL”) if, as a result thereof, the surplus of the Company for purposes of the DGCL would be less
than the amount of Preferred Dividends that would accrue on the then outstanding shares of Series D Preferred Stock during the following three years.

 
(C)                                Any shares of Series D Preferred Stock acquired by the Company by reason of the conversion or redemption of such shares as herein

provided, or otherwise so acquired, shall be retired as shares of Series D Preferred Stock and restored to the status of authorized but unissued shares of
Preferred Stock of the Company, undesignated as to series, and may thereafter be reissued as part of a new series of such Preferred Stock as permitted by law.

 
Section 11.  Miscellaneous.
 
(A)                              All notices referred to herein shall be in writing, and all notices hereunder shall be deemed to have been given upon the earlier of delivery

thereof if by hand delivery, by courier, or by standard form of telecommunication or three (3) business days after the mailing thereof if sent by registered mail
(unless first-class mail shall be specifically permitted for such notice under the terms hereof) with postage prepaid, addressed:  (i) if to the Company, to its
office at One Jefferson Square, Boise, Idaho 83728 (Attention:  Senior Vice President and General Counsel), or to the transfer agent for the Series D Preferred
Stock, or other agent of the Company designated as permitted hereby or (ii) if to any holder of the Series D Preferred Stock or Common Stock, as the case
may be, to such holder at the address of such holder as listed in the stock record books of the Company (which may include the records of any transfer agent
for the Series D Preferred Stock or Common Stock, as the case may be) or (iii) to such other address as the Company or any such holder, as the case may be,
shall have designated by notice similarly given.

 
(B)                                The term “Common Stock” as used in this Resolution means the Company’s Common Stock, $2.50 par value, as the same exists at the date

of filing of a Certificate of Designation relating to Series D Preferred Stock or any other class of stock resulting from successive changes or reclassifications
of such Common Stock consisting solely of changes in par value, or from par value to no par value, or from no par value to par value.  In the event that, at any
time as a result of

 

 
an adjustment made pursuant to Section 9 hereof, the holder of any share of Series D Preferred Stock upon thereafter surrendering such shares for conversion,
shall become entitled to receive any shares or other securities of the Company other than shares of Common Stock, the Conversion Price in respect of such
other shares or securities so receivable upon conversion of Series D Preferred Stock shall thereafter be adjusted, and shall be subject to further adjustment
from time to time, in a manner and on terms as nearly equivalent as practicable to the provisions with respect to Common Stock contained in Section 9 hereof,
and the provisions of Sections 1 through 8, 10, and 11 of this Resolution with respect to the Common Stock shall apply on like or similar terms to any such
other shares or securities.

 
(C)                                The Company shall pay any and all stock transfer and documentary stamp taxes that may be payable in respect of any issuance or delivery

of shares of Series D Preferred Stock or shares of Common Stock or other securities issued on account of Series D Preferred Stock pursuant hereto or
certificates representing such shares or securities.  The Company shall not, however, be required to pay any such tax which may be payable in respect of any
transfer involved in the issuance or delivery of shares of Series D Preferred Stock or Common Stock or other securities in a name other than that in which the
shares of Series D Preferred Stock with respect to which such shares or other securities are issued or delivered were registered, or in respect of any payment
to any person with respect to any such shares or securities other than a payment, to the registered holder thereof, and shall not be required to make any such
issuance, delivery, or payment unless and until the person otherwise entitled to such issuance, delivery, or payment has paid to the Company the amount of
any such tax or has established, to the satisfaction of the Company, that such tax has been paid or is not payable.

 
(D)                               In the event that a holder of shares of Series D Preferred Stock shall not by written notice designate the name in which shares of Common

Stock to be issued upon conversion of such shares should be registered or to whom payment upon redemption of shares of Series D Preferred Stock should be
made or the address to which the certificate or certificates representing such shares, or such payment, should be sent, the Company shall be entitled to register
such shares, and make such payment, in the name of the holder of such Series D Preferred Stock as shown on the records of the Company and to send the
certificate or certificates representing such shares, or such payment, to the address of such holder shown on the records of the Company.

 
(E)                                 Unless otherwise provided in the Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as the same may be amended, of the Company, all payments in the

form of dividends, distributions on voluntary or involuntary dissolution, liquidation, or winding up or otherwise made upon the Series D Preferred Stock and
any other stock ranking on a parity with the Series D Preferred Stock with respect to such dividend or distribution shall be pro rata, so that amounts paid per
share of Series D Preferred Stock and such other stock shall in all cases bear to each other the same ratio that the required dividends, distributions, or
payments, as the case may be, then payable per share on the Series D Preferred Stock and such other stock bear to each other.

 
(F)                                 The Company may appoint, and from time to time discharge and change, a transfer agent for the Series D Preferred Stock.  Upon any such

appointment or discharge of a transfer agent, the Company shall send notice thereof by hand delivery, by courier, by standard form of



 

 
telecommunication, or by first-class mail, (postage prepaid), to each holder of record of Series D Preferred Stock.

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this certificate has been executed and attested by the undersigned this 10th day of July, 1989.

 
 

   
 

Name:  J. E. Clute
 

Title:   Senior Vice President
  
ATTEST:

 

  
  
   
Name:  David G. Gadda

 

Title:   Assistant Secretary
 

 

 
ANNEX II

 
CERTIFICATE OF DESIGNATION

OF
9.40% CUMULATIVE PREFERRED STOCK, SERIES F

OF
BOISE CASCADE CORPORATION

 
Pursuant to Section 151 of the

General Corporation Law
of the State of Delaware

 
Boise Cascade Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the “Corporation”), certifies that pursuant to authority granted to and vested in the Board of

Directors of the Corporation by the provisions of the Corporation’s Restated Certificate of Incorporation, the Board of Directors of the Corporation has
adopted the following resolution creating a series of Preferred Stock of the Corporation:

 
RESOLVED, by the Board of Directors (the “Board of Directors”) of Boise Cascade Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the “Corporation”), that,

pursuant to authority expressly granted to and vested in the Board of Directors by the provisions of the Corporation’s Restated Certificate of Incorporation
(the “Restated Certificate of Incorporation”), the Board of Directors hereby creates a sixth series of the class of authorized Preferred Stock, without par value,
of the Corporation, and authorizes the issuance thereof, and hereby fixes the designation and amount thereof and the voting powers, preferences and relative,
participating, optional, and other special rights of the shares of such series, and the qualifications, limitations, or restrictions thereof (in addition to the
designation, preferences and relative, participating, and other special rights, and the qualifications, limitations, or restrictions thereof, set forth in the Restated
Certificate of Incorporation which are applicable to the Preferred Stock of all series) as follows:

 
 1.                                    Designation and Amount.  The shares of such series shall be designated the “9.40% Cumulative Preferred Stock, Series F” and the

number of shares constituting such series shall be 115,000.  The shares of such series shall have a stated capital of $.01 per share.  Such series is herein
sometimes referred to as the “Series F Preferred Stock.”

 
 2.                                    Dividends.  The holders of the shares of Series F Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive, when, as and if declared by the Board of

Directors out of funds legally available therefor, cash dividends (“Preferred Dividends”) at the rate of $94.00 per share per annum, payable quarterly in
arrears, one quarter each on the 15th day of the months of January, April, July, and October in each year (each a “Dividend Payment Date”) commencing on
April 15, 1993.  In the event that any Dividend Payment Date shall fall on any day other than a business day (as hereinafter defined), the Preferred Dividend
due on such Dividend Payment Date shall be paid on the business day immediately following such Dividend Payment Date.  Preferred Dividends shall begin
to accrue from the date of initial issuance of the Series F Preferred Stock.  Preferred Dividends shall accrue on a daily basis whether or not in any such
quarterly period there shall be funds of the Corporation legally available therefor and whether or not such Preferred Dividends are

 

 
declared, but Preferred Dividends accrued for any period less than a full quarterly period between Dividend Payment Dates (or, in the case of the first
Preferred Dividend, from the date of initial issuance of the shares of Series F Preferred Stock to the first Dividend Payment Date) shall be computed on the
basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months.  Accrued but unpaid Preferred Dividends shall cumulate as of the Dividend Payment Date on which they
first become payable, but no interest shall accrue on accumulated but unpaid Preferred Dividends.  As used herein, the term “business day” shall mean any
day other than a Saturday, Sunday, or a day on which banking institutions in the state of New York are authorized or obligated by law or executive order to
close.

 
 3.                                    Optional Redemption.  The shares of Series F Preferred Stock are not redeemable by the Corporation prior to February 15, 1998.  On and

after February 15, 1998, the outstanding shares of Series F Preferred Stock or any part thereof may be redeemed by the Corporation, at its option expressed by
resolution of the Board of Directors, at any time or from time to time, at the redemption price of $1,000 per share, plus an amount equal to any arrearages in
dividends thereon.  Notice of redemption will be mailed at least 30 days but not more than 60 days before the redemption date to each holder of record of
shares of Series F Preferred Stock to be redeemed at the address shown on the books of the Corporation (but no failure to mail such notice or any defect
therein or in the mailing thereof shall affect the validity of the proceedings for such redemption except as to the holder to whom the Corporation has failed to



mail such notice or except as to the holder whose notice was defective).  On or after the redemption date fixed in such notice, dividends shall cease to
accumulate on shares of Series F Preferred Stock called for redemption (unless the Corporation defaults in the payment or deposit of the redemption price
pursuant to such notice).

 
 4.                                    Liquidation Rights.  In the event of any liquidation or dissolution or winding up of the Corporation, voluntary or involuntary, the holders

of the Series F Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive the sum of $1,000 per share, plus an amount equal to any arrearages in dividends thereon.
 
 5.                                    Voting Rights.  Except as set forth in the following sentence of this paragraph 5, the holders of Series F Preferred Stock shall have no

voting rights.  The holders of Series F Preferred Stock shall have one vote per share on each of the matters on which they are entitled to vote by applicable
law, by the provisions of Section 2.6 of the Restated Certificate of Incorporation or by the provisions of Section 2.8 of the Restated Certificate of
Incorporation, which Section 2.8 shall be applicable to the Series F Preferred Stock.

 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Boise Cascade Corporation has caused this Certificate of Designation to be signed by John W. Holleran, its Vice

President and General Counsel, and attested by A. James Balkins III, its Corporate Secretary, this 29th day of January, 1993.
 

 

BOISE CASCADE CORPORATION
  
 

By
  

  

John W. Holleran
  

Vice President and General Counsel
  
  
ATTEST:

 

  
By

   

 

A. James Balkins III
  

 

Corporate Secretary
  

 

 
ANNEX III

 
CERTIFICATE OF DESIGNATION

OF
CONVERSION PREFERRED STOCK, SERIES G

OF
BOISE CASCADE CORPORATION

 
Pursuant to Section 151 of the

General Corporation Law
of the State of Delaware

 
Boise Cascade Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the “Corporation”), certifies that pursuant to authority granted to and vested in the Board of

Directors of the Corporation by the provisions of the Corporation’s Restated Certificate of Incorporation, the Board of Directors of the Corporation has
adopted the following resolution creating a series of Preferred Stock of the Corporation:
 
RESOLVED, by the Board of Directors (the “Board of Directors”) of Boise Cascade Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the “Corporation”), that, pursuant

to authority expressly granted to and vested in the Board of Directors by the provisions of the Corporation’s Restated Certificate of Incorporation
(the “Restated Certificate of Incorporation”), the Board of Directors hereby creates a seventh series of the class of authorized Preferred Stock,
without par value, of the Corporation, and authorizes the issuance thereof, and hereby fixes the designation and amount thereof and the voting
powers, preferences and relative, participating, optional and other special rights of the shares of such series, and the qualifications, limitations, or
restrictions thereof (in addition to the designation, preferences and relative, participating, optional, and other special rights, and the qualifications,
limitations, or restrictions thereof, set forth in the Restated Certificate of Incorporation which are applicable to the Preferred Stock of all series) as
follows:

 
 1.                                    Designation and Amount.  The shares of such series shall be designated the “Conversion Preferred Stock, Series G” and the number of

shares constituting such series shall be 862,500.  The shares of such series shall have a stated capital of $.01 per share.  Such series is herein sometimes
referred to as the “Series G Preferred Stock.”

 
 2.                                    Dividends.  The holders of the shares of Series G Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive, when, as and if declared by the Board of

Directors out of funds legally available therefor, cash dividends (“Preferred Dividends”) at the rate of $15.80 per share per annum, payable quarterly in
arrears, one quarter each on the 15th day of the months of January, April, July, and October in each year (each a “Dividend Payment Date”) commencing on
October 15, 1993.  In the event that any Dividend Payment Date shall fall on any day other than a business day (as hereinafter defined), the Preferred
Dividend due on such Dividend Payment Date shall be paid on the business day immediately following such Dividend Payment Date.  Preferred Dividends
shall begin to accrue from the date of initial issuance of the Series G Preferred Stock.  Preferred

 

 
Dividends shall cease to accrue on shares of Series G Preferred Stock on the Mandatory Conversion Date (as hereinafter defined) or on the date of their
earlier conversion or redemption.  Preferred Dividends shall accrue on a daily basis whether or not in any such quarterly period there shall be funds of the



Corporation legally available therefor and whether or not such Preferred Dividends are declared, but Preferred Dividends accrued for any period less than a
full quarterly period between Dividend Payment Dates (or, in the case of the first Preferred Dividend, from the date of initial issuance of the shares of
Series G Preferred Stock to the first Dividend Payment Date) shall be computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months.  Accrued but unpaid
Preferred Dividends shall cumulate as of the Dividend Payment Date on which they first become payable, but no interest shall accrue on accumulated but
unpaid Preferred Dividends.

 
 3.                                    Conversion or Redemption.

 
(a)                                  Automatic Conversion on the Mandatory Conversion Date.  Unless earlier either called for redemption in accordance with the

provisions of paragraph 3(b) or converted at the option of the holder in accordance with the provisions of paragraph 3(c), on October 15, 1997 (the
“Mandatory Conversion Date”), each outstanding share of Series G Preferred Stock shall convert automatically (the “Automatic Conversion”) into (i) shares
of authorized common stock, $2.50 par value, of the Corporation (the “Common Stock”) at the Common Equivalent Rate (as hereinafter defined) in effect on
the Mandatory Conversion Date and (ii) the right to receive an amount in cash equal to all accrued and unpaid Preferred Dividends on such share to the
Mandatory Conversion Date, whether or not earned or declared, out of funds legally available therefor.  The Common Equivalent Rate is initially ten shares of
Common Stock for each share of Series G Preferred Stock and is subject to adjustment as set forth in paragraphs 3(d) and 3(e) below.  Preferred Dividends on
the shares of Series G Preferred Stock shall cease to accrue and such shares of Series G Preferred Stock shall cease to be outstanding on the Mandatory
Conversion Date.  The Corporation shall make such arrangements as it deems appropriate for the issuance of certificates representing shares of Common
Stock and for the payment of cash in respect of such accrued and unpaid dividends, if any, or cash in lieu of fractional shares, if any, in exchange for and
contingent upon surrender of certificates representing the shares of Series G Preferred Stock, and the Corporation may defer the payment of dividends on such
shares of Common Stock and the voting thereof until, and make such payment and voting contingent upon, the surrender of such certificates representing the
shares of Series G Preferred Stock, provided that the Corporation shall give the holders of the shares of Series G Preferred Stock such notice of any such
actions as the Corporation deems appropriate and upon such surrender such holders shall be entitled to receive such dividends declared and paid on such
shares of Common Stock subsequent to the Mandatory Conversion Date.  Amounts payable in cash in respect of the shares of Series G Preferred Stock or in
respect of such shares of Common Stock shall not bear interest.

 
(b)                                 Redemption by the Corporation.

 
(i)                                     Right to Call for Redemption.  Shares of Series G Preferred Stock are not redeemable by the Corporation prior to July 15,

1997 (the “Initial Redemption Date”).  At any time and from time to time on or after the Initial Redemption Date and prior to the Mandatory Conversion
Date, the Corporation shall have the right to call, in whole or in part, the outstanding shares of Series G Preferred Stock for redemption (subject to the notice
provisions set forth in

 

 
paragraph (3)(b)(iii) and to section 2.6(a)(v) of the Restated Certificate of Incorporation).  Upon such call, each holder of shares of Series G Preferred Stock
to be redeemed shall be entitled to receive from the Corporation, in exchange for each such share of Series G Preferred Stock:

 
(A)                              A number of shares of Common Stock equal to the Call Price (as hereinafter defined) in effect on the redemption

date divided by the Current Market Price (as hereinafter defined) of the Common Stock determined as of the second Trading Day (as hereinafter defined)
immediately preceding the Notice Date (as hereinafter defined); and

 
(B)                                An amount in cash equal to all accrued and unpaid Preferred Dividends on such share of Series G Preferred

Stock to the redemption date, whether or not earned or declared, out of funds legally available therefor.
 
The “Call Price” of each share of Series G Preferred Stock is $212.25 on and after the Initial Redemption Date through September 14, 1997, and $211.25 on
and after September 15, 1997, until the Mandatory Conversion Date.  If fewer than all of the outstanding shares of Series G Preferred Stock are to be called
for redemption, shares to be redeemed shall be selected by the Corporation from outstanding shares of Series G Preferred Stock not previously redeemed by
lot or pro rata (as nearly as may be) or by any other method determined by the Board of Directors in its sole discretion to be equitable.

 
(ii)                                  Current Market Price.  As used in this paragraph 3, the term “Current Market Price” per share of the Common Stock on

any date of determination means the lesser of (X) the average of the Closing Prices (as hereinafter defined) of the Common Stock for the fifteen consecutive
Trading Days (as hereinafter defined) ending on and including such date of determination, or (Y) the Closing Price of the Common Stock for such date of
determination; provided, however, with respect to any redemption of shares of Series G Preferred Stock, if any event that results in an adjustment of the
Common Equivalent Rate occurs during the period beginning on the first day of such fifteen-day period and ending on the applicable redemption date, the
Current Market Price as determined pursuant to the foregoing shall be appropriately adjusted to reflect the occurrence of such event.

 
(iii)                               Notice of Redemption.  The Corporation shall provide notice of any redemption of the shares of Series G Preferred Stock

to holders of record of the Series G Preferred Stock to be called for redemption not less than 15 nor more than 60 days prior to the date fixed for such
redemption.  Such notice shall be provided by mailing notice of such redemption first class postage prepaid, to each holder of record of shares of Series G
Preferred Stock to be redeemed, at such holder’s address as it appears on the stock register of the Corporation; provided, however, neither failure to give such
notice nor any defect therein shall affect the validity of the proceeding for the redemption of any shares of Series G Preferred Stock to be redeemed except as
to the holder to whom the Corporation has failed to give said notice or except as to the holder whose notice was defective.  A public announcement of any call
for redemption shall be made by the Corporation prior to, or at the time of, the mailing of such notice of such call to holders of shares of Series G Preferred
Stock.  As used in this paragraph 3(b), the term “Notice Date” with respect to any call for redemption of shares of Series G Preferred Stock means the date on
which first occurs either the public announcement by the Corporation of such call for redemption or the commencement of

 

 
mailing of the notice of such redemption to the holders of such shares, in each case pursuant to this subparagraph (iii).

 
Each such notice shall state, as appropriate, the following and may contain such other information as the Corporation

deems advisable:
 
(A)                              The redemption date;



 
(B)                                That all outstanding shares of Series G Preferred Stock are to be redeemed or, in the case of a call for

redemption of fewer than all outstanding shares of Series G Preferred Stock, the number of such shares held by such holder to be redeemed;
 
(C)                                The Call Price, the number of shares of Common Stock deliverable upon redemption of each share of Series G

Preferred Stock to be redeemed and the Current Market Price used to calculate such number of shares of Common Stock;
 
(D)                               The place or places where certificates for such shares are to be surrendered for redemption; and
 
(E)                                 That dividends on the shares of Series G Preferred Stock to be redeemed shall cease to accrue on and after such

redemption date (except as otherwise provided herein).
 
(iv)                              Deposit of Shares and Funds.  The Corporation’s obligation to deliver shares of Common Stock and provide funds upon

redemption in accordance with this paragraph 3(b) shall be deemed fulfilled if, on or before a redemption date, the Corporation shall deposit, with a bank or
trust company, or an affiliate of a bank or trust company, having an office or agency in New York, New York, and having a capital and surplus of at least
$50,000,000 according to its last published statement of condition, or shall set aside or make other reasonable provision for the issuance of, such number of
shares of Common Stock as are required to be delivered by the Corporation pursuant to this paragraph 3(b) upon the occurrence of the related redemption of
Series G Preferred Stock and for the payment of cash in lieu of the issuance of fractional share amounts and accrued and unpaid dividends payable in cash on
the shares of Series G Preferred Stock to be redeemed as required by this paragraph 3(b), in trust for the account of the holders of such shares of Series G
Preferred Stock to be redeemed (and so as to be and continue to be available therefor), with irrevocable instructions and authority to such bank or trust
company that such shares and funds be delivered upon redemption of the shares of Series G Preferred Stock so called for redemption.  Any interest accrued
on such funds shall be paid to the Corporation from time to time.  Any shares of Common Stock or funds so deposited and unclaimed at the end of two years
from such redemption date shall be repaid and released to the Corporation, after which the holder or holders of such shares of Series G Preferred Stock so
called for redemption shall look only to the Corporation for delivery of shares of Common Stock and the payment of any other funds due in connection with
the redemption of Series G Preferred Stock.

 
(v)                                 Surrender of Certificates; Status.  Each holder of shares of Series G Preferred Stock to be redeemed shall surrender the

certificates evidencing such shares (properly endorsed or assigned for transfer, if the Board of Directors shall so require and the notice shall so state) to the
 

 
Corporation at the place designated in the notice of such redemption and shall thereupon be entitled to receive certificates evidencing shares of Common
Stock and to receive any funds payable pursuant to this paragraph 3(b) following such surrender and following the date of such redemption.  In case fewer
than all the shares represented by any such surrendered certificate are called for redemption, a new certificate shall be issued at the expense of the Corporation
representing the unredeemed shares.  If such notice of redemption shall have been given, and if on the date fixed for redemption shares of Common Stock and
funds necessary for the redemption shall have been irrevocably either set aside by the Corporation separate and apart from its other funds or assets in trust for
the account of the holders of the shares to be redeemed (and so as to be and continue to be available therefor) or deposited with a bank or trust company or an
affiliate thereof as provided herein or the Corporation shall have made other reasonable provision therefor, then, notwithstanding that the certificates
evidencing any shares of Series G Preferred Stock so called for redemption shall not have been surrendered, the shares represented thereby so called for
redemption shall be deemed no longer outstanding, Preferred Dividends with respect to the shares so called for redemption shall cease to accrue on the date
fixed for redemption (except that holders of shares of Series G Preferred Stock at the close of business on a record date for any payment of Preferred
Dividends shall be entitled to receive the Preferred Dividend payable on such shares on the corresponding Dividend Payment Date notwithstanding the
redemption of such shares following such record date and prior to such Dividend Payment Date) and all rights with respect to the shares so called for
redemption shall forthwith after such date cease and terminate, except for the rights of the holders to receive the shares of Common Stock and funds, if any,
payable pursuant to this paragraph 3(b) without interest upon surrender of their certificates therefor.  Holders of shares of Series G Preferred Stock that are
redeemed shall not be entitled to receive dividends declared and paid on such shares of Common Stock, and such shares of Common Stock shall not be
entitled to vote, until such shares of Common Stock are issued upon the surrender of the certificates representing such shares of Series G Preferred Stock and
upon such surrender such holders shall be entitled to receive such dividends declared and paid on such shares of Common Stock subsequent to such
redemption date.

 
(c)                                  Conversion at Option of Holder.  Shares of Series G Preferred Stock are convertible, in whole or in part, at the option of the

holders thereof (“Optional Conversion”), at any time prior to the Mandatory Conversion Date, unless previously redeemed, into shares of Common Stock at a
rate of 8.01 shares of Common Stock for each share of Series G Preferred Stock (the “Optional Conversion Rate”), subject to adjustment as set forth below. 
The right to Optional Conversion of shares of Series G Preferred Stock called for redemption shall terminate at the close of business on the redemption date.

 
Optional Conversion of shares of Series G Preferred Stock may be effected by delivering certificates evidencing such shares,

together with written notice of conversion and a proper assignment of such certificates to the Corporation or in blank (and, if applicable, payment of an
amount equal to the dividend payable on such shares), to the office of any transfer agent for the Series G Preferred Stock or to any other office or agency
maintained by the Corporation for that purpose and otherwise in accordance with Optional Conversion procedures established by the Corporation.  Each
Optional Conversion shall be deemed to have been effected immediately prior to the close of business on the date on which the foregoing requirements shall
have been satisfied. 

 

 
The Optional Conversion shall be at the Optional Conversion Rate in effect at such time and on such date.

 
Holders of shares of Series G Preferred Stock at the close of business on a record date for any payment of Preferred Dividends

shall be entitled to receive the Preferred Dividend payable on such shares on the corresponding Dividend Payment Date notwithstanding the Optional
Conversion of such shares following such record date and prior to such Dividend Payment Date.  However, shares of Series G Preferred Stock surrendered for
Conversion after the close of business on a record date for any payment of Preferred Dividends and before the opening of business on the next succeeding
Dividend Payment Date must be accompanied by payment in cash of an amount equal to the Preferred Dividend thereon which is to be paid on such Dividend
Payment Date (unless such shares are subject to redemption on a redemption date prior to such Dividend Payment Date).  Except as provided above, upon any
Optional Conversion of shares of Series G Preferred Stock, the Corporation shall make no payment or allowance for unpaid Preferred Dividends, whether or



not in arrears, on such shares of Series G Preferred Stock as to which Optional Conversion has been effected or for dividends or distributions on the shares of
Common Stock issued upon such Optional Conversion.

 
(d)                                 Adjustments to the Common Equivalent Rate and the Optional Conversion Rate.  The Common Equivalent Rate and the Optional

Conversion Rate shall each be subject to adjustment from time to time as provided below in this paragraph (d).
 
(i)                                     If the Corporation shall pay or make a dividend or other distribution with respect to its Common Stock in shares of

Common Stock (including by way of reclassification of any shares of its Common Stock), the Common Equivalent Rate and the Optional Conversion Rate in
effect at the opening of business on the day following the date fixed for the determination of stockholders entitled to receive such dividend or other
distribution shall each be increased by multiplying such Common Equivalent Rate and Optional Conversion Rate by a fraction of which the numerator shall
be the sum of the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding at the close of business on the date fixed for such determination plus the total number of
shares of Common Stock constituting such dividend or other distribution, and of which the denominator shall be the number of shares of Common Stock
outstanding at the close of business on the date fixed for such determination, such increase to become effective immediately after the opening of business on
the day following the date fixed for such determination.  For the purposes of this clause (i), the number of shares of Common Stock at any time outstanding
shall not include shares held in the treasury of the Corporation but shall include shares issuable in respect of scrip certificates issued in lieu of fractions of
shares of Common Stock.  The Corporation will not pay any dividend or make any distribution on shares of Common Stock held in the treasury of the
Corporation.

 
(ii)                                  In case outstanding shares of Common Stock shall be subdivided into a greater number of shares of Common Stock, the

Common Equivalent Rate and the Optional Conversion Rate in effect at the opening of business on the day following the day upon which such subdivision
becomes effective shall each be proportionately increased, and, conversely, in case outstanding shares of Common Stock shall be combined into a smaller
number of shares of Common Stock, the Common Equivalent Rate and the Optional Conversion Rate in effect at the opening of business on the day
following the day upon which such combination becomes effective shall each be

 

 
proportionately reduced, such increases or reductions, as the case may be, to become effective immediately after the opening of business on the day following
the day upon which such subdivision or combination becomes effective.

 
(iii)                               If the Corporation shall, after the date hereof, issue rights or warrants to all holders of its Common Stock entitling them

(for a period not exceeding 45 days from the date of such issuance) to subscribe for or purchase shares of Common Stock at a price per share less than the
Current Market Price of the Common Stock (determined pursuant to paragraph 3(b)(ii)) on the record date for the determination of stockholders entitled to
receive such rights or warrants, then in each case the Common Equivalent Rate and the Optional Conversion Rate shall each be adjusted by multiplying the
Common Equivalent Rate and the Optional Conversion Rate in effect on such record date, by a fraction of which the numerator shall be the number of shares
of Common Stock outstanding on the date of issuance of such rights or warrants, immediately prior to such issuance, plus the number of additional shares of
Common Stock offered for subscription or purchase pursuant to such rights or warrants, and of which the denominator shall be the number of shares of
Common Stock outstanding on the date of issuance of such rights or warrants, immediately prior to such issuance, plus the number of shares of Common
Stock which the aggregate offering price of the total number of shares of Common Stock so offered for subscription or purchase pursuant to such rights or
warrants would purchase at such Current Market Price (determined by multiplying such total number of shares by the exercise price of such rights or warrants
and dividing the product so obtained by such Current Market Price).  Shares of Common Stock owned by the Corporation or by another company of which a
majority of the shares entitled to vote in the election of directors are held, directly or indirectly, by the Corporation shall not be deemed to be outstanding for
purposes of such computation.  Such adjustment shall become effective at the opening of business on the business day next following the record date for the
determination of stockholders entitled to receive such rights or warrants.  To the extent that shares of Common Stock are not delivered after the expiration of
such rights or warrants, the Common Equivalent Rate and the Optional Conversion Rate shall each be readjusted to the Common Equivalent Rate and the
Optional Conversion Rate which would then be in effect had the adjustments made upon the issuance of such rights or warrants been made upon the basis of
the issuance of rights or warrants in respect of only the number of shares of Common Stock actually delivered.

 
(iv)                              If the Corporation shall pay a dividend or make a distribution to all holders of its Common Stock consisting of evidences

of its indebtedness or other assets (including shares of capital stock of the Corporation other than Common Stock but excluding any cash dividends or any
dividends or other distributions referred to in clauses (i) and (ii) above), or shall issue to all holders of its Common Stock rights or warrants to subscribe for or
purchase any of its securities (other than those referred to in clause (iii) above), then in each such case the Common Equivalent Rate and the Optional
Conversion Rate shall each be adjusted by multiplying the Common Equivalent Rate and the Optional Conversion Rate in effect on the record date for such
dividend or distribution or for the determination of stockholders entitled to receive such rights or warrants, as the case may be, by a fraction of which the
numerator shall be the Current Market Price per share of the Common Stock (determined pursuant to paragraph 3(b)(ii) on such record date), and of which the
denominator shall be such Current Market Price per share of Common Stock less the fair market value (as determined by the Board of Directors, whose
determination shall be conclusive) as of such record date of the portion of the assets or evidences of indebtedness so distributed, or of such

 

 
subscription rights or warrants, applicable to one share of Common Stock.  Such adjustment shall become effective on the opening of business on the business
day next following the record date for such dividend or distribution or for the determination of stockholders entitled to receive such rights or warrants, as the
case may be.

 
(v)                                 Any shares of Common Stock issuable in payment of a dividend or other distribution shall be deemed to have been issued

immediately prior to the close of business on the record date for such dividend or other distribution for purposes of calculating the number of outstanding
shares of Common Stock under subparagraph (ii) above.

 
(vi)                              Anything in this paragraph 3 notwithstanding, the Corporation shall be entitled to make such upward adjustments in the

Common Equivalent Rate, the Optional Conversion Rate and the Call Price, in addition to those required by this paragraph 3, as the Corporation in its sole
discretion shall determine to be advisable, in order that any stock dividends, subdivision of shares, distribution of rights to purchase stock or securities, or
distribution of securities convertible into or exchangeable for stock (or any transaction which could be treated as any of the foregoing transactions pursuant to
Section 305 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended) hereafter made by the Corporation to its stockholders shall not be taxable.

 



(vii)                           In any case in which this paragraph 3(d) shall require that an adjustment as a result of any event become effective at the
opening of business on the business day next following a record date and the date fixed for conversion pursuant to paragraph 3(a) or redemption pursuant to
paragraph 3(b) occurs after such record date, but before the occurrence of such event, the Corporation may in its sole discretion elect to defer the following
until after the occurrence of such event:  (A) issuing to the holder of any shares of Series G Preferred Stock surrendered for conversion or redemption the
additional shares of Common Stock issuable upon such conversion or redemption over the shares of Common Stock issuable before giving effect to such
adjustment; and (B) paying to such holder any amount in cash in lieu of a fractional share of Common Stock pursuant to paragraph 3(g).

 
(viii) All adjustments to the Common Equivalent Rate and the Optional Conversion Rate shall be calculated to the nearest 1/100th

of a share of Common Stock.  No adjustment in the Common Equivalent Rate or in the Optional Conversion Rate shall be required unless such adjustment
would require an increase or decrease of at least one percent in the Common Equivalent Rate; provided, however, any adjustments which by reason of this
subparagraph are not required to be made shall be carried forward and taken into account in any subsequent adjustment.  All adjustments to the Common
Equivalent Rate and the Optional Conversion Rate shall be made successively.

 
(ix)                                Before taking any action that would cause an adjustment reducing the Common Equivalent Rate or the Optional

Conversion Rate such that the conversion price (for purposes of this paragraph, an amount equal to the liquidation value per share of Series G Preferred Stock
divided by the Common Equivalent Rate or the Optional Conversion Rate, respectively, as in effect from time to time) would be below the then par value of
the Common Stock, the Corporation will take any corporate action which may, in the opinion of its counsel, be necessary in order that

 

 
the Corporation may validly and legally issue fully paid and nonassessable shares of Common Stock at the Common Equivalent Rate or the Optional
Conversion Rate as so adjusted.

 
(x)                                   Before redeeming any shares of Series G Preferred Stock, the Corporation will take any corporate action which may, in

the opinion of its counsel, be necessary in order that the Corporation may validly and legally issue fully paid and nonassessable shares of Common Stock
upon such redemption.

 
(e)                                  Adjustment for Certain Consolidations or Mergers.  In case of any consolidation or merger to which the Corporation is a party

(other than a merger or consolidation in which the Corporation is the continuing corporation and in which the Common Stock outstanding immediately prior
to the merger or consolidation remains unchanged), or in case of any sale or transfer to another corporation of the property of the Corporation as an entirety or
substantially as an entirety, or in case of any statutory exchange of securities with another corporation (other than in connection with a merger or acquisition),
proper provision shall be made so that each share of the Series G Preferred Stock shall, after consummation of such transaction, be subject to (i) conversion at
the option of the holder into the kind and amount of securities, cash or other property receivable upon consummation of such transaction by a holder of the
number of shares of Common Stock into which such share of the Series G Preferred Stock might have been converted immediately prior to consummation of
such transaction, (ii) conversion on the Mandatory Conversion Date into the kind and amount of securities, cash or other property receivable upon
consummation of such transaction by a holder of the number of shares of Common Stock into which such share of the Series G Preferred Stock would have
been converted if the conversion on the Mandatory Conversion Date had occurred immediately prior to the date of consummation of such transaction, and
(iii) redemption on any redemption date in exchange for the kind and amount of securities, cash or other property receivable upon consummation of such
transaction by a holder of the number of shares of Common Stock that would have been issuable at the Call Price in effect on such redemption date upon a
redemption of such share immediately prior to consummation of such transaction, assuming that the public announcement of such redemption had been made
on the last possible date permitted by the provisions of paragraph 3(b) hereof and applicable law; assuming in each case that such holder of Common Stock
failed to exercise rights of election, if any, as to the kind or amount of securities, cash, or other property receivable upon consummation of such transaction
(provided that if the kind or amount of securities, cash or other property receivable upon consummation of such transaction is not the same for each
nonelecting share, then the kind and amount of securities, cash, or other property receivable upon consummation of such transaction for each nonelecting
share shall be deemed to be the kind and amount so receivable per share by a plurality of the nonelecting shares).  The kind and amount of securities into
which the shares of the Series G Preferred Stock shall be convertible after consummation of such transaction shall be subject to adjustment as described in
paragraph 3(d) following the date of consummation of such transaction.  The Corporation may not become a party to any such transaction unless the terms
thereof are consistent with the foregoing.

 
(f)                                    Notice of Adjustments.  Whenever the Common Equivalent Rate and Optional Conversion Rate are adjusted as provided in

paragraph 3(d), the Corporation shall:
 

 
(i)                                     Forthwith compute the adjusted Common Equivalent Rate and Optional Conversion Rate in accordance with this

paragraph 3 and prepare a certificate signed by the Chief Financial Officer, any Vice President, the Treasurer or the Controller of the Corporation setting forth
the adjusted Common Equivalent Rate and Optional Conversion Rate, the method of calculation thereof in reasonable detail and the facts requiring such
adjustment and upon which such adjustment is based, which certificate shall be conclusive, final and binding evidence of the correctness of the adjustment,
and file such certificate forthwith with the transfer agent or agents for the Series G Preferred Stock and the Common Stock;

 
(ii)                                  Make a prompt public announcement stating that the Common Equivalent Rate and Optional Conversion Rate have been

adjusted and setting forth the adjusted Common Equivalent Rate and Optional Conversion Rate; and
 
(iii)                               Mail a notice stating that the Common Equivalent Rate and Optional Conversion Rate have been adjusted, the facts

requiring such adjustment and upon which such adjustment is based and setting forth the adjusted Common Equivalent Rate and Optional Conversion Rate, to
the holders of record of the outstanding shares of the Series G Preferred Stock at or prior to the time the Corporation mails an interim statement to its
stockholders covering the fiscal quarter period during which the facts requiring such adjustment occurred but in any event within 45 days of the end of such
fiscal quarter period.

 
(g)                                 Notices of Proposed Actions.  In case, at any time while any of the shares of Series G Preferred Stock are outstanding,

 
(i)                                     the Corporation shall declare a dividend (or any other distribution) on the Common Stock, excluding any cash dividends,

or
 



(ii)                                  the Corporation shall authorize the issuance to all holders of the Common Stock of rights or warrants to subscribe for or
purchase shares of the Common Stock or of any other subscription rights or warrants, or

 
(iii)                               of any reclassification of the Common Stock (other than a subdivision or combination thereof) or of any consolidation or

merger to which the Corporation is a party and for which approval of any stockholders of the Corporation is required (except for a merger of the Corporation
into one of its subsidiaries solely for the purpose of changing the corporate domicile of the Corporation to another state of the United States and in connection
with which there is no substantive change in the rights or privileges of any securities of the Corporation other than changes resulting from differences in the
corporate statutes of the then existing and the new state of domicile), or of the sale or transfer of all or substantially all of the assets of the Corporation,
 
then the Corporation shall cause to be filed at each office or agency maintained for the purpose of conversion of the shares of Series G Preferred Stock, and
shall cause to be mailed to the holders of shares of Series G Preferred Stock at their last addresses as they shall appear on the stock register, at least 10 days
before the date hereinafter specified (or the earlier of the dates hereinafter specified, in the event that more than one date is specified), a notice stating (A) the
date on which a record is to be taken for the purpose of such dividend, distribution, rights or warrants, or, if a

 

 
record is not to be taken, the date as of which the holders of Common Stock of record to be entitled to such dividend, distribution, rights or warrants are to be
determined, or (B) the date on which any such reclassification, consolidation, merger, sale, transfer, dissolution, liquidation, or winding up is expected to
become effective, and the date as of which it is expected that holders of Common Stock of record shall be entitled to exchange their Common Stock for
securities or other property (including cash), if any, deliverable upon such reclassification, consolidation, merger, sale, transfer, dissolution, liquidation, or
winding up.  The failure to give or receive the notice required by this paragraph (g) or any defect therein shall not affect the legality or validity of any such
dividend, distribution, right or warrant or other action.

 
(h)                                 No Fractional Shares.  No fractional shares of Common Stock shall be issued upon the redemption or conversion of any shares of

the Series G Preferred Stock.  In lieu of any fraction of a share of Common Stock which would otherwise be issuable in respect of the aggregate number of
shares of the Series G Preferred Stock surrendered by the same holder for redemption or conversion on any redemption date or upon Automatic Conversion or
Optional Conversion, such holder shall have the right to receive an amount in cash (computed to the nearest cent) equal to the same fraction of the (i) Current
Market Price of the Common Stock in the case of redemption, or (ii) Closing Price of the Common Stock determined (A) as of the fifth Trading Day
immediately preceding the Mandatory Conversion Date, in the case of Automatic Conversion or (B) as of the second Trading Day immediately preceding the
effective date of conversion, in the case of an Optional Conversion by a holder.  If more than one share of Series G Preferred Stock shall be surrendered for
conversion or redemption at one time by or for the same holder, the number of full shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion thereof shall be
computed on the basis of the aggregate number of shares of the Series G Preferred Stock so surrendered or redeemed.

 
(i)                                     Reservation of Common Stock.  The Corporation shall at all times reserve and keep available out of its authorized and unissued

Common Stock, solely for issuance upon the conversion or redemption of shares of Series G Preferred Stock as herein provided, free from any preemptive
rights, such number of shares of Common Stock as shall from time to time be issuable upon the conversion or redemption of all the shares of Series G
Preferred Stock then outstanding.

 
(j)                                     Definitions.  As used in this Certificate of Designation:

 
(i)                                     The term “business day” shall mean any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or a day on which banking institutions in the

state of New York are authorized or obligated by law or executive order to close;
 
(ii)                                  The term “Closing Price,” on any day, shall mean the closing sale price regular way on such day or, in case no such sale

takes place on such day, the average of the reported closing bid and asked prices regular way, in each case on the New York Stock Exchange or, if the
Common Stock is not listed or admitted to trading on such Exchange, on the principal national securities exchange on which the Common Stock is listed or
admitted to trading, or, if not listed or admitted to trading on any national securities exchange, the average of the closing bid and asked prices of the Common
Stock on the over-the-counter market on the day in question as reported by the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. Automated Quotation System,
or a similarly generally accepted reporting service, or if not so available in such manner, as furnished by any

 

 
New York Stock Exchange member firm selected from time to time by the Board of Directors of the Corporation for that purpose; and

 
(iii)                               The term “Trading Day” shall mean a date on which the New York Stock Exchange (or any successor to such Exchange)

is open for the transaction of business.
 
(k)                                  Payment of Taxes.  The Corporation will pay any and all documentary, stamp or similar issue or transfer taxes payable in respect

of the issue or delivery of shares of Common Stock on the redemption or conversion of shares of Series G Preferred Stock pursuant to this paragraph 3;
provided, however, the Corporation shall not be required to pay any tax which may be payable in respect of any registration or transfer involved in the issue
or delivery of shares of Common Stock in a name other than that of the registered holder of shares of Series G Preferred Stock redeemed or converted or to be
redeemed or converted, and no such issue or delivery shall be made unless and until the person requesting such issue has paid to the Corporation the amount
of any such tax or has established, to the satisfaction of the Corporation, that such tax has been paid.

 
 4.                                    Liquidation Rights.  In the event of any liquidation or dissolution or winding up of the Corporation, voluntary or involuntary, the holders

of the Series G Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive the sum of $211.25 per share, plus an amount equal to any arrearages in dividends thereon.
 
 5.                                    Voting Rights.  The holders of shares of Series G Preferred Stock shall be entitled to vote on all matters submitted to a vote of the

stockholders of the Corporation, voting together with the holders of Common Stock as one class.  The holder of each share of Series G Preferred Stock shall
be entitled to one vote for each share of Series G Preferred Stock held by such holder.  In addition, the provisions of Section 2.8 of the Restated Certificate of
Incorporation shall be applicable to the Series G Preferred Stock.

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Boise Cascade Corporation has caused this Certificate of Designation to be signed by John W. Holleran, its Vice

President and General Counsel, and attested by A. James Balkins III, its Corporate Secretary, this 22nd day of September, 1993.



 
 

BOISE CASCADE CORPORATION
  
 

By
  

  

John W. Holleran
  

Vice President and General Counsel
  
  
ATTEST:

 

  
By

   

 

A. James Balkins III
 

 

Corporate Secretary
 

 



Exhibit 31.1

CEO CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Sam K. Duncan, chief executive officer of OfficeMax Incorporated, certify that:

1.                 I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of OfficeMax Incorporated;

2.                 Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
quarterly report;

3.                 Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this quarterly report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this quarterly report;

4.                 The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

a.                 designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this quarterly report is being prepared;

b.                designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.                 evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this quarterly report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this quarterly report based on such evaluation; and

d.                disclosed in this quarterly report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;
and

5.                 The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a.                 all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.                any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: May 8, 2006
 

/s/ SAM K. DUNCAN
 

  

Sam K. Duncan
 

  

Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 31.2

CFO CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Don Civgin, chief financial officer of OfficeMax Incorporated, certify that:

1.                 I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of OfficeMax Incorporated;

2.                 Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
quarterly report;

3.                 Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this quarterly report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this quarterly report;

4.                 The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

a.                 designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this quarterly report is being prepared;

b.                designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.                 evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this quarterly report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this quarterly report based on such evaluation; and

d.                disclosed in this quarterly report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;
and

5.                 The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a.                 all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.                any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: May 8, 2006
 

/s/  DON CIVGIN
 

  

Don Civgin
 

  

Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 32

SECTION 906 CERTIFICATIONS OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER OF
OFFICEMAX INCORPORATED

We are providing this Certificate pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C., Section 1350. It accompanies OfficeMax
Incorporated’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 1, 2006.

I, Sam K. Duncan, OfficeMax Incorporated’s chief executive officer, certify that:

(i)  the Form 10-Q fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m(a) or
78o(d)); and

(ii) the information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, OfficeMax Incorporated’s financial condition and results of
operations.

/s/ SAM K. DUNCAN
 

 

Sam K. Duncan
 

 

Chief Executive Officer
 

 

I, Don Civgin, OfficeMax Incorporated’s chief financial officer, certify that:

(i)  the Form 10-Q fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m(a) or
78o(d)); and

(ii) the information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, OfficeMax Incorporated’s financial condition and results of
operations.

/s/ DON CIVGIN
 

 

Don Civgin
 

 

Chief Financial Officer
 

 

Dated:  May 8, 2006

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to OfficeMax Incorporated and will be retained by OfficeMax
Incorporated and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
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